

Journal of Membrane Science & Research

journal homepage: www.msrjournal.com

Review Paper

Art to use Electrospun Nanofibers/Nanofiber Based Membrane in Waste Water Treatment, Chiral Separation and Desalination

Kailash Chandra Khulbe *, Takeshi Matsuura

Industrial Membrane Research Laboratory (IMRL), Chemical and Biological Engineering Department, University of Ottawa, On, K1N 6N5, Canada

Graphical abstract Article info Received 2018-06-11 Revised 2018-08-29 Wastewater Saline water Chirals Accepted 2018-09-12 łŀ Available online 2018-09-12 Keywords Electrospun nanofibers Chiral separation Wastewater treatment Heavy metals Membrane distillation Desalination **Highlights** • The art to prepare elecrospun nanofibers membranes/fibers for the waste water treatment. · Recent use of electospun nanofibers/ membrane for chiral separation and toxic materials (heavy metals) removal from contaminated water Recent progress to use eltrospun nanofibers membrane in membrane distillation for desalination and separation of VOC from water etc. **Chiral separation**

Abstract

The technique to fabricate nanofibrous mat by electro-spinning has been known for a long time. However, the attempts to use the electospun nanofiber mats, also known as electrospun nanofiber membranes (ENMs), for filtration purposes began only recently. Among many membrane filtration processes, air cleaning by the removal of dust particles has already been commercialized and the product has been in the market for some time. On the other hand, the application of ENMs for liquid separation has a much shorter history and its commercialization has not yet been achieved. Since a large number of researches report in the open literature every year, its commercialization looks only a matter of time. For example, many papers are now available on the pressure driven membrane separation processes such as RO, NF, UF, MF by ENMs, and as many papers have been published on the other membrane separation processes including pervaporation, membrane distillation, forward osmosis and membrane adsorption. It is needless to say that ENMs have gained popularity within a short period due to the facile fabrication, interconnectivity and large area/volume ratio. Despite these advantages, ENMs pore sizes are intrinsically very large (fractions of micrometer to few nanomter), which makes modification of surface chemistry and especially reduction of the ENM pore size indispensable for wider applications of ENMs for membrane separation processes.

© 2019 MPRL. All rights reserved.

Membrane

Contents

1.Introduction	
2. Separation of organics	
2.1 Oil water separation	
2.1.1 Rejection by UF, MF, NF	
2.1.2 Membrane adsorption	
2.1.3 Photocatalytic reaction	
2.2 Separation of macromolecular solutes (protein, NOMs etc.) from water	
2.2.1 Ultrafiltration	
2.3 Separation of VOC from water	
2.3.1 Pervaporation (PV)	

* Corresponding author at: Phone: +1 613 592 4960

E-mail address: kc_khulbe@yahoo.com (K.C. Khulbe)

DOI: 10.22079/JMSR.2018.87918.1197



2.3.2 Membrane distillation (MD)	
2.4 Separation of chiral isomers	
2.5 Miscellaneous	
3. Separation of inorganics from water	
3.1 Desalination.	
3.1.1 Desalination by RO. NF.	
3.1.2 Desalination by MD.	
3.2 Removal of heavy metals from water	
4. Summary	
References	

1. Introduction

"Energy and the environment are the most important factors that influence the shape of society in the 21^{st} century. Nanosized fibers have great advantages due to their high surface area to volume ratio, electrospun nanofibers have potential applications in the field of clean energy (solar cells, fuel cells and batteries), electronics, health (biomedical scaffolds, artificial organs), and environment (filter membranes)" [1].

Water resources including lakes, rivers, oceans, aquifers, and groundwater are polluted by contaminants when discharged directly (effluent outfalls from factories, refineries, waste treatment plants, etc.) or indirectly (contaminants that enter the water supply from soils/groundwater systems and from the atmosphere via rainwater). Contaminants can be broadly classified into organic, inorganic, radioactive, and acid/base. Moreover, bacteria and virus represent another dangerous class [2]. Inexpensive and easy methods to clean freshwater and wastewater are therefore in high demand. Lovering [3] reported that Liquidity, Alameda, California-based start-up, has developed a low cost water filter made from electrospun nanofibers which will reduce water-borne diseases in poor countries. Kriklavova and Lederer [4] discussed several examples of nanofiber technology in combination with biological removal of toxic xenobiotics in the application of industrial wastewater treatment.

Nanofibers can be made from different polymers and inorganic materials, and, hence have different physical properties and application potentials. Electrospun inorganic nanofibers are generally made of nano-sized grains or crystals. Examples of natural polymers include collagen, cellulose, silk fibroin, keratin, gelatin and polysaccharides such as chitosan and alginate. There are many different methods to make nanofibers, including drawing, electrospinning, self-assembly, template synthesis, and thermally induced phase separation. Among those, electrospinning is the most commonly used method to generate nanofibers because of the straightforward setup, the ability to mass-produce continuous nanofibers from various polymers, and the capability to generate ultrathin fibers with controllable diameters, compositions and orientations [5]. Electrospun nanofibers can be tailored for many applications by changing diameter, composition, morphology, and shear alignment. The ability of reducing the diameter of polymer fiber materials from micrometers to nanometers shows several remarkable features, such as very large surface area to volume ratio, flexibility in surface functionalities, superior mechanical performance (e.g. stiffness and tensile strength), allowing the production of fiber with a wide variety of sizes and shapes [6].

In summary, the unique advantages of ENMs over traditional membranes are as follows;

- i) High porosity
- ii) Tailoring, by changing the parameters, etc., during electrospinning
- iii) Interconnected pore structures
- iv) Large surface-to-volume ratio
- v) Capability for chemical/physical functionalization which can be done very easily
- vi) Cost-effectiveness

Thus, ENMs have a potential to be used for water treatment or in biotechnology. Ramakrishna et al. predicted that. "In the future, we may no longer be dependent on crude oil thanks to more efficient conversion of other energy sources to electricity. With the ability to mass-produce nanofibers, electrospinning may well be one of the most significant nanotechnologies of this century" [7]. Some examples of ENMs (polymer or inorganic) applications in water treatment are removal of nano- or micro-particles from wastewater, e.g., pre-filters to minimize contaminations, removal of oil from water, and reducing the fouling of the membrane prior to UF or NF. Botes and Cloete [8] discussed the applications of nanofibrous filters either alone or along with conventional filters for the removal of VOCs, nanoparticles and bacterial contaminates in the air is very promising. ENMs are also applicable for wastewater treatment, food processing, and treatment of pharmaceutical

products by membrane distillation (MD) [9]. Nasreen et al. [10] published a review paper entitled 'Advancement in electrospun nanofibrous membranes modification and their application in water treatment' and mainly discussed on the methodologies of the membrane modification and its applications in water treatment. Wang et al. [11] discussed the application of nanofibrous sorbents for oil spill cleanup, nanofibrous membranes for oil/water separation and nanofibrous aerogels (NFAs) for emulsified oil/water separation. Amin et al. [12] briefly overviewed the availability and practice of different nanomaterials (particles or fibers) for removal of viruses, inorganic solutes, heavy metals, metal ions, complex organic compounds, natural organic matters, nitrate, and other pollutants present in surface water, ground water, and/or industrial water.

The applications of nanofiber membranes in water and wastewater treatment have been explored by many researchers [8, 13-16]. Suja et al. [17] made a detailed description of recent research works in non-woven electrospun water purification membranes. Easy functionalization, high surface area to volume ratio and interconnected fibrous nonwoven membrane has given electrospun nanofibers the potential to be used on various aspects of pollution control. As a non-functionalized membrane, electrospun fibers can be used as a pre-filter for removing micro particles. Shirazi et al. [18] discussed applications of elecrospun membranes for membrane processes (MF, UF, NF, FO and MD), in which coalescing filtration and adsorptive separations were reviewed. The physical and chemical properties of nanofibers can be manipulated for any applications. Electrospun nanofiber membranes are used in many applications such as microfiltration, ultrafiltration, nanofiltration, reverse osmosis and forward osmosis [19, 20]. RO membrane provides the highest purity of water. For the detection of selected industrial pollutant, electrospun nanofibers are highly sensitive due to its high surface area.

As FO only produces diluted draw and concentrated feed solution, the process cannot be used for water desalination on its own, but is becomes usable when paired with a secondary process for draw recovery and clean water extraction. Nanofibers fulfill all requirements needed for FO membranes and it is a very promising material to develop the new-generation FO membranes for water treatment [21]. Nanofiber membranes can remove micron-sized particles from aqueous phase at a high rejection rate but with significant fouling [7]. Besides, functional nanomaterials can be easily doped into the spinning solutions to fabricate nanoparticle impregnated nanofibers [5].

There are many established ways to improve the performances of nanofiber membranes such as sol-gel synthesis, in situ polymerization, surface modification, plasma induced grafting, graft polymerization, blending, polymer-inorganic composites formation techniques etc. Physical morphology and mechanical properties vary depending on the polymeric concentration and spinning condition employed during the process. In addition to the above mentioned surface modification techniques, other techniques such as oxidation process, plasma treatment, solvent vapor treatment and surface coating are also used [10].

The mechanical properties are one of the key parameters for the separation membranes. The drawback in nanofibers is that they are poor in mechanical strength and thus they cannot face harsh conditions. Huang et al. [22] demonstrated that the post-treatment on exposing ENMs to the solvent vapor improved the mechanical strength due to the solvent-induced fusion of inter-fiber junction point. Yalcinkaya [23] reported that the mechanical strength of the nanofibers can be enhanced by using special lamination technique on a supporting layer. Using this technique, Yalcinkaya developed a novel high-performance polyamide 6, polyacrylonitrile and polyvinylidene fluoride nanofibers of industrial scale as micro filters. From experimental tests it was revealed that the mechanical strength of the nanofibers was enhanced more than 5 times while high porosity and liquid permeability were retained. Inappropriate storage of electrospun nanofiber membranes could alter their performances including water filtration performances [24].

2. Separation of organic contaminants

Water quality is highly sensitive to the presence of organic contaminants, such as oil, protein, humic acid, etc. Such organics, even at their very low concentrations, e.g. no more than 1% of the pollutants in the river, make the water free of any life [7]. The performances of the new generation of nanocomposite/hybrid nanofibrous membranes can perform well in environmental remediation [25].

2.1. Oil water separation

Due to growing oil and gas exploration activities, oil spills caused a large number of environmental problems. Various techniques such as skimming, ultrasonic separation, air flotation, gravity processing and coagulationflocculation are available to remove oil from water. However, most of these techniques are low-efficient, costly and produce secondary pollution. It was claimed that the most effective way to remove the emulsified oil is by using membranes. Membrane separation offers higher oil removal efficiency, lower energy consumption and cost, and more compact design compared to skimming, DAF (dissolved air flotation) and chemical treatment [26]. Padaki et al. [27] published a review paper entitled 'Membrane technology enhancement in oil-water separation' in which they discussed the development of advanced membrane technology such as surface modification, addition of inorganic particles in polymer membrane and the fabrication of ceramic membranes, presenting future outlook for removal of oil from wastewater. Ma et al. [28] discussed the development of superoleophobic/superhydrophilic electrospun fibers for oil-water separation. Due to their unique properties such as stability in aggressive and adverse environments (e.g. vapor or solvents, and non-oxidizing acids or bases, high temperature and pressure operation) carbon based nano materials are considered as a good alternative for membrane material for treatment of oily wastewater [29]. Fabrication of nanofibrous materials as sorbents and membranes, has shown a rapid expansion of research due to its simple and effective oil/water separation.

Nanofibers have the capabilities in oil-water separation, particularly in sorption process when the material in use has the oleophilic and hydrophobic surfaces. Raza et al. [30] discussed the wetting phenomenon in the oil spill cleanup process by absorption and cross-flow filtration. The discussions were focused on the characteristics of nanofibrous oil sorbent materials, fluid flow through nanofibrous materials, and types of nanofibrous materials. Nanofiber sorbent/membrane/filter has recently gained interest for oil-water treatment due to the following reasons:

- i) High surface area
- ii) Good physical property
- iii) High sorption capacity

Beside of the above, performances of the membrane can be modified easily by surface modification. There are various factors that can affect the efficiency of oil removal by nanofibers. These factors may be due to the characteristics of the nanofibers or of the surrounding liquid such as sorption selectivity between oil and water, the specific surface area, the surface roughness, buoyancy, sorbent contact angle, surface tension, and the spinning solution's viscosity [31]. Gupta et al. [32] discussed the progress of oil/water separation technologies based on filtration and absorption methods using various materials that possess surface super wetting properties.

2.1.1 Rejection by UF, MF, NF.

Ultrafiltration is a membrane-based process used in many industrial processes where higher separation efficiency than that of MF is required, including water purification, biological filtration, and beverage clarification. Nanofibers were used as a supporting scaffold in ultrafiltration (UF) for oil/water emulsion separation. Yoon et al. [33] reported a new type of high flux UF/NF medium based on an electrospun nanofibrous scaffold (e.g. polyacrylonitrile, PAN) coupled with a thin top layer of hydrophilic, waterresistant, but water-permeable coating (e.g. chitosan). The membrane showed higher flux (one order of magnitude) than commercial NF membrane in 24 h of operation, while maintaining the same rejection efficiency (>99.9%) for oily waste-water filtration. The same group [34] also fabricated a high flux thin film nanofibrous composite (TFNC) membrane system based on polyacrylonitrile electrospun scaffold coupled with a thin barrier layer of cross-linked polyvinyl alcohol. The membrane was very useful for UF applications. It exhibited a very high flux (i.e., 12 times higher than that of conventional PAN UF membranes) and excellent rejection rate (>99.5%) for separation of oil/water mixture (1500 ppm in water) for a long time period.

Ma et al. [35] used ultrafine polysaccharide (i.e., cellulose and chitin) nanofibers containing TEMPO (2,2,6,6-Tetramethylpiperidine-1-oxyl

85)/NaBr (sodium bromide)/NaClO (sodium hypochlorite) as barrier layers of TFNC membranes for UF applications. The performances of the membranes were studied in the treatment of oil/water emulsions. The contact angle of cellulose based TFNC membrane was 10.9°. The membrane showed 10-fold higher permeation flux when compared with two commercial UF membranes (PAN10 and PAN400 with 99.5% rejection ratio for UF of oil/water emulsions). The oil concentration in the permeate was < 5.4 ppm. Pure water permeability of the ultrafine cellulose-based TFNC membrane was around 18 times higher than that of PAN10 and 1.7 times higher than that of PAN400.

Ma et al. [36] developed a dual pH- and ammonia-vapor-responsive polyimide (PI)-based nanofibrous membrane for oil-water separations. The developed membrane showed high flux and stability. The proposed membrane was prepared by dip-coating electrospun PI with decanoic acid (DA)-TiO₂ and silica nanoparticles (SNPs). The membrane SNP/DA-TiO₂/PI showed superhydrophobicity in air and superoleophilicity in neutral aqueous environments resulting in only water permeation during oil-water separations. The membrane had extremely high flux (6500±100 L m⁻² h⁻¹) and separation efficiency (>99%) and was reusable.

Dobosz et al. [37] improved membrane performance by enhancing UF membranes with electrospun nanofibers. It was demonstrated by them that electrospun nanofibers can effectively improve the performance of UF membranes due to their better mechanical integrity. Cellulose and polysulfone were electrospun into a layer that was 50 µm thick and consisted of randomly accumulated 1-µm-diameter fibers. Fouling resistance was improved and selectivity was retained.

Cao et al. [38] demonstrated a novel type of UF or NF composite membranes consisting of a coated thin layer of hydrophilic jute cellulose nanowhiskers and an asymmetric electrospun PAN nanofibrous support. The membrane showed good mechanical properties with efficient filtrating capacity for nanoparticles and oil/water separation (with rejection of over 99%).

Obaid et al. [39] developed a novel and highly hydrophilic membrane based on PSf (polysulfone) nanofibers. The modification was made by incorporation of NaOH nanoparticles inside the PSf nanofibers, and formation of a thin layer from a polyamide polymer on the surface of the electrospun mat. The permeability of membrane was determined for the oil/water feed. By adding 1.7 wt.% NaOH nanoparticles to the spinning dope solution containing 20 wt.% PSf, the electrospun membrane' surface showed a decrease in the water contact angle from ~130° to 13°. It was revealed that the membrane having the lowest contact angle could separate oil–water mixture in three successive cycles with complete removal of the oil at a relatively high water flux; 5.5 m³ m² day.

Obaid et al. [20] studied hexane-water (50:50 v) separation with three electrospun membranes (pristine PSF, PSF–SiO₂, and PSF–GO) and reported that the PSF-SiO₂ had the maximum flux of hexane. The flux increased 8 times compared to the pristine PSF membrane. On the other hand, addition of GO showed 40% increase in the flux. Digitally, the obtained daily flux was 23, 37 and 187 m³ m⁻² for pristine, GO-doped and SiO₂-doped PSF electrospun membrane, respectively. It was claimed by the authors that the nanosilica obtained from rice husk agriculture waste can be utilized to prepare effective PSF-based electrospun nanofiber membrane for petroleum oil fractions/water treatment with daily flux of 100, 115 and 187 m³ m⁻² for gasoline, kerosene and hexane, respectively.

Ganesh et al. [40] fabricated robust oil–water separation membranes by electrospinning of poly(vinylidene fluoride-co-hexafluoropropylene) and fluorinated polyhedral oligomeric silsesquioxane composite mixture. These hybrid membranes showed highly hydrophobic/superoleophilic behavior for water and oil (hexane) and efficiently separated low viscous oil from water in a single-step (separation efficiency of nearly 100%). It was suggested by the authors that the PVDF-HFP-FPOSS nanofiber membrane can be used for real-time industrial wastewater treatment applications.

Wang et al. [41] fabricated a smart (according to the authors) membrane by electrospinning TiO₂ doped polyvinylidene fluoride (PVDF) nanofibers. The smart membrane enables reversible separation of oil/water mixtures by allowing only water or oil to pass through. It was suggested that the asformed beads-on-string structure and hierarchical roughness of the nanofibers contributed to its super wetting/resisting property to liquids, which is desirable in oil/water separation. The fabricated membrane possessed outstanding antifouling and self-cleaning capacity resulting from the photocatalytic property of TiO₂. The approximate fluxes of water and oil through the membrane were ~2.63 × 10⁴ and ~3.12 × 10⁴ L m⁻² h⁻¹, respectively. The membrane needs a prior wetting with water before conducting the water passing/removing process after UV irradiation.

Ma et al. [42] fabricated by combination of electrospun core-sheath structured PI/CA nanofibers and a novel in-situ polymerized F-PB functional containing SNPs (silica nanoparticles). Membranes had superhydrophobic (water contact angle 162° and the oil contact angle approached 0^{0}) and

superoleophilic surface wettability property. It was reported that newly designed PI/CA/F-PB-1/SNP-4 membranes can effectively separate various oil (DMF)-water mixtures, solely driven by gravity, with a high flux (3106.2 \pm 100 L m⁻² h⁻¹) and a high separation efficiency (>99%), and thus possess great potential for oil-water separation.

Shirazi et al. [43] tested the performance of electrospun polystyrene membrane for treatment of biodiesel water-washing effluent. The effluent was a complex emulsion system of water, glycerol, biodiesel, un-reacted oil, soap and catalyst with the water, soap and pollutants forming agglomers which are larger than the pore size of the membrane. The membrane is able to remove the agglomers through size exclusion. After passing through thermally treated membrane, COD (chemical oxygen demand), BOD (biological oxygen demand), TS (total solid), TDS (total dissolved solid) and TSS (total suspended solids) reduction rates were around 75%, 55%, 92%, 96% and 30%, respectively. It was suggested that the AFM is a powerful and practical analysis method for characterization of electrospun microporous membranes.

Superhydrophobic and superoleophilic nanofibrous membranes robust for oil-water separation performance was prepared by Shang et al. [44], via a facile combination of electrospun cellulose acetate (CA) nanofibers with polymerized fluorinated polybenzoxazine (F-PBZ) functional layer that incorporated silica nanoparticles (SiO2 NPs). The membranes FCA-1/SNP-2 (FCA-1 represents 1wt% BAF((4,4'-hexafluoroisopropylidene)disphenol)-tfa (m-(trifluoromethyl)aniline) monomer, SNP- 2 represents 2 wt.% silica) were superhydrophobic with water contact angle of 161° and a superoleophilicity with the oil contact angle of 3°. The resultant membranes exhibited fast and efficient separation of oil-water mixtures (dichloromethane and water (50% v/v)) with excellent stability towards a wide range of pH (2-14). No external force was employed during the fast separation process. On filtering oil/water mixture, oil quickly permeated through the membranes due to the superoleophilicity. Meanwhile, water was retained above the membranes because of the superhydrophobic and low water-adhesion properties of the membranes. It was suggested by the authors that these membranes are promising for practical oil-polluted water treatments and oil spill cleanup.

Si et al. [45] described the preparation of a method for creating super elastic and superhydrophobic aerogels with a hierarchical cellular structure that consists of bonded electrospun nanofibers, called "fibrous, isotropically-bonded elastic reconstructed" (FIBER) aerogels. They selected polyacrylonitrile and SiO₂ nanofibers as the major building blocks to construct the hybrid fibrous networks. The fiber aerogels can effectively separate surfactant-stabilized water-in-oil emulsions, solely using gravity, with high flux (maximum of 8140 ± 220 L m⁻² h⁻¹) and high separation efficiency, which matches well with the requirements for treating the real emulsions.

Liao et al. [46] developed a novel membrane with switchable superwettability for oil and water. The novel composite membrane was developed by electrospinning a hierarchically porous polyvinylidene fluoride-silica composite nano/micro-beaded top layer and a PVDF nanofibrous intermediate layer on a non-woven support. The membrane flux was up to 2000 $\text{Lm}^{-2} \text{ h}^{-1}$ with high separation efficiency (> 99.99% in terms of water and oil purities in the permeate) in the cross-flow filtration process. It also exhibited an excellent robustness under harsh conditions, including strong acidic or alkaline solutions, hot water and petroleum. In addition, it presented remarkable antifouling and easy-cleaning properties, which were demonstrated in a 50-h continuous operation.

Islam et al. [47] via electrospinning technique fabricated a high flux and antifouling polyvinyl acetate-coated nylon 6/Silica (N6/SiO₂) composite MF membrane. The fabricated MF membrane was robust. The membrane achieved a water permeability of 4814 LMH bar⁻¹ during MF of O/W emulsions at 4 psi of applied pressure. The oil rejections of 98.80%, 99% and 99.20% were achieved from oil concentrations of 250 mg L⁻¹, 500 mg L⁻¹ and 1000 mg L⁻¹, respectively. The fabricated membrane also showed antifouling properties with a water flux recovery of 85% with an O/W emulsion.

Makaremi et al. [48] prepared electrospun PAN nanofibrous membranes, reinforced by 1, 2, and 3% w/w of halloysite nanotubes (HNTs) in order to improve their mechanical properties, thermal stability and water filtration performance for the possible application as water filtration membranes. The oil/water separation performance of the membranes with 200 µm thickness was evaluated using a dead-end filtration module (Syringe Filter Holder 25 mm, Sartorius) at a constant flow rate of 0.4 mL min⁻¹. Rejection ratio of 99.5% was obtained while heavy metal ion adsorption of the membrane remarkably increased by 760 % when the membrane was reinforced with 3% w/w HNTs. It was suggested that these PAN modified membranes had high potential to be used in water filtration technology.

Li et al. [49] described the fabrication of a smart nanofiber membrane by depositing pH-responsive copolymer fibers on a stainless steel mesh through electrospinning. The precursor material poly(methyl methacrylate)-blockpoly(4-vinylpyridine) (PMMA-b-P4VP) was synthesized using copper(0)- mediated reversible-deactivation radical polymerization. The as-prepared fiber membrane has accomplished on-demand oil/water separation using gravity alone by switching the pH of the medium. Initially, oil selectively passes through the membrane, whereas water remains. The separation process is reversed after wetting the membrane with acidic water (pH \sim 3). Both separations exhibit high efficiency and flux that is attributed to the porous fiber structure of the membrane.

Liu et al. [50] developed a method to fabricate electrospun carbon nanofibers having inside micropores by using sublimation technique. Terephthalic acid (PTA) was used as the sublimating agent. During carbonization of electrospun PTA polyacrylonitrile composite nanofibers, PTA sublimed and macropores were created within the carbon nano fiber. The resulting membrane (MCNFF) was inflexible and self-sustained carbon film. The MCNFF membrane showed superhydrophobic and superoleophilic properties including large porosity degree of 89 %. due to the porous electrospun nonwoven structure, and possessed high oil-absorption capability. The carbon nanofiber film showed excellent oil adsorption property with maximum capacities of 62.6, 73.8, 64.0, 94.0 and 138.4 g g⁻¹for ethanol, pump oil, mineral oil, corn oil and silicone oil.

Tai et al. [51] fabricated a free-standing and flexible SiO₂-carbon composite nanofibrous membrane via electrospinning technique followed by thermal treatment for oil-water separation. The SiO2-carbon composite nanofibrous membrane showed excellent separation performance. The membrane allows ultrafast oil-water separation by solely gravity. The fluxes of various oils permeating through the membrane were measured. The average permeate flux for petroleum spirit, iso-octane, and hexane was found to be 3032.4 ± 234.6 , 1719.1 ± 36.2 , and 2648.8 ± 89.7 L m⁻² h⁻¹, respectively, when a 213.3 \pm 21.8 μ m thick membrane (effective membrane area, 0.000962 m²) was used. Tai et al.'s free-standing carbonaceous composite membranes with tunable flexibility could be very promising for the production of purified water from oil/water mixture. Tai et al. [52] fabricated a novel TiO₂ nanosheet anchored carbon nanofibers via solvothermal method. The hierarchical TiO₂ micro/nanostructure that grows on the surface of carbon nanofibers renders the membrane superhydrophilic and underwater superoleophobic. From the experimental results, it was suggested that the membrane had a stronger affinity for oil than water. During the filtration of oil-water mixture, as water contacted with the membrane, the surface was immediately wetted (instantaneous water spreading behavior) and a water barrier was formed. The oil did not wet the surface. The oil retained on the membrane surface could be easily washed away by rinsing the membrane with water and the membrane could be reused. It was revealed that the membrane possessed excellent oilwater separation efficiency and high chemical and thermal stability. The membrane was capable of separating oil from water by gravity (separation 99%). Further, oil break through pressure was up to 3.63 m which was the highest breakthrough pressure ever reported

Waisi [53] fabricated activated carbon embedded nanofiber nonwoven (ACNFN), which is a form of activated carbon from polymeric solution using the electrospinning method, followed by subsequent thermal steps. A deadend normal flow system was used to investigate the operating conditions for the removal of emulsified oil from water using nonwoven media. It was observed that the oil droplets were removed by size exclusion and adsorption mechanisms (removal efficiency of up to 95%.).

Ao et al. [54] introduced a superhydrophilic graphene oxide (GO) embedded electrospun cellulose nanofiber (CNF) membrane which exhibited a high separation efficiency including antifouling properties and high flux for the gravity-driven oil/water separation (three kinds of oils and organic solvents including hexane, toluene and petroleum ether). The membrane exhibited superhydrophilicity with a CA (contact angle) of almost 0° for water in air. The separation efficiency of the membrane reached 99.4%, 99%, 99.8% for hexane, toluene and petroleum ether, respectively.

Chong et al. [26] used electrospun membranes of poly(trimethyl hexamethylene terephthalamide) (PA6(3)T) for microfiltration of oil (dodecane) emulsions in water. Rejection of the emulsified dodecane increased from (4.3 ± 0.9) % to (85 ± 5) % when the ratio of droplet diameter to fiber diameter (dp/df) increased from 0.57 ± 0.04 to 2.5 ± 0.4 , respectively. It was observed that the flux was much higher than the flux obtained from commercial membranes, but the rejection was comparable. Rejection was initially higher (t < 100 s) for the higher operating pressure (4 psi) but the rejection at different pressures became similar (~50%) at long filtration time. The normalized flux of electrospun membranes was approximately three times higher than that of a commercial phase inversion membrane of comparable bubble point diameter. Several models were discussed to characterize the effect of fouling on performance for the electrospun membranes.

Yalcinkaya et al. [55] tested electrospun nanofibrous membranes of PAN/PVDF for oil water (water/vegan oil with the volume ration of 1/1) separation using dead-end filtration unit. It was revealed that the oil water

permeability of the PVDF/PAN mixture depends on the fraction of polymer in the blend, and, PVDF affected the surface character of the prepared material. The oil content of permeate remarkably decreased by raising the amount of PAN in the polymer blend. Higher oil rejection could be achieved by using neat PAN., but the neat PAN nanofibers were fragile and could be easily damaged. It was concluded that the neat PAN nanofibrous membranes were the best for water permeability while neat PVDF facilitated oil permeability.

Jiang et al. [56] constructed Janus membrane by electrospinning hydrophilic polyacrylonitrile electrospun nanofiber (PANEN), which was then coated, only on one side, with a hydrophobic carbon nanotube (CNTs) network. The CNTs@PANEN membrane exhibited asymmetric wettability on both side i.e. the hydrophilic PANEN side had underwater oleophobicity, and the hydrophobic CNTs side had underwater oleophilicity. Thus, the CNTs@PANEN membranes had a switchable oil/water separation performance in different operating mode: highly efficient oil-in-water emulsion separation with the PANEN side and water-in-oil emulsion separation with the CNTs side.

The Obaid group [57] also introduced super-hydrophilic membrane based on PSf nanofibers. The membrane was synthesized by electrospinning of polysulfone solution containing NaOH nanoparticles followed by activation of the dried electrospun membrane by deposition of polyamide layer on the surface using *m*-phenylenediamine and 1,3,5-benzenetricarbonyl chloride. The fabricated membrane was highly stable in oil media. To check its stability, the membrane was put into soybean oil for 50 days and it was found that there was no physical change. Figure 1 shows the performance in soybean oil-water mixture (1:1 volume ratio) separation process. It was revealed that the water flux was stable after the first cycle.



Fig. 1. Water flux for three successive cycles in water-oil mixture separation process [57].

In another work, Wu et al. [58] fabricated a reusable and recyclable hydrophilic polymer nanofiber membranes for oil-in-water emulsion separation. The cross-linked composite NF membranes were prepared using P(NIPAAm-*co*-NMA) {*N*,*N*-isopropylacrylamide-co-*N*-methylolacrylamide} as the polymer matrix, while using bio-based chitin nanowhiskers (ChNWs) as the reinforcement and cross-linking hub. The membrane had superhydrophilicity and high underwater oleophobicity including good structural stability and resistance to creep deformation during the swelling in water. The membrane was tested under acidic, alkaline, and salty conditions and showed steady separation performances as those in neutral circumstances with a very good separation performance for toluene emulsion, with a flux of 1100–1300 L m⁻² h⁻¹ and a separation efficiency of >99.5%.

Jian et al. [59] fabricated by electrospinning a superhydrophobic polystyrene-coated mesh (Al), which was then folded around a threedimensional (3D) miniature box. It was used to remove oils (both heavy and light oils) from water with a separation efficiency of up to 99.92 %. The separation process was driven by gravity and the membrane showed excellent corrosion resistance.

Graphene and its derivatives have been widely studied and applied to prepare high-performance materials or functional materials. Zhang et al. [60] fabricated hierarchically structured membrane via controlled assembly of GO sheets on the surface of electrospun APAN (aminated polacrylonitrile) fibers and the gap between fibers. The membrane was superhydrophobic, exhibitibg low-oil adhesion. The membrane also exhibited ultra-high flux (around 10.000 LMH) with 98% rejection ratio when an oil (lubricating oil)-water (1:1000 w/w) emulsion was treated. The antifouling capacity of the membrane was high. Table 1 summarizes the recently developed nanofiber membranes to be applied for the oil/water separation.

2.1.2 Membrane adsorption

Selective adsorption of the oil from oil-water mixture generally depends on the oleophilicity and hydrophobicity of the membrane surface. Nanowire (nanofiber) membranes can selectively absorb the oil up to 20 times the material's weight in preference to water through a combination of superhydrophobicity and capillary action [61]. Adsorption is commonly employed as a polishing step to remove organic and inorganic contaminants in water and wastewater treatment. Nanofibers have the capabilities in oilwater separation, particularly in sorption process when the material in use has the oleophilic and hydrophobic surfaces. These characteristics enable the nanofiber to be used as a tool to combat either oily waste-water from domestic household and industrial activities, or oily seawater due to the oil run down to the ocean from oil transportation activities and oil tank cleaning on a vessel [31]. Wahi et al. [62] discussed the use of natural fibrous sorbent for removal of oil from wastewater, and its current development. Due to their excellent oil removal properties, environmental friendliness, easy availability, and feasibility, natural fibrous sorbents are an attractive alternative for oily wastewater treatment.

Sorption selectivity in an oil/water medium is an important parameter for the selection of the sorbent used in an oil spill cleanup. Electrospun nanofibers (porous) prepared directly by electrospinning of hydrophobicoleophilic polymers (e.g., polystyrene) can be used effectively as oil sorbents from oil/water system. Xue et al. [63] discussed "oil-removing" type materials with superhydrophobicity and superoleophilicity (that selectively filter or absorb oil from oil/water mixtures), "water-removing" type materials with superhydrophilicity and superoleophobicity (that selectively separate water from oil/water mixtures), and smart controllable separation materials.

Lee et al. [64] fabricated superhydrophobic-super-oleophilic membranes by single-step deposition of polystyrene (PS) nanofibers onto a stainless steel mesh via electrospinning. The contact angles of diesel and water on the prepared PS nanofiber membrane were 0° and $155^{\circ}\pm 3^{\circ}$, respectively. It was observed that the PS nanofiber membranes separated several liters of oil from water in a single step, within only a few minutes' duration time.

Lin et al. [65] fabricated a nonporous oleophilic-hydrophobic PS fibers via electrospinning process and used it as oil sorbents for oil spill cleanup. It was revealed that the porous PS fibers with smooth surfaces and small fiber diameters have the highest oil sorption capacities. The performance of PS nanofiber showed a motor oil sorption capacity of 113.87 g g⁻¹, approximately 3–4 times that of natural sorbents and nonwoven polypropylene fibrous mats. Additionally, the sorbents also exhibit a relatively high sorption capacity for edible oils, such as bean oil (111.80 g g⁻¹) and sunflower seed oil (96.89 g g⁻¹).

Reshmi et al. [66] fabricated a novel superhydrophobic, superoleophilic electrospun nanofibrous membrane of beeswax (25 wt.% beeswax (PCL–25BW) and polycaprolactone) and reported that the prepared membrane could separate oil from contaminated water with high separation efficiency (98.1%) and good recyclability. Three types of oil water mixtures, such as petrol/water, diesel/water and kerosene/water were analyzed. The membrane exhibited high oil sorption capacity of 16.95–31.05 g g⁻¹ in different oils. Moreover, it also showed high potential for gravity driven oil–water separation. PCL–25BW membrane exhibited reusability after 15 cycles of oil sorption and gravity driven oil–water separation.

Qiao et al. [67] fabricated a high-capacity oil sorbent by electrospinning a PS and PAN blend and investigated the influences of several processing parameters such as spinning solution concentration, environmental temperature, applied voltage, relative humidity etc. It was reported that the highest sorption capacity was obtained under the following conditions: the spinning solution concentration is 18%, the environmental temperature is 30°C, the applied voltage is 25 kV, the relative humidity is 40%, and the nozzle inner diameter of metal needle is 0.6 mm. The maximum sorption capacities of the polystyrene/polyacrylonitrile sorbent for pump oil, peanut oil, diesel, and gasoline were 194.85, 131.7, 66.75, and 43.38 g g⁻¹, respectively.

 Table 1

 Summary of the recently developed nanofiber membranes for the oil/water separations.

Nanofiber/Membrane	Separation of	Results	Ref.
PAN/Chitosan	Oil (vegetable,	Pressure normalized flux	[33]
	Dow Corning	~1.1 Lm ⁻² h ⁻¹ psi ⁻¹ . Rejection >	
	193)/water	99.9%	
PVA/PAN- TFNC	Oil (soybean	High flux $(28.5 \pm 3.4 \text{ Lm}^{-2}\text{h}^{-1}\text{psi}^{-1}\text{s}^{-1}$	[34]
	oil)/water	').	
Ultrofine	Oil (southean oil	Rejection $> 99.5\%$.	[25]
polysaccharide	and Dow	$Lm^{-2}h^{-1}$.	[55]
TFNC	Corning	10-fold higher than two	
	193)/water	commercial UF membranes	
	emulsion.	(PAN10 and PAN400). Rejection	
	(UF)	99.5%.	
Jute cellulose	Oil (vegetable	Filtrating capacity for	[38]
nanowniskers/PAIN	(UE)	separation (rejection > 99%). Oil	
	(01)	concentration of the filtrate was	
		less than 5.5 ppm.	
NaOH PATs/PSF/PA	Oil (Soybean oil)	PA layer decreased the WCA	[39]
	/water	$\sim 130^{\circ}$ to 13°. Water flux 5.5	
	separation.	(PSF hydrophobic nanofiber	
		mats modified to be a highly	
		hydrophilic and permeable	
		membrane. Can be used for oil-	
VDE HDD FROM	W-4/-:1	water separation process.)	[40]
VDF-HDP-FPOSS	(hexane)	Low viscous oil from water in a single-step (separation efficiency	[40]
	(Filtration)	of nearly 100%).	
TiO ₂ /PVDF	Oil (n-	Reversible flow of water or oil	[41]
(UV and heat	hexane)/water	by selectively allowing water or	
treated)	(Filtration)	oil to pass through alone. Fluxes	
		of water and oil $\sim 2.63 \times 10^4$ and	
		~5.12 × 10 Lm n , respectively.	
PI/CA/F-PB-1/SNP-4	Oil (DMF)-water	WCA 162°, OCA approaches 0°.	[42]
(Core-sheath	mixtures. solely	High oil flux	
structured PI/CA)	driven by gravity	$(3106.2 \pm 100 \text{ Lm}^{-2} \text{ h}^{-1}),$	
		separation efficiency >99%.	
PA6(3)T	Oil (dodecane)/water	Rejection was initially higher (t $< 100 \text{ s}$) for the higher operating	[26]
	(Microfiltration)	pressure (4 psi) but the rejection	
	(interontation)	at different pressures became	
		similar (~50%) at long filtration	
		time. The normalized flux of	
		times higher than that of a	
		commercial phase inversion	
		membrane.	
SNP/DA-TiO ₂ /PI	Oil (1,2-	Extremely high flux	[36]
	dichloroethane	$(6500\pm100 \text{ Lm}^{-2}\text{h}^{-1})$ and	
	(DCE), hexadecane)/wat	separation efficiency (~99%).	
	er		
Polystyrene	Oil/Water	COD, BOD, TS, TDS, and TSS	[43]
	(biodiesel water-	reduction rates were around	
	effluent)	respectively.	
	(Filtering)		
FCA-1/SNP-2	Oil	Oil quickly permeated through	[44]
	(dichloromethan	the membranes due to the	
	v/v	remained over the membrane	
	(Filtering)	remained over the memorane.	
PAN and SiO ₂	Oil (petroleum	Superelastic and	[45]
(hierarchical cellular	ether)/water	superhydrophobic membrane.	
structure that	(Solely using	High separation efficiency and	
consists of bonded	gravity)	high fluxes. Superior antifouling	
nanofibers) (aerogels)		wt, % SiO ₂ NPs contents: flux	
		$350 \pm 45 \text{ Lm}^{-2}\text{h}^{-1}$.	
Hierarchically	Oil	Switchable super-wettability for	[46]
porous PVDF-silica	(petroleum)/wate	oil and water. Flux 2000 Lm ⁻² h ⁻¹	
composite	r (cross-flow	, Separation efficiency > 99.99%	
nano/ micro-beaded	muauon	in terms of water and on purifies	

top layer and a PVDF nanofibrous intermediate layer on	process).	in the permeate.	
a non-woven support. PVAc-coated nylon 6/Silica (N6/SiO ₂)	Synthetic O/W emulsions. (microfiltration) (dead-end stirred cell filtration)	Water permeability 4814 LMH bar ⁻¹ . 99% oil rejection. Water contact angle 21°. Antifouling properties.	[47]
PAN/HNTs halloysite nanotubes	1350 ppm vegetable oil/water/125 ppm surfactant (using a dead- end filtration module)	Oil concentration of the filtrate < 7 ppm, indicating that performance of the membranes > 99.5%. Membrane containing 3% w/w HNTs, flux 92 L m ² h ⁻¹ .	[48]
PMMA-b-P4VP	MA-b-P4VP Oil (n-hexane) Oil selectively pa /water gravity membrane, wher alone remains. Separat reversed after we membrane with a 3). Both separati		[49]
SiO ₂ -carbon composite nanofibrous membrane	Oil (petroleum spirit, <i>iso</i> -octane, and hexane)/water (Solely gravity)	Permeate flux for petroleum spirit, <i>iso</i> -octane, and hexane was found to be 3032.4 ± 234.6 , 1719.1 ± 36.2 , and 2648.8 ± 89.7 L m ² h ⁻¹ , respectively.	[51]
TiO ₂ nanosheet anchored carbon nanofibers on the surface	Oil (hexadecane, vegetable oil, olive oil and used pump oil) /Water (concurrent gravity driven)	Oil retained on the membrane surface. (separation 99%). Oil break through pressure was up to 3.63m.	[52]
GO@electrospun cellulose nanofiber	Gravity-driven oil/water separation	Superhydrophilic, separation efficiency: 99.4%, 99%, 99.8% for hexane, toluene and petroleum ether, respectively.	[54]
PVDF/PAN	Water/vegan oil (Filtration)	Both hydrophilic and oleophilic characteristics. Hydrophilicity and permeability enhanced by surface modifications (vacuum plasma treatment).	[55]
PS/Al mesh	Oil (kerosene, diesel, hexane, toluene, petroleum ether and chloroform)/wat er (Separation process was driven by gravity)	Superhydrophbic. Separation efficiency of up to 99.92. The membrane showed excellent corrosion resistance property.	[59]
Janus CNTs@PANEN	Water/petroleum ether (9:1V/V) (Filtration)	Switchable oil/water separation. Oil-in-water, PANEN side. Water-in-oil, CNTs side. Water- in-oil emulsion; Oil flux ~12,000 Lm ² h ⁻¹ bar ⁻¹ . Rejection ~99.2%. Oil purity ~99.6%. Oil-in-water emulsion; Water flux ~80,000 Lm ² h ⁻¹ bar ⁻¹ . Rejection ~99.7 (%). Oil content 8-10 mg L ⁻¹ .	[56]
GO sheets/electrospun APAN	Oil (lubricating oil)/water (continuous cross-flow separation system)	Superhydrophilic and low-oil- adhesion. Ultra-fast flux (~10,000 LMH) and rejection >98%. Antifouling performance.	[60]
P(NIPAAm- <i>co</i> - NMA)/ChNWs	Oil (toluene)/water emulsion	Hydrophilic in nature. Flux 1100–1300 Lm ⁻² h ⁻¹ . Separation efficiency of >99.5%.	[58]
PSf/NaOH/PA	Oil (soybean oil)/water	Superhydrophilic and stable. Flux was stable after the first cycle.	[57]

Wu et al. [68] fabricated a high-oil-adsorption film consisting of PS fibers by a facile electrospinning method. The oil adsorption capacity and oil/water selectivity depends on the porous structure and small diameter of fibers of the surface. Adsorption capacity of PS oil sorbent film for diesel oil, silicon oil, peanut oil and motor oil were approximate to 7.13, 81.40, 112.30, and 131.63 g g⁻¹, respectively which was higher than normal fibrous sorbent without any porous structure.

Uyar group [69] fabricated electrospun cellulose acetate nanofibers (CA-NF) modified with perfluoro alkoxysilanes (FS/CA-NF) and tailored their chemical and physical features aiming at oil–water separation purposes. Modified membrane was robust, superhydrophobic, stiff and easy to fabricate separation systems and yielded high amount of oil/water separation even in the repetitive applications. It was concluded that perfluoro groups consequently modified the hydrophilic CA nanofibers into superhydrophobic character and therefore FS/CA-NF could be used for future applications like water/oil separation with self-cleaning or water resistant nanofibrous structures. Table 2 shows summary of work (few and recent) reported for oil/water separation via sorption.

Table 2

Summary of work (few and recent) reported for oil/water separation via sorption.

Membrane/Fiber	Separation of	Results	Ref.
PS	Oil (gasoline, diesel, and mineral oil)/water	Contact angle of diesel 0°. CWA 155°± 3°. Adsorbs several liters of oil (gasoline, diesel, and mineral oil) from water in a few minute duration.	[64]
PCL–25BW	Oil water mixtures, (petrol/water, diesel/water and kerosene/water)	Oil sorption capacity of 16.95– 31.05 g g ⁻¹ in different oils.	[66]
PS	Oil (Motor)/water	Oil sorption capacity of Motor oil 113.87 g g ⁻¹ . Bean oil 111.80 g g ⁻¹ . Sunflower seed oil 96.89 g g ⁻¹ .	[65]
PS fibers film	Oil (diesel oil, silicon oil, peanut oil and motor oil)/water	Adsorption capacity for diesel oil, silicon oil, peanut oil and motor oil- 7.13, 81.40, 112.30, and 131.63 g g ⁻¹ , respectively, which was higher than normal fibrous sorbent without any porous structure.	[68]
PS/PAN fiber	Oil (pump oil, peanut oil, diesel, and gasoline)/water	Maximum sorption capacities for pump oil, peanut oil, diesel, and gasoline 194.85, 131.7, 66.75, and 43.38 g g ⁻¹ , respectively.	[67]
FS/CA-NF	Oil/water	Superhydrophobic membrane.	[69]

2.1.3 Photocatalytic reaction

Photocatalysis is an advanced oxidation process that is employed in the field of water and wastewater treatment, in particular for oxidative elimination of micropollutants and microbial pathogens [70] and has shown a great potential as a low-cost, environmental friendly and sustainable water treatment technology. However, there are many challenges [71]. Chong et al. [72] discussed the recent R&D progress of engineered-photocatalysts, photoreactor systems, and the process optimizations and modelings of the photo oxidation process for water treatment.

Advantages of photocatalytic reaction for water treatment are:

- Large scale application.
- Catalyst optimization to improve quantum yield or to utilize visible light.
- Efficient photocatalytic reactor design and catalyst recovery/immobilization techniques.
- Better reaction selectivity.
- Low cost.

The essential application of the photocatalysts for environmental cleansing is the decontamination of microorganisms from wastewater. The photocatalytic cleaning of wastewater using ENFs membrane has attracted substantial research interest over the past few decades. Several types of photocatalysts have been tested for a variety of cleaning applications, for instance, bacterial pollutant and air contaminant removal with metal oxide containing nanofibers. In photocatalytic membranes, nanoscale inorganic photo-catalysts are embedded in a membrane matrix to enhance the properties of the resultant polymer. Photocatalyst can attack the bacterial cell wall by releasing metal ions when needed. For example, a zinc oxide nanofiber can produce zinc ions and a titanium dioxide nanofiber can release titanium ions.

Kang et al. [73] fabricated novel porous polytetrafluoroethylene (PTFE) nanofiber membranes containing Fe_2O_3 ($Fe_2O_3/PTFE$) via a three-step method by electrospinning, immersion and calcination. The membrane was used as a heterogeneous catalyst. The experiment showed that the porous $Fe_2O_3/PTFE$ nanofibers exhibited high photocatalytic activity for the degradation of dye Acid Red under UV light irradiation. Under optimal conditions, the degradation efficiency of Acid Red was above 99% with UV irradiation and H_2O_2 within 80 min and the nanofiber membranes can be used over a wide range of pH values.

Li et al. [74] fabricated a novel photocatalyst supporting material, onedimensional hollow PAN nanofiber mat (HPAN) via coaxial solution blowing method (CSB). The heterogeneous catalyst of Fe-AO-CSB-HPAN with average diameter of 735.93 nm was obtained by amidoximation and Fe coordination of CSB-HPAN. It was revealed that the membrane has excellent photocatalytic performance in the degradation of textile dyes in the presence of H_2O_2 under light irradiation.

Cozza et al. [75] demonstrated the photocatalytic activity of the nanofiber (poly(styrene-co-maleic anhydride) (PSMAn))/M-POSS system for degradation of the organic dye sulforhodamine B. Catalytic system was based on electrospun polymer nanofibers, which were modified with a metalcontaining polyhedral oligomeric silsesquioxanes (M-POSS).

Cheng et al. [76] fabricated $BiVO_4$ nanofibers via electrospinning and controlled heat treatment. These $BiVO_4$ nanofibers showed an enhanced photocatalytic activity in the degradation of rhodamine-B under visible light irradiation. It was suggested that enhanced photocatalytic activity was due to the phase junction structure of the (s-t) and (s-m) phases in electrospun $BiVO_4$ nanofibers.

In another work, Taha [77] synthesized a mesostructured vanadium oxide embedded carbon nanofiber membrane decorated with Ag nanoparticles (Ag@V-CNF-1, (AgNO₃ = 0.05 gm) and Ag@V-CNF-2, (AgNO₃ = 0.1 gm) by combining the electrospinning technique with carbonization. It was revealed that membrane enhanced photocatalytic activity under visible light irradiation and the membrane exhibited excellent dye degradation (MB, MO, and RhB dyes) and bacteria (E. coli) disinfection.

Template-free porous carbon nanofibers embedded with WO₃ (WO₃-CNF) were prepared by Taha and Li [78] via combining electrospinning and carbonization process and exhibited excellent photocatalytic activity in the decomposition of different dyes (methyl orange (MO), malachite green (MG) and rhodamine B) under visible-light irradiation.

Polymer nanofibrous membranes functionalized with TiO_2 nanoparticles have already shown to be promising for photodegradation of dissolved organic matter, humic acids and bacteria [79, 80]. Geltmeyer et al. [81] used TiO_2 functionalized PA 6 (polyamide) nanofibrous membranes for methylene blue and isoproturon removal from water. The highest removal rate was obtained using the 35 wt.% inline functionalized PA (polyamide) 6 samples of the highest TiO_2 load. High photocatalytic activity was shown by methylene blue and isoproturon removal.

Prahsam et al. [82] prepared webs of electrospun PAN/TiO_2 nanofiber from PAN/DMF and $PAN/DMF/H_2O$ solutions containing different amounts of TiO₂ (0 to 3 wt.%). PAN webs containing 2 and 3 wt.% TiO₂ showed good photocatalytic activity in photodecomposition of MB (methylene blue) solution under UV irradiation.

Doh et al. [83] developed photocatalytic electrospun TiO₂ nanofibers for the treatment of organic pollutants (three kinds of dyes: basic blue 26, basic green 4 and basic violet 4). The surface of TiO₂ nanofiber was modified by coating TiO₂ particles by sol-gel method. On coating, photocatalytic activity and effective surface area of the membrane increased. The degradation rate (k' = $85.4 \times 10^{-4} \text{ min}^{-1}$) of dye pollutants by the composite TiO₂ nanofiber was significantly higher than that ($15.7 \times 10^{-4} \text{ min}^{-1}$) of TiO₂ nanofibers and that ($14.3 \times 10^{-4} \text{ min}^{-1}$) of TiO₂ nanoparticles prepared by the sol–gel method. It was suggested that the composite nanofibers and nanoparticles TiO₂ be suitable for the degradation of organic pollutants.

Watthanaarun et al. [84] compared the photocatalytic activity of neat and silicon-doped titanium(IV) oxide nanofibers (both electrospun) with that of the reference anatase titania powder by following the photooxidative decomposition of methylene blue. Both the neat and the silicon-doped titania fibers exhibited much better activity than the reference titania powder.

Lin et al. [85] fabricated photo catalytically active Ag-ZnO composite nanofibers via electrospinning of Ag-ZnO containing PVP, followed by removal of PVP and conversion of silver nitrate to silver nanoparticles. The hetero structure of the membrane promoted the charge separation of the photogenerated electrons (e–) and holes (h+), allowing both of the e– and h+ to participate in the overall photocatalytic reaction. From the investigation, it was revealed that the optimal photocatalytic activity of Ag–ZnO nanofibers was by a factor of 25 times more than that of pure ZnO nanofibers when the Ag concentration was kept at 7.5 atom %. It was suggested that exploration of the catalytic activity of such composite structures may pave the way for designing useful nanoscale building blocks for photocatalytic and photovoltaic applications.

Ofori et al. [86] fabricated tungsten trioxide (WO₃) nanofibers by an electrospinning technique using polyvinyl pyrrolidone (PVP)/citric acid/tungstic acid as precursor solution. The photocatalytic properties of the as-synthesized nanofibers were also investigated by degrading methylene blue. Two-fold higher degradation efficiency was obtained than that of commercial WO₃ micro particles when the fiber diameter was small and the fibers were subjected to visible light illumination.

An et al. [87] fabricated three-dimensional nanofiber membranes decorated with photocatalytic titania nanoparticles. The membrane yielded 100% degradation of the methylene blue, which is often used as a model pollutant, within 90 min under a relatively weak UV irradiation (0.6 m W cm⁻²).

On the other hand, Zhang et al. [88] studied two different systems of antimicrobial substrates based on polymer nanofibers such as:

i) electrospun nylon 6 nanofibers decorated with TiO₂ nanoparticles.
 ii) solution-blown soy protein-based nanofibers coated with silver nanoparticles.

It was observed that TiO_2 decorated antimicrobial nanofibers inhibit growth of E. coli and kill them under UV light. On the other hand, soy protein nanofibers decorated with silver nanoparticles do not require any UV light activation because of the inherent antimicrobial activity of silver nanoparticles.

Xu et al. [89] demonstrated that Bi-doped TiO₂ nanofibers showed higher degradation activity of rhodamine B (RhB) and phenol in comparison with the degradation activities of TiO₂-sol under visible light irradiation ($\lambda >$ 420 nm). It was also revealed that 3% Bi:TiO₂ showed the highest photocatalytic activities.

Chen et al. [90] fabricated TiO_2/WO_3 composite nanofibers by coupling self-assembly of block copolymer containing the precursors of two metal oxides and the electrospinning technique and studied the photocatalytic decomposition of acetaldehyde by the resulting fabrics under visible light. It was revealed that the composite TiO_2/WO_3 fabrics showed improved photocatalytic activity compared with neat TiO_2 and neat WO_3 .

A team of researchers in Singapore have claimed and developed a robust free standing TiO₂ nanofiber membrane which could be a cost and energy efficient way of cleaning wastewater [91]. The nontoxic TiO₂ nanofiber membrane acts as both filtration membrane and photocatalyst in water technologies. Singapore's team investigated the photocatalytic activity and anti-fouling ability of the TiO₂ nanofiber membrane using humic acid (HA) solution as the feed. It was reported that about 57% of HA was removed using the TiO₂ nanofiber membrane alone under the experimental conditions. On the other hand, under the same conditions, with UV irradiation on the membrane, the HA removal rate reached almost 100%. The team claimed that the TiO₂ nanofiber membrane has the potential to treat a large amount of water and wastewater.

Singh et al. [92] fabricated ZnO nanofiber by electrospinning of polyacrylonitrile and zinc acetate solution followed by sintering to generate pure ZnO nanofiber. The photocatalytic activity of ZnO nanofibers was studied by the degradation of naphthalene and anthracene dyes in the presence of light especially towards the ultraviolet range. It was observed that there was no drop in the photocatalycic activity of the membrane and in its physical structure after 6 cycles of testing and washing.

Sharma et al. [93] fabricated graphene-oxide-based hydrophobic PAN/GO nanofibers using electrospinning technique for photocatalytic degradation of Rhodamine 6G dye (carcinogenic dye) under natural sunlight illumination. Thus, graphene oxide nanofibers provide a scalable and novel route for photo-catalytic degradation of carcinogenic dyes from industrial water.

Liu et al. [94] investigated the photocatalytic activity of TiO_2/ZnO composite nanofibers, prepared by electrospinning, toward the decomposition of Rhodamine B and phenol. Almost 100% Rhodamine B and 85% phenol were decomposed in the presence of TiO_2/ZnO composite nanofibers under mild conditions. The results demonstrated that the blending of ZnO in the TiO_2/ZnO composite nanofibers increased the photocatalytic efficiency.

Liu et al. [95] fabricated coaxial nanofibers ZnO-TiO2 via electrospinning

and reported that $ZnO-TiO_2$ nanofibers possessed a photocatalytic activity higher than ZnO or TiO_2 nanofiber for the degradation of methylene blue under UV light irradiation. The separation improvement of $Zn-TiO_2$ may be due to $ZnO-TiO_2$ hetero junctions.

Table 3 shows summary of some recent works on photocatalysis for wastewater purification using electrospun nanofibers.

Table 3

Summary of some recent works on photocatalysis for wastewater purification using electrospun nanofibers.

Material/membrane	Removal /degradation of	Ref.
Fe ₂ O ₃ /PTFE	Dye Acid Red under UV light	[73]
Fe-AO-CSB-HPAN	Textile dyes in the presence of H ₂ O ₂ under light irradiation	[74]
PSMA nanofibers/M-POSS	Dye sulforhodamine B	[75]
BiVO ₄	Rhodamine-B under visible light irradiation	[76]
Carbon/Ag	Degradation (MB, MO, and RhB dyes) and bacteria	[77]
WO ₃ -carbon nanofiber	Methyl orange, malachite green and rhodamine B under visible-light irradiation	[78]
TiO ₂	Organic pollutants	[83]
PAN/TiO ₂	Methylene blue	[82]
TiO ₂ functionalized PA 6	Isoproturon	[81]
WO ₃	Methylene blue	[86]
PS-Titania mats	Methylene blue	[87]
Ag/ soy protein	Inhibit growth of E. coli and kill them under no UV light	[88]
TiO ₂ /nylon 6	Inhibit growth of E. coli and kill them under UV light	[88]
Si/titanium(IV) oxide	Methylene blue	[84]
TiO ₂ /WO ₃	Acetadehyde	[90]
${\rm TiO}_2$ nanofibre membrane mat	Humic acid	[91]
ZnO	Naphthalene, anthracene dyes	[92]
PAN/GO	Rhodamine 6G dye	[93]
TiO ₂ /ZnO	Rhodamine B and phenol	[94]
ZnO-TiO ₂ NF	Methylene blue	[95]

2.2 Separation of macromolecular solutes (protein, NOMs etc.) from water

ENFs form ineffective size-exclusion membrane for particulates removal from wastewater. Water decontamination is one of the most essential tasks for both environmental protection and wastewater reuse. The presence of contaminants, such as natural organic matter (NOMs) and trace organics accumulating in raw water create a major problem. NOMs have been shown to react with the major disinfectants (chlorine, ozone, chlorine dioxide, chloramines) to produce a host of disinfection by-products, such as trihalomethanes (THMs), haloacetic acids (HAAs), bromoform (CHBr₃), dibromoacetic acid (DBAA), and 2,4-dibromophenol (2,4DBP) etc. which are carcinogenic compounds. Micro/Ultra filtration (MF/UF) can produce high quality drinking water in small scale. But the main challenge for commercial membranes is their fouling caused by the deposition of contaminants such as NOMs as well as trace organics and microorganisms. High porosity of filtration applications.

Lev et al. [96] studied a novel electrospun polyurethane nanofiber material for water-treatment by filtering artificial water spiked with *E*.coli. It was reported that membrane showed very high log10 removal efficiency, ranging from 5.8 to 6.8 CFU (colony-forming units) mL⁻¹, which was better results than those of the commercial membrane (3.8-4.6 CFUmL⁻¹).

Sato et al. [97] introduced a new class of nanofibrous composite membranes based on the infusion of surface-modified ultra-fine cellulose nanofibers (UFCNs) (5–10 nm in diameter) into an electrospun nanofibrous

scaffold. From filtration test, it was observed that these membranes have a high retention rate in removing bacteria (E. coli) and viruses (MS2 bacteriophage) in water, while maintaining high permeation flux. Greater than 99% of the beads as small as 500 nm were removed using gravity filtration.

Mataram et al. [98] used polyacrylonitrile, polyethersulfone and polyvinylidene fluoride nanofiber mats for the removal of pathogens by filtration from wastewater {wastewater from a general hospital (Palembang), water from a local pond (Inderalaya Pond) and water from local river (Inderalaya)}. The CWP (clean water permeability) is given in Table 4 for different nanofiber membranes. The values are high enough to treat large volumes of water in absence of particles that could obstruct the flow of water in the nanofiber membrane.

Table 4

Comparison of CWP-value

Membrane type	CWP (Lm ⁻² h ⁻¹ bar ⁻¹)
Polyether sulfone	2134
Polyacrylonitrile	1982
Polyvinylidene fluoride	2001

In another article, Mataram et al. [99] reported the performances of PAN, PES and PVDF decorated with Ag nanoparticles for water treatment via micro filtration. The results showed a very good removal of TSS (total suspend solid) (94.83-97.34%), COD (89.32-95.27%) and NH₃-N (64.48-72.87%).

2.2.1 Ultrafiltration

Ultrafiltration is a membrane-based process used in many industrial processes where high separation efficiency is required, such as in water purification, biological filtration, and beverage clarification. Electrospun nanofibers can effectively improve the performance of ultrafiltration membranes. Dobosz et al. [37] demonstrated that polysulfone nanofiber-membranes had a 47% increase in permeance and a 35% increase in purewater flux than the control ultrafiltration membranes at a TMP (transmembrane pressure) of 3.5 bar. The cellulose nanofiber-membranes and polysulfone nanofiber-membranes demonstrated a 90% improvement in fouling resistance over the control membranes, possibly because the presence of the nanofibers decreased the contact time between the protein and the membranes by 50%.

Yoon et al [100] reported that using DMF or mixed DMF/NMP as solvents, high quality electospun polyethersulfone membrane can be obtained and the membrane is very useful for water-purification. On oxidation treatment by using ammonium persulphate, electrospun PES membranes become more hydrophilic (contact angle around 28°). As for the performance of membranes, it was found that the polyethersulfone membrane electrospun from DMF showed slightly higher flux of 28261 m⁻² h⁻¹ psi⁻¹ han that (26261 m⁻² h⁻¹ psi⁻¹) for the mixed solvents (50/50). The 10% APS oxidation treatment of electrospun membrane showed the highest value of pure water flux (29131 m⁻² h⁻¹ psi⁻¹).

Hosseini et al. [101] separated the contaminants of a tomato industry wastewater using cellulose acetate butyrate (CAB) electrospun nanofiber membrane (ENM). The results demonstrated the potential of using CAB nanofiber membrane for wastewater treatment.

Ke et al. [102] demonstrated that the silane-grafted alumina fiber membrane can reject 100% bovine serum albumin, and 92% cellulose. The membrane can also retain 75% trypsin at the concentration of 400 ppm, while maintaining a permeation flux of 48 L h^{-1} m⁻² bar⁻¹.

Goetz et al. [103] fabricated electrospun cellulose acetate membranes coated with chitin nanocrystals. Chitin nanocrystals (5%) increased the strength of CA random mat by 131% and also stiffness by 340% accompanied by decrease in strain. The pure water flux was as high as14217 L m⁻² h⁻¹ at 0.5 bar. Due to high flux of the CA and CA-ChNC membranes, these membranes have the potential for microfiltration applications. It was suggested by Goetz et al. that these membranes have potential in future water purification of process wash water from food industry containing biological and organic contaminants.

Wang et al. [104] used surface modified electrospun RC (regenerated cellulose) nanofiber membrane with a fiber diameter of \sim 500 nm and

membrane thickness of ~60 µm for UF. Surface of RC ENMs was modified with two types of polymer chains (i.e., poly(HEMA) (2-hydroxyethyl methacrylate) and poly(AAS) (sodium acrylate). Nanoparticles (with sizes of ~40 nm) and bovine serum albumin (BSA) molecules (with sizes of ~10 nm) were chosen for the evaluation of ultrafiltration performance of the modified membrane. It was reported that the HEMA-modified RC membranes could reject/remove more than 95% of the nanoparticles while they could not reject any BSA molecules; in comparison, the AAS-modified RC membranes had complete rejection of the nanoparticles and could even reject ~58% of the BSA molecules.

Hejazi and Mousavi [105] fabricated a double-layer chitosan (Ch)/polyvinyl alcohol (PVA)-polyacrylonitrile (PAN) and single-layer PAN nanofibrous membranes via electrospinning method and investigated its performance for wastewater treatment. It was observed that the maximum rejection values of chemical oxygen demand (COD), total dissolved solids (TDS), and turbidity using Ch/PVA-PAN nanofibrous composite membranes were 61.14, 34.6, and 99.8%, respectively.

Lee et al. [106] investigated the relationships between the structure and the water permeability and antifouling property of nafion/PVDF nanofibrous membranes which were fabricated through electrospinning process. The nanofibrous membranes revealed high porosities (>80%) and high densities of sulfonate groups on the membrane surface, leading to a high water permeability. These membranes showed superior water permeability values and antifouling performances against negatively charged oily foulants compared with a conventional CPVC microfiltration membrane due to the strong electrostatic repulsion between the negatively charged natural foulant and the negatively charged membrane surface. These membranes have also high permeability for water.

Ghani et al. [107] fabricated nanofibrous membranes based on a series of polyamide-6/chitosan composite onto a satin fabric and investigated the removal efficiency of two anionic (acidic and direct) dyes as a function of solution pH, initial dye concentration, electrospinning time, and chitosan ratio, by using central composite design (CCD). For both dyes the effect of increasing the chitosan ratio was positive. On the other hand, the effects of increasing the solution pH value and initial concentration were negative. As a result, the maximum removal efficiency was observed. It was reported that 93.2% Polar Yellow GN was removed from the solution under the following parameters: pH = 5, initial dye concentration = 100 mg L⁻¹, electrospinning time = 4 h, and chitosan ratio = 10 wt. %. For the 98.1 % removal of Solophenyl Red 3BL, the parameters were pH = 5, initial dye concentration = 50 mg L⁻¹, electrospinning time = 4 h, and chitosan ratio = 30.

Kim et al. [108] used polyvinylidene fluoride blended with polymethyl methacrylate (PMMA) electrospun nanofibrous membranes for the Seoul Zoo wastewater treatment plant. Suspended solids in the secondary effluent were completely removed, and a 48% removal of chemical oxygen demand was also achieved. It was revealed that the nanofibrous membranes have the potential to become a mainstream application in post-treatment of secondary effluent, which could lead to explore the use of nanofibrous membranes for diverse applications.

Zander et al. [109] explored the use of electrospun recycled bottle-grade PET (polyethlyene terephthalate) in the removal of particles (via liquid filtration) ranging from 30 to 2000 nm. The fibers were functionalized with biocidal materials to reduce biofouling and tested against the gram negative bacteria Escherichia coli (E. coli) and the gram positive bacteria Staphyloc. The flux was $230 \pm 60 \text{ Lm}^2 \text{ h}^{-1} \text{ psi}^{-1}$, which was on the high end of the range compared to other reported fluxes from nanofibrous membranes. It was reported that the rPET fibers without any surface treatment did not kill the bacteria. The functionalized rPET fibers with quaternary ammonium salt Lupasol only killed the gram negative bacteria, while the biguanide Vantocil proved effective against both gram positive and gram negative bacteria.

Asmatulu et al. [110] obtained highly purified water from various waste water sources by employing electrospun membrane PVC/PVP (polyvinylchloride (PVC) blended with polyvinylpyrrolidone (PVP)). Water was filtered through the fibrous membranes and collected in a beaker, and turbidity, pH, and TDS (total dissolved solids) were determined. Two chemical agents, Tanfloc (organic) and Alum (inorganic), were chosen for the flocculation/coagulation process. From test results it was revealed that when water suspensions were treated with the coagulants and filtered through the highly hydrophilic membranes, significantly better results were achieved. This can be a low-cost and low-pressure filtration option for the treatment of various waste waters.

Omniphobic membrane surfaces repel both water (hydrophobic) and oil (oleophobic). Lee et al. [111] synthesized an omniphobic membranes by constructing a hierarchical re-entrant structure. Negatively charged silica nanoparticles (SiNPs) were grafted on the positively charged electrospun nanofibers mats, prepared via electrospinning a blend polymer–surfactant solution of poly(vinylidene fluoride-*co*-hexafluoropropylene) (PVDF-HFP)

and cationic surfactant (benzyltriethylammonium), via dip-coating to achieve multilevel re-entrant structures. Grafted SiNPs were then coated with fluoroalkylsilane to lower the surface energy of the membrane. The fabricated membrane showed excellent omniphobicity. The fabricated omniphobic membrane exhibited a stable desalination performance for 8 h of operation, successfully demonstrating clean water production from the low surface tension feed water. The developed fabrication process will impact water treatment which would benefit from highly wetting-resistant surfaces against water and organic liquids.

In another work, Messiry et al. [112] used nylon 6 electrospun nanofiber mats for wastewater treatment of Textile Company's dyeing and finishing unit. Filtration performance was tested for assessing the following properties.

- i) COD (Chemical Oxygen Demand),
- ii) TSS (Total Suspended Solids),
- iii) TDS (Total Dissolved Solids),
- iv) Turbidity NTU

The results of testing different designs indicated the improvement in the filtration efficiency.

Lee et al. [113] used electrospinning method to fabricate nanoscale polyacrylonitrile (PAN) fibers in which various amounts of exfoliated graphene oxide (GO) were systematically incorporated. Mechanical properties of the membranes were increased and water contact angle decreased with incorporation of GO. Protein (i.e. the BSA) rejection rate and water flux improved when compared with PAN only.

Faccini et al. [114] fabricated free-standing carbon nanofiber (CNF) mats by electrospinning of PAN precursor solution followed by thermal treatment. Tetraethoxyorthosilicate was also added to polymer solution to increase the specific surface area of the CNF. These membranes were capable of rejecting NPs of different sizes and natures (e.g., Au, Ag, and TiO₂) from aqueous solution.

Wang et al. [115] developed rGO/PAN nanofiltration membrane whose surface was overlaid with GO sheets after hot-pressing. This membrane had an initial water flux of 15.8 L m⁻² h⁻¹ and after 6 h of BSA filtration this value decreased to 6.8 L m⁻² h⁻¹ representing a 57.5% reduction in flux. Cleaning of this membrane with sonication regained 81% of the initial flux. Wang et al. claimed that rGO/PAN nanofiber membranes are promising nanofiltration media for water purification.

Nthumbi and Ngila [116] described a method to fabricate nanocatalystloaded polyvinylidene fluoride/polyacrylonitrile (PVDF/PAN) composite (Ag/PAN/PVDF-g-PAA-TiO₂/Fe–Pd) nanofiber by electrospinning and functionalization and reported that this composite membrane dechlorinated mixed pesticides (dieldrin chlorpyrifos, diuron, and fipronil) 90–99 % and mineralized to 35–45 %. Nthumbi and Ngila claimed that this composite has great potential for dechlorination and mineralization of pesticides in contaminated water.

Kiani et al. [117] used thermally treated polyphenylsulfone (PPSU) ENFs membranes and determined pure water flux. The membrane was used for filtration of canned beans production wastewater. The remarkable pure water flux of 7323 L m⁻² h⁻¹ was obtained with 100% turbidity rejection. The chemical oxygen demand and total dissolved solids rejections were 30 and 29% for the untreated membrane and 27 and 25% for the heat-treated one, respectively.

Gopakumar et al. [118] investigated and compared the performance of a polyvinylidene fluoride (PVDF) electrospun membrane, unmodified cellulose nanofiber (CNF) based PVDF membrane, and meldrum's acid (2,2-dimethyl-1,3-dioxane-4,6-dione) modified CNF-based PVDF membrane against the Fe₂O₃ nanoparticle filtration and crystal violet (CV) dye adsorption. All membranes showed high filtration capacity against the Fe₂O₃ nanoparticles. It was also observed that meldrum's acid modified CNF-based PVDF membrane was the efficient media that could concurrently eliminate the Fe₂O₃ nanoparticles and CV dyes from the water. The authors suggested that their study opens a new path for the surface modifications of cellulose nanofibers via solvent-free techniques, which can enhance the economic feasibility of the water treatment.

Fu et al. [119] synthesised a novel protein adsorbent, functionalizing eletrospun ethylene-vinyl alcohol (EVOH) nanofibrous membranes (NFM) with critic acid (CCA), in situ. The obtained CCA-grafted EVOH NFM (EVOH–CCA NFM) membrane was presented as an excellent integrated adsorbent.

Celebioglu et al. [120] fabricated a highly efficient molecular filter membrane based on bio-renewable material, cyclic oligosaccaharides known as cyclodextrins (CD). Without any additional polymeric carrier, cross-linked insoluble poly-CD nanofibers were produced by using electrospinning technique. Electrospun cross-linked poly-cyclodextrin nanofiber exhibited significant affinity to a common class of organic pollutants (i.e. methylene blue (MB)). It was reported that the removal efficiency was above 90% with extremely high flux (3840 L m⁻² h⁻¹) including rapid uptake of MB from liquid environment. It was suggested that the bio-based flexible electrospun poly-CD nanofibrous membrane represents a highly efficient molecular filter for wastewater treatment. Table 5 shows summary of the few recent works on ENFs membrane used for the purification of pollutants.

2.3 Separation of VOC from water

Treatment of water contaminated with volatile organic compounds (VOCs) is a major problem for chemical industry. At present, VOCs are removed from moderately contaminated wastewater streams by processes such as steam stripping and from dilute wastewaters by air stripping combined with a carbon adsorption off-gas treatment system. But now it seems membrane technology is promising to VOCs removal. Scholten et al. [121] reported that electrospun polyurethane fibers removed VOC from air with rapid VOC adsorption. The ability of a material to remove VOC is influenced by a few factors including surface area and chemistry of the material. ENMs are very promising for the VOC removal from wastewater.

2.3.1 Pervaporation (PV)

Pervaporation (PV) has been considered as one of the most active and promising areas of membrane technologies to separate water or organics from close boiling or azeotropic liquid mixtures. Over the last decade, efforts have been made to apply PV for VOC removal from water and its technical and economic feasibility. PV is believed to be a promising technology in treating dilute VOCs in either groundwater or aqueous effluents. In PV, the feed liquid contacts one side of a membrane, which selectively permeates one of the feed components. The permeate enriched in this component is removed as a vapor from the other side of the membrane. The driving force for the process is the low pressure generated by cooling and condensing the permeate vapor.

So far separation by PV has been tested for the following three categories,

- (i) Dehydration of organics,
- (ii) Removal of trace organics from aqueous solutions,
- (iii) Organic-organic separation, etc.

However, very few works have been reported of PV by using electrospun nanofiber membranes for water treatment.

Yeh et al. [122] reported, for the first time, about the performance of the separation membrane consisting of a cross-linked PVA hydrophilic top layer, an electrospun cellulose nanofibrous buffer layer, an ENM layer with high porosity and fully interconnected pore structure, and a PET support layer (see Figure 2). The separation factor of the new membrane in ethanol dehydration was 80.8, and flux was 765 kg m⁻²h⁻¹.



Fig. 2. Schematic representation of a high-flux pervaporation membrane with a four-layer structure [122].

Lu et al. [123] used the membrane prepared by the combination of perfluorosulfonic acid/SiO₂ nanofibers and a poly(vinyl alcohol) (PVA) pervaporation layer for the PV assisted esterification of acetic acid (HAc) and ethanol (EtOH). The esterification–pervaporation experiments were carried out in a continuous membrane contactor. It was found that the conversion of HAc at 60 °C after 10 h was 10–15% more than the equilibrium conversion and further improved to 45% over the equilibrium conversion after 55 h. The yield of ethyl acetate (EtAc) was higher than 90%, which demonstrates that the difunctional membrane could enhance the esterification process greatly through the in-situ removal of water. The results demonstrated that the membranes had good catalytic activities even at low temperature because of the nanofibrous structure of the catalysis layer.

Table 5

Summary of the few recent works on ENFs membrane used for the purification of pollutants.

Membrane/material	Used/results	Ref.
Polyurethane nanofiber	Very high log10 removal efficiency for Escherichia coli from water, ranging from 5.8 to 6.8 CFU (colony-forming units) mL ⁻¹ , which was better results than those of the commercial membrane (3.8-4.6 CFU mL ⁻¹).	[96]
UFCNs	High retention rate in removing bacteria (Escherichia coli) and viruses (MS2 bacteriophage) in water.	[97]
PAN, PES and PVDF nanofibers mats	Removal of pathogens by filtration from wastewater.	[98]
PAN, PES and PVDF/Ag NPTs	Removal of TSS (94.83-97.34%), COD (89.32- 95.27%) and NH ₃ -N (64.48-72.87%).	[99]
PS ENF membranes	47% increase in permeance and 35% increase in pure-water flux over the control ultrafiltration membranes at a TMP (transmembrane pressure) of 3.5 bar.	[37]
Cellulose/PS nanofiber- membranes	90% improvement in fouling resistance over the control membranes	[37]
Functional PES ENF membrane	Water purification. Contact angle around 28°.	[100]
CAB ENF membranes	Tomato industry wastewater treatment.	[101]
Silane-grafted alumina fiber membrane	Reject 100% BSA protein and 92% cellulose.	[102]
Cellulose acetate/ chitin nanocrystals	Water filtration flux 14217 Lm ⁻² h ⁻¹ at 0.5 bar. MF application.	[103]
RC ENFs/Poly(HEMA) or Poly(AAS) chains	HEMA-modified RC membranes reject/remove > 95% of the nanoparticles while they could not reject any BSA molecules. AAS-modified RC membranes showed complete rejection of the nanoparticles and could even reject ~58% of the BSA molecules.	[104]
CS/PVA/PAN	Wastewater treatment. Rejection values of COD, TDS and turbidity were 61.14, 34.6, and 99.8%, respectively.	[105]
Nafion/PVDF	Superior water permeability values and antifouling performances against negatively charged oily foulants.	[106]
PA-6/Chitosan	Removal of acidic and direct dyes.	[107]
PVDF/PMMA	Used in Seoul Zoo wastewater treatment plant. Suspended solids in the secondary effluent were completely removed. 48% removal of chemical oxygen was also achieved.	[108]
Bottle-grade PET ENFs	Removal of particles (via liquid filtration) ranging from 30 to 2000 nm. Fibers functionalized with biocidal materials reduced biofouling and killed bacteria Escherichia coli (E. coli) and Staphyloc. Flux 230 ± 60 Lm ⁻² h ⁻¹ psi ⁻¹ .	[109]
PVC/PVP	Filtration of micro and nanosize suspended articles from water.	[110]
(PVDF-HFP)-silica NPTs	Desalination.	[111]
Nylon 6 ENFs mat	Wastewater treatment of textile company's dyeing and finishing unit.	[112]
PAN-GO	Water purification. Removal of protein etc.	[113]
CNF mats	Capable of rejecting NPs of different sizes and natures from aqueous solution.	[114]
rGO/PAN	Can reject ~ 90% MgSO ₄ with high water flux. Initial water flux of 15.8 Lm ⁻² h ⁻¹ . After 6 h of BSA filtration this value decreased into 6.8 Lm ⁻² h ⁻¹ representing a 57.5% reduction in flux	[115]
Ag/PAN/PVDF-g-PAA- TiO ₂ /Fe–Pd	Dechlorination and photodegradation of pesticides in contaminated water (90–99 %) and mineralization (35–45 %).	[116]
PPSU ENFs	Filtration of canned beans production wastewater. Water flux of 7323 Lm ² h ⁻¹ . 100% turbidity rejection. COD and TDS rejections were 30 and 29% for the untreated membrane and 27 and 25% for the beat-treated membrane respectively.	[117]
EVOH-CCA NFM	Protein (take lysozyme as the model protein) adsorption canacity of 284 mg s^{-1}	[119].
Cellulose NF/PVDF	Remove Fe ₂ O ₃ nanoparticles on filtration	[118]
poly-CD nanofibers	Water purification. Organic pollutant (i.e. methylene blue (MB)).	[120]

2.3.2 Membrane distillation (MD)

In membrane distillation, membranes on the basis of their selective properties are not involved in the mass transport phenomena, but are involved in heat transport from the hot side to the cold side. Membrane distillation (MD) is a thermally driven process in which a hydrophobic porous membrane only allows for passage of water vapor, but not liquid water. The hydrophobic membrane repels liquid water and prevents it from entering the pores. Vapor molecules, on the other hand, cross the membrane and are condensed at the permeate side or are removed by vacuum or a sweep gas in order to maintain the vapor pressure difference across the membrane. There are four different types of membrane distillation processes, including direct contact membrane distillation (DCMD), air-gap membrane distillation (AGMD), sweep gas membrane distillation (SGMD), and vacuum membrane distillation (VMD). Conventionally, microfiltration or ultrafiltration membranes have been used for this purpose and the membrane should be made of a hydrophobic polymer such as PVDF, polypropylene (PP), and Teflon to repel liquid water. Tijing et al. [124] wrote a review and discussed the progress in the application of nanofibrous membrane fabricated by electrospinning for MD application.

Feng et al. [125] described the removal of a volatile organic compound (chloroform) from water via membrane gas stripping (SGMD) using electrospun poly(vinylidene fluoride) (PVDF) nanofiber membrane. Nitrogen was used as sweeping gas. The overall mass transfer coefficient of chloroform through the nanofiber membrane was found to be 2×10^{-5} m s⁻¹ at room temperature which was more than the highest value obtained earlier for a hollow fiber air-stripping system.

Table 6 shows the summary of the recent works reported for the separation of VOC by using nanofiber/ nanofiber membrane.

Table 6

Summary of the recent works reported for the separation of VOC by using nanofiber/ nanofiber membrane.

	Membrane/material Removal of		Result	Ref		
Pervaporation						
	PVA/cellulose/PET	Ethanol dehydration	Separation factor 80.8. Flux 765 kgm ⁻² h ⁻¹ .	[122]		
Perfluorosulfonic acid/SiO ₂ NF/ PVA)		Esterification of HAc and EtOH. Removal of water	Conversion of HAc at 60 °C after 10 h was $10-15\%$ more than the equilibrium conversion. It was about 45% more than the equilibrium conversion after 55 h. Yield of EtAc > 90%.	[123]		
		Membrane Distill	ation			
	PVDF ENFs membrane	Chloroform removal from water	Mass transfer coefficient of CHCl ₃ 2 × 10^{-5} ms ⁻¹ at room temperature.	[125]		

2.4 Separation of chiral isomers

Optical isomers, also called enantiomers, of a chiral compound are distinguishable from their mirror images. This property of a compound is called chirality. In human body, the chirality of the chiral compounds plays an important role in controlling the biosynthesis and metabolism. Though optical isomers have exactly the same chemical structure, their biological properties are very different. To use chiral compounds properly for their purpose/effect, they have to be in single enantiomers. Living organisms are composed of chiral biomolecules such as amino acids, sugars, proteins and nucleic acids. In nature these biomolecules exist in only one of the two possible enantiomeric forms, e.g., amino acids in the L-form and sugars in the D-form. Current methods of enantiomeric analysis include such non-chromatographic techniques as polarimetry, nuclear magnetic resonance, isotopic dilution, calorimetry, and enzyme techniques. High performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) is one of the best methods for the direct separation and analysis of enantiomers [126]. The disadvantage of this method is that the separation cannot be easily scaled up. The amount of material produced will increase linearly with time. This process is also too costly. The crucial factor for the creation of a successful enantioselective separation by HPLC system is the proper choice of a chiral selector or chiral stationary phase.



Fig. 3. Adsorption isotherms of d-isomer and l-isomer of Glu (a), Phe (b), and Lys (c) in the chitin nanofiber membrane at 40 °C [129].

Yoshikawa et al. [127] demonstrated that polymeric materials can be directly converted into molecular (chiral) recognition nanofiber membranes by simultaneously applying an electrospray deposition and an alternative molecular imprinting during the membrane preparation process.

Yoshimatsu et al. [128] encapsulated molecularly imprinted nanoparticles into poly(ethylene terephthalate) (PET) nanofibers through electrospinning. Upward 100% of propranolol-imprinted nanoparticles could be easily encapsulated into poly(ethylene terephthalate) nanofibers. These membranes were chiral-selective. The composite nanofibers were used as a sorbent material for batch solid phase extraction of propranolol.

Shiomi and Yoshikawa [129] fabricated chitin nanofiber membranes by electrospray deposition and revealed that chitin nanofiber membranes have chiral separation ability. The nanofiber membrane adsorbed 1-isomer from racemic mixture of Glu and Phe in preference to the corresponding antipodes, while d-Lys was preferentially incorporated into the membrane. Figure 3 shows the adsorption isotherms of d-isomer and 1-isomer of Glu (a), Phe (b), and Lys (c) in the chitin nanofiber membrane at 40 °C. As could be observed in Figure 3, all enantiomers were incorporated into the nanofiber membrane without any specific interaction, in other words, those were simply adsorbed.

Shiomi et al. [130] fabricated molecularly imprinted nanofiber membranes from chitin with imprinted phenylalanine derivative. From the experimental test it was noticed that the permselectivity was exponentially increased with the increase in the membrane thickness, implying that multistage cascade membrane separation was carried out within the nanofiber membrane. It was claimed by Shiomi et al. that a molecularly imprinted nanofiber membrane is one of suitable membrane forms for the separation membrane with relatively high flux and permselectivity.

Sueyoshi et al. [131] also studied chitin nanofiber membranes for chiral separation by adopting concentration gradient as a driving force for membrane transport. The chitin nanofiber membrane transported the D-isomer of glutamic acid (Glu), phenylalanine (Phe), and lysine (Lys) faster than the corresponding L-isomer. Yoshikawa et al. [127] demonstrated that non-chiral polymeric materials can be directly converted into molecular (chiral) recognition nanofiber membranes by simultaneously applying an electrospray deposition and an alternative molecular imprinting during the membranes from polysulfone with carboxylic acid as a functional moiety bearing oxygen atom.

In another work, Sueyoshi et al. [132] prepared two types of membrane i.e. molecularly imprinted membranes (MIPMs) and molecularly imprinted nanofiber membranes (MINFMs). These were prepared from polysulfone with aldehyde (PSf-CHO-05 or PSf-CHO-10) and N- α -benzyloxycarbonyl-dglutamic acid (Z-d-Glu) or N- α -benzyloxycarbonyl-l-glutamic acid (Z-l-Glu) as a print molecule. Both membrane showed chiral separation ability by filtration. The fluxes though the molecularly imprinted membranes gave one to two orders of magnitude higher than those of usual molecularly imprinted membranes without depression of permselectivity.

Mizushima et al. [133] prepared chiral selector membranes from polysulfones bearing a derivative of alanyl residue that were synthesized by reacting benzylamine-modified polysulfones with *N*- α -acetyl-D-alanine (PSf-Ac-D-Ala) or *N*- α -acetyl-L-alanine (PSf-Ac-L-Ala). PSf-Ac-D-Ala membrane preferentially adsorbed the D-isomer of Glu from a racemic mixture of Glu and vice versa; that is, L-Glu was selectively incorporated into PSf-Ac-L-Ala. The permselectivity of PSf-Ac-D-Ala toward D-Glu ($\alpha_{D/L}$) was 1.40, and that of PSf-Ac-L-Ala toward L-isomer (α_{LD}) was 1.48. Mizushima et al. [134] electrospan PSf with three types of alanyl residue ((N- α -acetylalanine (Ac-Ala-OH), N- α -benzoylalanine (Bzo-Ala-OH), and N- α -benzyloxycarbonylalanine (Z-Ala-OH)) as chiral selectors (prepared by polymer reaction) and showed adsorption selectivities toward racemic Glu (adopted as model racemates). Flux values for those nanofiber membranes were two to three orders of magnitude enhanced comparing with the corresponding typical dense membranes, without reduction of permselectivity. PSf-Ac-d-Ala membrane transported l-Glu in preference to d-Glu and *vice versa*, while PSf-Bzo-Ala and PSf-Z-Ala membranes hardly gave any permselectivity.

Kawasaki and Yoshikawa [135] prepared cellulose triacetate (CTA) electrospun nanofiber membranes with and without molecular imprinting. CTA nanofiber membrane without imprinting incorporated L-Glu in preference to D-Glu. Z-L-Glu molecularly imprinted nanofiber membranes showed adsorption selectivity for Z- and L- isomer, respectively. The affinity constant between L-Glu and the control CTA nanofiber membrane was $3.8 \times 10^3 \text{ mol}^{-1} \text{ dm}^3$ while that for CTA-L was $7.9 \times 10^3 \text{ mol}^{-1} \text{ dm}^3$. The permselectivity for the CTA nanofiber membranes gave high flux values, and the molar mobility for those was over $1.0 \times 10^{-8} \text{ mol} \text{ cm}^2 \text{ J}^{-1} \text{ h}^{-1}$. Ifuku and Saimoto [136] fabricated chitin nanofibers from the exoskeletons of crabs and prawns and reported that chitin nanofibers membrane transports the D-isomer of glutamic acid, phenylalanine, and lysine from the racemic amino acid mixtures faster than the corresponding L-isomer.

Table 7 shows the summary of some recent works on chiral separation by nanofiber/nanofiber membrane.

2.5 Miscellaneous

Kayaci and Uyar [137] developed cyclodextrin (CD) functionalized electrospun PET (polyester) nanofibers by using three different types of native CD (a-CD, b-CD, and c-CD) having 25% (w/w) loading. From the characterization of membranes via XRD, it was observed that CD molecules were distributed in the nanofiber matrix without any crystalline CD aggregation. The performance of membranes was tested by studying entrapment of aniline from vapor phase to the PET/CD membranes. Higher amount of aniline was entrapped by PET/CD nanofiberous webs when compared to pristine PET web. The entrapment efficiency of aniline vapor was found to be better for PET/c-CD nanofibers compared to PET/a-CD and PET/b-CD nanofibers. It was suggested by the authors that the electrospun PET nanofibers functionalized with CD may be used as filtering material for removal of VOC (volatile organic compounds) in air filtration.

Taheran et al. [138] fabricated a series of polyacrylonitrile/activated biochar nanofibrous membranes (NFMs) with different loadings of biochar (0–2%, w/w) via electrospinning. It was reported that at 1.5% of biochar loading, the surface area reached the maximum value of 12.4 m²g⁻¹ and the membrane can efficiently remove micropollutants, such as CTC (chlortetracycline) from aqueous media. It was suggested that these types of systems can be used in the removal of contaminants from aqueous environmental streams. However, further research is needed to increase the adsorption capacity of fabricated membranes.

Liang et al. [139] reported that carbon Microfibers with Hierarchical porous structure from electrospun fiber exhibited good adsorption property toward organic vapor. Liang et al. [140] developed uniform carbonaceous nanofibers (CNFs) membranes. These membranes exhibited larger adsorption capacities than commercial granular active carbon (GAC) and carbon nanotubes (CNTs) because of their large surface area, high uniformity, and numerous active sites on the surface of nanofibers. From membrane filtration experiments it was proved that the CNF membranes could remove methylene blue (MB) efficiently at a very high flux of 1580 L m⁻² h⁻¹, which is 10–100 times higher than that of commercial nano- or ultrafiltration membranes with similar rejection properties. Thus, due to high adsorption and regenerability performance of the CNF membrane, it has potential applications in water purification.

Silver is a widely-used and recognized broad spectrum biocidal agent that is effective against bacteria, fungi and viruses but is non-toxic to human cell. In the past few years, silver-containing electrospun nanofibers have attracted interest as a novel form of antimicrobial material [104, 141, 142]. Wang et al. [143] used cellulose acetate nananofiber, decorated with Ag, for treatment of the dye wastewater (rhodamine B aqueous solution). The membrane showed effective adsorption performance including remarkable antibacterial property when compared to the CA nanofibrous membrane without silver NPs. The silver-loaded highly porous CA nanofibrous membrane could be considered as an ideal candidate for treatment of the dye wastewater.

Table 7

Summary of some recent works on chiral separation by nanofiber/nanofiber membrane.

Membrane	Removal	Result	Ref
Molecularly imprinted into PET nanofibers	Chiral isomers	These membranes were chiral- selective.	[128]
Molecularly imprinted nanofiber membranes from carboxylated polysulfone	Chiral isomers	Non-chiral polymeric materials can be directly converted into molecular (chiral) recognition nanofiber membranes by simultaneously applying an electrospray deposition and an alternative molecular imprinting during the membrane preparation process.	[127]
Chitin nanofiber membranes	Chiral isomers	Membrane can separate chiral isomers. Adsorbed L- <i>isomer</i> from racemic mixture of Glu and Phe in preference to the corresponding antipodes. Multi-stage cascade separation was demonstrated adopting racemic mixture of amino acid.	[129]
Molecularly imprinted chitin nanofiber	Chiral separation	Molecularly imprinted nanofiber membrane is one of suitable membrane forms for the separation membrane with relatively high flux and permselectivity	[130]
Chitin ENFs membranes	Chiral separation	Separation ability. Concentration gradient as a driving force for membrane transport.	[131]
Molecularly imprinted polysulfone- aldehyde (MINFMs)	Chiral separation	Abilityof chiral isomer separation. Molecularly imprinted ENFm gave high flux without depression of permselectivity.	[132]
Polysulfones bearing a derivative of alanyl residue (PSf-Ac-L- Ala.)	Chiral separation	Preferentially adsorbed the D- isomer of Glu from a racemic mixture of Glu and vice versa.	[133]
PSf with three types of alanyl residue	Chiral separation	Adsorption selectivities toward mixture of racemic Glu. Flux values two to three orders of magnitude enhanced comparing with the corresponding typical dense membranes, without reduction of permselectivity.	[134]
CTA molecular imprinting	Chiral separation	Ability to separate chiral isomers. Affinity constant between L-Glu and specific adsorption site in the control CTA nanofiber membrane 3.8×10^3 mol ⁻¹ dm ³ .	[135]
Chitin nanofibers from the exoskeletons of crabs and prawns	Chiral separation	Chiral separation ability. Transports the D-isomer of glutamic acid, phenylalanine, and lysine from the racemic amino acid mixtures faster than the corresponding L-isomer.	[136]

Shalaby et al. [144] reported that Ag/polyacrylonitrile (Ag/PAN) hybrid

nanofibers prepared by electrospinning have a high bactericidal effect. Antimicrobial PAN nanofibers containing silver nanoparticles (Ag-NPs) were prepared by simple electrospinning technique and used in water disinfection. It was reported that E. coli bacteria significantly reduced (>97%) when bacteria in water contacted with Ag/PAN hybrid nanofibers. It was claimed in this work that PAN nanofibers are excellent candidate for carrying silver nanoparticles and for being used in water treatment.

Foroozmehr et al. [145] used polyacrylonitrile ENFS functionalized with β -cyclodextrin (β CD) to treat a reactive dye wastewater stream by dynamic method. It was revealed that the dye removal efficiency was increased from 15.5% for PAN to 24% for PAN/ β CD nanofiber mats.

Celebioglu et al. [120] suggested that the bio-based flexible electrospun poly-CD nanofibrous membrane represents a highly efficient molecular filter for wastewater treatment. Min et al. [146] fabricated a novel micro-nano structure poly(ether sulfone)/poly(ethyleneimine) (PES/PEI) nanofibrous membrane and studied its performance as an adsorbent for anionic dyes or from aqueous solutions. The adsorption equilibrium data were all fitted well to the Langmuir isotherm equation, with a maximum adsorption capacity values of 1000.00 mg⁻¹, 344.83 mg⁻¹, 454.44 mg⁻¹ for Sunset Yellow FCF, Fast Green FCF, respectively.

Zhu et al. [147] fabricated a superhydrophilic/underwater superoleophobic graphene oxide (GO)-coated cotton for wastewater purification. GO was attached onto the surface of cotton fibers by means of hydrogen bonds between oxygen-containing groups of GO and cotton. The water contact angle was 0° and an underwater oil contact angle was $170^{\circ} \pm 1^{\circ}$ on the GO-coated cotton. The GO/cotton membrane can effectively purify various oil-in-water emulsions, dye wastewaters and even mixtures of both. Most of oils could be filtered with the removal efficiency over 99% and dyes could be absorbed with removal efficiency of over 97%.

The word "*Piezoelectricity*" means electricity resulting from pressure and heat. A piezoelectric polymer is a material having piezoelectricity (it is the ability of materials, which is the property that the polarization of a material change by applying stress and/or strain) [148]. Electrospun nanofiber membrane which have piezoelectric property guarantee the high water productivity and maintenance. Bae et al. [149] fabricated a PVDF nanofiber membrane for a piezoelectric MF membrane application. The fabricated piezoelectric ENM showed high potential for water treatment in terms of water flux and antifouling effect. The optimized pENM exhibited three times higher water permeability (5573 LMH bar⁻¹) and rejection performance (99.87%) for particulates (0.1 g L⁻¹ Kaolin solution at 0.25 bar pressure) than a commercial MF membrane. The advanced performance of the pENM shows that it has a strong potential for water-treatment applications.

Table 8 shows the summary of some recent works on chemical separation (miscellaneous) by using electrospun nanofiber/nanofiber membrane.

3. Separation of inorganics from water

3.1 Desalination

3.1.1 Desalination by PV, RO, NF, FO

Attempts have been made to desalinate salty water using ENMs. Some were by RO/NF and the others are by MD. Because of the large pore sizes of ENMs, most of the works were done by the membrane distillation (MD) process.

The hydrophilicity of ENM's surface can be enhanced in the presence of MWCNTs (multiwall carbon nanotubes) [150]. The produced fiber can be used to remove cations and anions from water using electrochemical capacitive deionization (CDI) reactor achieving high water recovery. Kaur et al. [151] investigated the influence of heat pressing on polyacrylonitrile electrospun nanofibrous membrane properties on the separation of salt by RO after interfacial polymerization of the surface of ENM. It was reported that composite nanofiber membranes showed very high flux in comparison with the flux obtained by commercial membranes (NF90 and NF270 FilmTec). However, rejection was approximately 8–12% less than the commercial membranes.

3.1.2 Desalination by MD

For MD process, commercially available microfiltration membranes are often used but they are not necessarily suitable due to their low permeation flux and pore wetting issues [152]. Many attempts have been made to replace commercial MF membranes by ENMs of enhanced hydrophobic property, high porosity, and adequate pore sizes.

Since the first application of ENM in 2008 [153], a number of researchers have improved its NF property by fabricating new composite, unique hybrid designs such as dual layer [154, 155] and triple layer [157] membranes. In most cases, hot pressing and surface modification were adopted to reduce the

pore size of ENMs down to those of RO and NF. Feng et al. [154] are the first to investigate desalination of salty water by MD. Electrospun PVDF nanofibrous membrane was used in air gap membrane distillation (AGMD) in their experiments. The results showed that drinking water can be obtained (<280 ppm NaCl) from up to 6 % salt solution with fluxes as high as or higher than commercial PVDF membranes.

Woo et al. [155] used dual-layer nanofiber nonwoven membranes for desalination by air gap membrane distillation (AGMD). The top layer of the membrane was hydrophobic polyvinylidene fluoride-co-hexafluoropropylene (PH) supported on different hydrophilic layer made of either polyvinyl alcohol (PVA), nylon-6 (N6), or polyacrylonitrile (PAN) nanofibers. The dual-layer ENMs showed a water permeate flux of about 10.9–15.5 L/m² h (LMH) using 3.5 wt.% NaCl solution as feed, which was much higher than that of a commercial PVDF membrane (~ 5 LMH). It was revealed that the wettability and characteristics of the support layer affects the AGMD performance. The PH/N6 dual-layer nanofiber membrane showed flux and salt rejection of 15.5 LMH and 99.2%, respectively.

Table 8

Summary	of some	recent	works	on	chemical	separation	(miscellaneous)	l by	using	electrospu
nanofiber/	nanofiber	r memb	orane.							

Membrane/material	Separation of	Result	Ref.
CD functionalized electrospun PET nanofibers. ((a-CD, b- CD, and c-CD))	Aniline in vapor phase.	Higher amount of aniline was entrapped. PET ENFs functionalized with CD may be used as filtering material for removal of VOC (in air filtration).	[137]
PAN ENFS functionalized with βCD	Reactive dye wastewater stream by dynamic method.	Removal efficiency increased from 15.5% for PAN to 24% for PAN/βCD nanofiber mats	[145]
PAN/activated biochar NFMs	CTC from aqueous media	Efficiently remove micropollutants.	[138]
Carbonaceous nanofibers (CNFs) membranes.	Methylene blue (MB)	Larger adsorption capacities than GAC CNTFs. Flux of 1580 L $m^{-2}h^{-1}$. Potential applications in water purification.	[140]
HEMA-modified RC	Nanoparticles	Remove >95%	[141]
AAS-modified RC membranes	Nanoparticles and BSA molecule	Rejection of the nanoparticles 100% and ~58% of the BSA molecules.	[142]
Ag/CA ENFs	Rhodamine B in aqueous solution	Ideal candidate for treatment of the dye wastewater.	[143]
Ag/PAN hybrid ENFs	E-coli bacteria	Reduced > 97%. Ag/PAN best for water treatment.	[144]
PVDF NF nanofiber (piezoelectric electrospun nanofiber membrane for MF)	Kaolin particles (0.1 g/L Kaolin solution at 0.25 bar pressure) (turbidity)	Water permeability 5573 LMH bar ⁻ ¹ .Kaolin rejection rate >99%.	[149]
Cellulose NF/PVDF	CV dyes from the water	Remove by membrane adsorption,	[118]
PES/PEI nanofibrous membrane	Dyes removal from water	Maximum adsorption capacity : 1000.00, 344.83 and 454.44 mg g ¹ , for Sunset Yellow FCF, Fast Green FCF and Amaranth, respectively	[146]
Go coated cotton	Oil-water removal	Effectively purified various oil-in-water emulsions, dye wastewaters and even mixtures of both.	[147]

Jiříček, et al. [157] tested electrospun PVDF membranes under various conditions on a direct contact membrane distillation (DCMD) unit, and determined the optimum conditions for the maximum flux. Nanofibers were collected on a nonadhesive paper substrate and laminated on a Meyer (DE) flatbed laminator at 1.5 m min⁻¹, using a pressure of 10 N cm⁻² at 135°C. The

sodium chloride containing 0 to100 g kg⁻¹ was demineralized in a distillate circuit. It was reported that thinner membranes have higher fluxes and lower distillate purity. In another article, Jiříček et al. [158] fabricated four self-sustained electrospun polyurethane (PUE) nanofiber membranes with varying thickness and tested to find the optimum structural parameters and operational conditions for the best MD performance in waste water treatment. The highest flux was achieved with the thinnest membranes and the best energy efficiency was achieved with the thickest membranes. All membranes had salt retention above 99%.

Li et al. [159] fabricated, electrospun superhydrophobic organic/inorganic composite nanofibrous membranes by a facile route combining the hydrophobization of silica nanoparticles (SiO2 NPs) and colloid electrospinning of PVDF matrix. These membranes showed excellent DCMD performance. The silica nanoparticle sizes have a decisive influence on the nanofiber morphology, fiber diameter distribution, surface wettability, and membrane structural attributes. The DCMD test was conducted with 3.5 wt. % NaCl aqueous solution as feed, and the permeate tank was distilled water (a conductivity of around 2.45 µs cm⁻¹). The feed solution was heated to 60 °C by one heating system and circulated with a flow rate of 0.6 L min⁻¹ by a diaphragm laboratory pump, while the permeate side was maintained at 20 °C by one chiller to condense the permeate vapors and circulated by another diaphragm laboratory pump at the same flow rate. It was reported that >99.99 % rejection was observed with PVDF-S-40 and PVDF-S-167 under experimental conditions. Thus desalination evaluation results indicated that the superhydrophobic PVDF-S-x ENMs (S-x represents size of SiO2 in nanometers) showed superior DCMD performance in the NaCl solution system, which demonstrated the feasibility of designing and manufacturing of novel PVDF-S-x ENMs for MD applications.

Lee et al. [160] prepared ENMs incorporating fluorosilane-coated TiO₂ nanocomposite for DCMD. Functionalized with 1*H*,1*H*,2*H*,2*H*-perfluorooctyltriethoxysilane, TiO₂ was added in doping solution of polyvinylidene fluoride-*co*-hexafluoropropylene (PH) before electrospinning. The ENMs containing 10% TiO₂ exhibited better flux and stable salt rejection than the commercial membrane (PVHP, HVHP Millipore) and ENMs without TiO₂. The membrane electrospun from the spinning dope containing 20% PH with 10% TiO₂ exhibited a flux of approximately 40 L m⁻² h⁻¹.

Francis et al. [161] investigated the performance of Matrimid 5218 for desalination by using MDA (membrane distillation application) technique, and observed high water vapour flux of 56 kg m⁻² h⁻¹ and 99.99% salt rejection under experimental conditions.

Essalhi and Khayet [162] fabricated self-sustained ENMs of different thicknesses (144.4 to 1529.3 μ m) from PVDF for desalination via DCMD. It was revealed that the maximum permeate flux of the PVDF membrane via DCMD was 15.2 x 10⁻³ kg m⁻² s⁻¹ when the feed temperature was 80 °C and permeate temperature was 20 °C and the NaCl rejection was higher than 99.34% and no wetting was observed for 24 h operating time.

Zhou et al. [163] used polytetrafluoroethylene (PTFE)/PVA nanofiber membranes, after sintering at 380 °C for 30 min, in VMD. The membrane had unique uniform fiber network with a water contact angle above 150°. Pure water permeability and salt rejection was tested. The pure water flux reaches as high as $15.8 \text{ kg m}^{-2} \text{ h}^{-1}$ when trans-membranous pressure was 30 kPa and feed temperature was 80 °C. Membrane displays a stable salt rejection above 98.5% for 10 h operation when the feed NaCl concentration is 3.5%. as shown in Figure 4.



Fig. 4. Salt rejection of 10 h continuous VMD application [163]. Su et al. [164] studied the DCMD performance of two composite nanofibrous membranes of PVDF and poly(vinylidenefluoride-co-

hexafluoropropylene) (PVDF-co-HFP) prepared by the electrospinning process. The contact angle of the PVDF-HFP electrospun membrane (128°) was higher than the PVDF electrospun membrane (125°). The nanofibers with an average fiber diameter of 170 nm and a maximum pore diameter distribution of 0.3 μ m were the best for DCMD system. From DCMD tests, it was observed that salt rejection was 99.9901% for the PVDF-co-HFP electrospun membrane, while for PVDF it was 99.988%. At the flow rate of 210 mL min⁻¹, the maximum permeation flux achieved was 10.9 kg m⁻² h⁻¹ for the PVDF electrospun membrane.

Li et al. [165] fabricated a superhydrophobic and self-cleaning polysulfone-polydimethylsiloxane (PSU-PDMS) ENMs via *electrospinning* PSU followed by PDMS coating. The membrane was used for desalination by DCMD after cold-press post-treatment under different pressures. It was reported that the PDMS concentration dictates the surface morphology and hydrophobicity. Competitive permeate flux of about 21.5 kg m⁻² h⁻¹ was obtained from PSU-PDMS-1–4 (prepared with 1 g PDMS in 40 mL hexane and 4 MPa applied cold-press post-treatment pressure). It also exhibited stable low permeate concentration with an electrical conductivity of 4.224–4.523 μ S cm⁻¹ when using 30 g L⁻¹ NaCl aqueous solution as feed and a temperature difference of 50 °C over a DCMD period of 12 h without detecting inter-fiber space wetting.

Oleophobic membranes resist the penetration of low surface tension contaminants such as cleaning agents, detergents, oils and chemicals. Omniphobic surface repels both water (i.e., hydrophobic) and low surface tension liquids such as oil (i.e., oleophobic). Woo et al. [166] investigated the AGMD performance of ENMs fabricated from omniphobic poly(vinylidene fluoride) (PVDF) and surface modified by CF₄ plasma. The AGMD performance of the membranes was evaluated using real reverse osmosis (RO) brine produced from coal steam gas (CSG) water. AGMD performance showed stable normalized flux (initial flux of 15.3 L m⁻² h⁻¹) and rejection ratio (100%). Results obtained from CF₄ plasma-modified omniphobic ENM suggested that the omniphobic membrane has good potential for producing clean water from waters containing high salinity and organic contaminants.

Tijing et al. [154] tested membranes composed of a dual-layered structure of poly(vinylidene fluoride-co-hexafluoropropylene) (PVDF-co-HFP) nanofibers and polyacrylonitrile (PAN) microfibers for desalination by DCMD. The membrane showed high water fluxes of 45 and 30 L m⁻² h⁻¹ for distilled water and 35 g L⁻¹ NaCl solution, respectively, as feed. It was reported that the thinner, the more hydrophobic and the higher porosity layer would result in the better DCMD flux. More than 98.5% salt rejection was reported.

Prince et al. [156] developed a novel triple layer (PVDF nanofibers/PVDF casted/PET support) hydrophobic/hydrophilic membranes through wet casting and electrospinning process. PVDF nanofibers were electrospun on the PVDF side of the flat (PVDF casted/ PET support) membrane. Figure 5 shows SEM image of the various layers of the triple layer membrane.



Fig. 5. SEM image of the various layers of the triple layer membrane. Layer 3 faces the hot feed water side and layer 1 faces the side with the air gap. (a) Top surface of the triple layer membrane in order of layer numbers from top to bottom. (b) Cross-section view of the triple layer membrane and (c) contact angle of the respective layers [156].

The membrane was tested for desalination by AGMD. In AGMD process, the top layer, consisting of PVDF ENFs faces the air gap. While the bottom layer, PET support faces the hot feed water side. The data obtained with triple layer was compared with double layer (without electrospun

nanofiber) membrane. Figure 6 shows AGMD flux versus different feed temperature for the triple and dual layer membrane.



Fig. 6. AGMD flux versus feed temperature for the triple layer and dual layer membrane [156].

As could be observed in Figure 6, at each temperature the flux of the triple layer membrane is approximately 1.5 times higher than the dual layer membrane. The triple layer membrane could be operated continuously for more than 40 h without any significant change to permeate quality, whereas the dual layer membrane could only be operated for 10 h before pore wetting occurred.

Figure 7 shows the average salt rejection of the triple layer membrane and the dual layer membrane. It seems that the salt rejection of dual layer membrane was not as stable as the triple layer composite membrane. It also decreased as the feed temperature increased. Thus, adding a single layer of nanofiber on the top of dual layer membrane improved the performance of the membrane for MD applications.



Fig. 7. Average salt rejection of the triple layer and dual layer membrane [156].

Furthermore, Prince et al. [167] enhanced the hydrophobicity of the PVDF membrane by incorporating Cloisite® clay in the electrospinning solution at concentrations of 2, 4, and 8 %. The contact angle measurements confirmed the direct correlation between hydrophobicity of the prepared ENMs and the clay concentration. The desalination experiments were conducted using a DCMD configuration with a 3.5 % NaCl solution. The feed temperature was varied between 50 and 80 °C and the permeate was maintained at 17 ± 2 °C. The results indicated that higher clay concentrations consistently resulted in higher fluxes. Also, incorporation of clay enhanced the salt rejection from 98.27 to 99.95 %.

Liao et al. [168] fabricated and optimized the PVDF nanofiber membranes for DCMD application, by controlling a series of factors including polymer dope compositions and spinning parameters. A permeation

Dong et al. [169] fabricated a superhydrophobic nanofibrous membrane via electrospinning of PVDF. The PTFE nanofibrous scaffold coupled with a microporous PTFE substrate. On testing theses membranes by vacuum membrane distillation (VMD), a stable permeate flux of 18.5 kg m⁻² h⁻¹ and salt rejection higher than 99.9% was obtained throughout the entire testing period of 15 h. In another publication, Dong et al. [170] fabricated superhydrophobic ENMs by the electrospinning of poly(vinyl alcohol) (PVA), followed by chemical cross-linking with glutaraldehyde and surface modification via low surface energy fluoroalkylsilane (FAS). These FAS-PVA membranes showed a high and stable permeate flux of 25.2 kg m⁻² h⁻¹ in VMD process, 70% higher than those of the commercial PTFE membranes, with satisfying permeate conductivity (<5 µScm⁻¹) during a continuous test of 16 h (3.5 wt.%, 333 K and 9 kPa, respectively, for NaCl concentration in feed, feed temperature and permeate pressure). In another work, Dong et al. [171] used composite PVDF-SiO₂ nanofiber membranes endowed with superhydrophobicity by the fluorosilanization of the surface. It was reported that the optimal superhydrophobic nanofiber membrane maintained a stable flux of 31.5 kg m^{-2} h^{-1} with a permeate conductivity approximately 10 μ Scm⁻¹ over the entire VMD test period. The results indicated that the superhydrophobic modification process rendered the nanofiber membrane anti-wetting properties without compromising its excellent permeability.

Liao et al. [172] fabricated two types of superhydrophobic PVDF ENMs, integrally-modified and surface-modified PVDF. Electrospinning was followed by surface modification, which included dopamine surface activation, silver nanoparticle deposition and hydrophobic treatment. The integrally-modified membrane achieved a high and stable MD water flux of $31.6 \text{ Lm}^{-2} \text{ h}^{-1}$ using a 3.5 wt.% NaCl as the feed solution while the feed and permeate temperatures were fixed at 333 K and 293 K, respectively.

Woo et al. [173] demonstrated the application of graphene/PVDF-HFP (G/PH) ENMs in desalination by AGMD using 3.5 wt.% NaCl solution as feed. The nanofiber membrane with 5 wt.% graphene loading (G5PH) showed an adequate porosity (88.7%), pore size (0.86 μ m), contact angle (162.7°) and high liquid entry pressure (LEP) (186.9 kPa). A high and stable AGMD flux of 22.9 L m⁻² h⁻¹ (LMH), compared with ~4.8 LMH for the commercial PVDF flat-sheet membrane, was obtained with 100 % salt rejection for 60 h of operation.

Obaid et al. [174] developed a process to produce PVDF-based thin-film composite forward osmosis (TFC-FO) electrospun membranes for enhanced desalination performance. The process is based on improving the surface properties of the PVDF electrospun nanofiber support layer using triethylamine (TEA). The modified TFC-FO membrane exhibited a high water flux, approximately 68 LMH and low reverse salt flux, about 2 g m⁻² h⁻¹ at 2 M NaCl draw solution, with >99.5% salt rejection.

Tian et al. [175] explored the use of electrospun PVDF nanofibers as substrates to make FO membranes. By using interfacial polymerization (IP), polyamide thin films were formed on two electrospun PVDF nanofiber substrates. The difference of the two membranes was their surface properties in terms of pore size and surface roughness. Water permeability of 1.21 L m⁻² h⁻¹ bar⁻¹ and NaCl salt rejection of 93.6% at 5 bar pressure were observed by RO for the denser substrate which had smaller pore sizes. On the other hand, for the substrate with larger mean pore sizes of 0.41 \pm 0.01 μ m, water permeability of 3.15 L m⁻² h⁻¹ bar⁻¹ and NaCl salt rejection of 84.4% were obtained under the same 5 bar pressure. Both membranes showed excellent performance in FO process because of their superior porous and interconnected open structure that resulted in reduced internal concentration polarization.

Wang et al. [115] fabricated GO sheet layers of various thicknesses surface-overlaid on the hot-pressed polyacrylonitrile (PAN) ENM via a vacuum-assisted filtration approach. From nanofiltration technique it was revealed that reduced GO (rGO) layer can reject ~90% MgSO₄ with high water flux (due to the size exclusion mechanism), making the prepared PANrGO membranes promising nanofiltration media for water purification.

Table 9 shows the summary of some of recent works on ENMs used for desalination.

3.2 Removal of heavy metals from water

At present, the critical global issue is water pollution. The heavy metals such as Hg, Pb, Cu, and Cd, are one of the most important classes of inorganic pollutants and have great physiological significance. The source of these pollutants in the environment is mainly attributed to the release of metal-containing wastewaters from different industries [7]. Removal of heavy metals from waste water by adsorption is the most promising, easy and low cost technology. The performances of the novel generation of nanocomposite/hybrid nanofibrous membranes can contribute well to environmental remediation [25].

Table 9

Summary of some of recent works on ENMs used for desalination.

Material/membrane	Result	Ref.
Two types superhydrophobic PVDF ENFs, integrally-modified and surface-modified PVDF ENMs, surface modified by Ag NPTs deposition and hydrophobic treatment	Integrally-modified membrane achieved a water flux of $31.6 \text{ Lm}^{-2}\text{h}^{-1}$ with a feed solution of 3.5 wt. NaCl.	[172]
PVDF ENFs	Flux depended on the thickness of the membrane. Rejection 90%.	[157]
PUE ENFs membranes with various thicknesses	Higher flux was obtained with the thinner membranes. Salt retention above 99%.	[158]
SiO ₂ NPs/PVDF ENFs	Permeate vapor flux 41.1 kg m ⁻² h ⁻¹ . Permeate conductivity $\sim 2.45 \ \mu s \ cm^{-1}$.	[159]
PVDF and PVDF-co-HFP	Salt rejection of PVDF-co-HFP (99.9901 %) and PVDF (99.9888 %) was almost the same as the PTFE commercial membrane (99.9951%). The permeate flux of the PVDF-HFP composite membrane was by 4.28 kg m ⁻² h ⁻¹ higher than the PTFE commercial membrane.	[164]
TiO ₂ / PVDF-co-HFP (PH)	Flux of 40 $\text{Lm}^{2}\text{h}^{-1}$, permeate conductivities below 2.1 μ S cm ⁻¹ for two days, and below 7.0 μ S cm ⁻¹ for seven days.	[160]
PVDF ENFs	Permeation flux 21 kg m ⁻² h ⁻¹ .	[168]
Matrimid 5218	Water vapour flux of 56 kg m ⁻² h ⁻¹ and 99.99% salt rejection.	[161]
PVDF ENFs with different thicknesses	Permeation flux 15.2 x 10 ³ kg m ² s ⁻¹ , NaCl rejection > 99.34%. No significant changes were observed for the diameter of the ENMs (1.0.12 mc)	[162]
PSf-PDMS ENMs	Permeate flux 21.5 kg m ⁻² h ⁻¹ , permeate conductivity $4.224 + 4.523$ u.S cm ⁻¹	[165]
FAS/PVA ENMs	Flux of 25.2 kg m ⁻² h ⁻¹ , permeate conductivity $\leq 5 \text{ um cm}^{-1}$	[170]
Cloisite/PVDF	High flux, salt rejection 98.27 to 95%.	[167]
Dual layer PVDF-co-HFP/PAN	Flux 30 LMH, salt rejection >98 5%	[154]
FAS- PVDF–SiO ₂	Stable flux of $31.5 \text{ kg m}^{-2}\text{h}^{-1}$ with a permeate conductivity approximately 10 us cm ⁻¹ .	[171]
PVDF	Salt rejection of 98.7–99.9%, flux around 11.8 kg m ⁻² h ⁻¹ for 6 % feed salt solution.	[153]
Graphene/PVDF-HFP	Flux 22.9 L m ⁻² h ⁻¹ , salt rejection 100% for 60 h of operation.	[114]
PVDF modified with CF ₄ plasma	Flux 15.3 L m ⁻² h ⁻¹ , rejection 100% for RO brine from CSG.	[166]
Triple layer PVDF nanofiber/PVDF casted/PET support	Flux 15.2 kg m ² h ⁻¹ .	[156]
PA/ PVDF ENFs	Water permeability 1.21 Lm ⁻² h ⁻¹ bar ⁻¹ , NaCl salt rejection of 93.6% for RO. Excellent FO performance.	[175]
TEA/PVDF ENFs	Water flux approximately 68 LMH, reverse salt flux, about 2 g $m^{-2}h^{-1}$ for 2 M NaCl draw solution. with >99.5% salt rejection.	[174]
PAN-rGO	Rejection ~90%	[113]

Toxic inorganic and organic chemicals of different forms are discharged into the environment as industrial wastes, causing serious water, air, and soil pollution. Thus, water pollution caused by toxic heavy metal ions has become a serious environmental problem. Heavy metals (such as Pt, Pd, Ag, Cu, Cd, Pb, Hg, Ni, Co, Zn, etc.) are also natural constituents of the earth crust and present in the environment as a result of weathering and erosion of parent rocks. These toxic metal ions, even at low concentrations, have deteriorated water resources [176]. Adsorption is the capability of all solid substances to attract to their surfaces molecules of gases or liquids with which they are in close contact. Heavy metal ions can be removed from the water through adsorption to membrane followed by a regeneration process to recover the membrane for subsequent usage.

Huang et al. [176, 177] overviewed the researches done in the last decade concerning the development of electrospinning-based micro- and nano-porous membranes for efficient heavy metal removal. In addition to super-high surface-to-volume ratio of electrospun nanofibers, they possess a variety of surface groups which enable their further functionalization and functional nanoparticle incorporation. On comparing ENMs as adsorbents with typical adsorbents, it was found that ENMs are superior in many ways with higher permeation flux, lower pressure drop, flexible component adjustment, and even multi-target adsorption. Therefore, ENMs hold great potential on the treatment of heavy metal contaminants.

Compared with the traditional adsorbent (activated carbon, zeolites, silica gel), electrospun nanofibers are better for heavy metal ion adsorption for the following reasons:

- i) Large surface area.
- ii) Tailored pore structures.
- iii) Good interconnecting pores.
- iv) Potential to incorporate active chemistry or functionality of nanoscale.

Chitpong and Husson [178] reported that cadmium (Cd^{2+}) removal productivities of poly(acrylic acid) and poly(itaconic acid) modified cellulose ENMs were found to be 6–15 times higher than commercial ion-exchange resins, and the membranes could be reused at least five times without a decline in performance. In another article Chitpong and Husson [179] modified thermally treated surface CA ENMs by grafting with poly(acrylic acid) (PAA) for the removal of Cd^{+2} from water. They reported that polymer grafting can produce high capacity membranes and also discussed the mechanism.

Ma et al. [180] used functional ENMs to remove heavy metal ions through adsorption from contaminated water. These membranes showed higher permeation flux and lower pressure drop than conventional microfiltration membranes. These membranes also possessed a high surface-to-volume ratio and functionalizable surface that could remove toxic metal ions with a capability comparable to typical absorbents.

Yun et al. [181] fabricated nanofibrous membrane from zein protein which was derived from maize. The zein nanofibrous membrane (ZNM) was prepared by using an 80 % ethanol solution as a solvent. The membrane was used to separate Cr(VI) from water.

Lee et al. [182] developed rhodanine loaded nanofibrous membranes for the removal of heavy metal ions. They reported the performance of the membrane for the removal of Ag (I) and Pb (II) ions through dead-end filtration. The highest absorptivity value was found to be 65.1% and 60.4% of the initial silver ion and lead ion concentration respectively. Furthermore, the electrospun membrane could be reused after the recovery process.

Rad et al. [183] used electrospun PVA/zeolite nanofibers for the adsorption of Ni^{2+} and Cd^{2+} ions. The time of adsorption equilibrium was found to be 60 min with greater adsorption capacity for Cd^{2+} .

Karim [184] discussed the potential of PVA-Chitosan nanofiber membranes (NFMs) in wastewater treatment processes especially for toxic metal removals. The kinetic studies indicated that the adsorption of Pb and Cd onto NFMs best fit the pseudo-second order kinetic model. The equilibrium adsorption study revealed that the Langmuir model was the most appropriate to describe Pb and Cd adsorption behaviors on NFMs. The monolayer maximum adsorption capacities of Pb and Cd were found to be 199 and 68 mg g⁻¹, respectively. Therefore, the NFMs exhibited great potential for the removal of Pb and Cd from wastewater in engineering practices.

Li et al. [185] used electrospun chitosan nanofiber membrane module for removing Cr(VI) in contaminated water by adsorptive filtration. The maximum adsorption capacity obtained with 2 g m⁻² nanofiber membranes in the module was 20.5 mg g⁻¹ at 10% breakthrough. It was observed that the module could adsorb various metal ions separately but showed preferred adsorption of Cr⁶⁺ over Cu²⁺, Cd²⁺ and Pb²⁺ when these metal ions were coexistent. Additionally, the fibrous chitosan membrane had much higher Cr⁶⁺ rejection and permeate flux, when compared with the performance of commercial NF membranes.

Yang et al. [186] prepared thiol modified natural polysaccharide chitin nanofibers and used as an absorbent material for arsenic (As(III)) removal. The arsenic adsorption performance of thiol-modified chitin nanofibers was evaluated under different pH conditions and at different metal ion concentrations, where the maximum adsorption capacity was found to be 149 mg g^{-1} .

Esmaeili and Beni [187] produced PVA/Chitosan (Chs) ENMs. The stability of PVA/Chs nano-fiber membrane was increased via thermal crosslinking. Adsorption experiments were carried out to investigate the effect of different adsorption parameters such as pH, adsorbent dose, biomass dose, contact time, and temperature. The maximum adsorption capacity of nickel and cobalt was observed at adsorbent doses of 0.48 g L^{-1} and 0.40 g L^{-1} respectively, with 79.28% and 77.12% removal efficiency.

Liu et al. [188] fabricated microfiltration ENMs having positive surface charges and capable of removing Cr(VI) from contaminated water. Polyacrylonitrile (PAN) was electrospun into a nanofibrous scaffold with an average fiber diameter of about 200 nm. Polyvinylamine (PVAm), a positively charged polymer was grafted onto the nanofibrous scaffold through cross-linking reaction by glutaraldehyde. It was found that at pH=6, the PAN-g-PVAm membrane showed almost two times higher adsorption capacity than activated carbons, and about 20 times higher than some synthetic activated carbons. The PAN-g-PVAm membrane also exhibited excellent Cr(VI) adsorption capability in a dynamic filtration process.

Hota et al. [189] synthesized composite ENMs and investigated the removal of Cd^{2+} from aqueous solution. Two polymers, the hydrophobic/PCL and hydrophilic/Nylon-6 were chosen to serve as the support for the boehmite. It was reported that sorption capacity for Cd^{2+} was 0.20 mg g⁻¹. The membrane may be useful for commercial filtration application.

Bozorgpour et al. [190] studied the removal of nitrate and phosphate via chitosan/Al₂O₃/Fe₃O₄ composite nanofibrous adsorbent, prepared by electrospinning process, and the results were compared with chitosan/Al₂O₃/Fe₃O₄ composite bead adsorbent. The Box-Behnken design was used to investigate the interaction effects of adsorbent dosage, nitrate and phosphate initial concentrations on the nitrate and phosphate removal efficiency. The obtained results revealed the higher potential of chitosan/Al₂O₃/Fe₃O₄ composite for nitrate and phosphate removal compared with chitosan/Al₂O₃/Fe₃O₄ composite beads.

Stephen et al. [191] used functionalized cellulose nanofibers as adsorbent, obtained through electrospinning and modification with oxolane-2,5-dione for the separation of Cd ²⁺ and Pb²⁺ from model wastewater sample. The adsorption capacities of functionalized cellulose nanofibers are 1.0 and 2.91 mmol g⁻¹ for Pb and Cd, respectively, compared to 0.002 mmol g⁻¹ of raw cellulose.

Li et al. [192] fabricated chitosan ENMs with different fiber deposition densities on polyester scrim (PET scrim). These composite ENMs were used for the study of dynamic adsorption capacity for Cr(VI) ions. The maximum bed loading capacity for 1 mg L⁻¹ Cr (VI) filtration at the breakthrough point was found to be 16.5 mg Cr g⁻¹-chitosan, higher than the static adsorption capacity of 11.0 mg Cr g⁻¹-chitosan using nanofiber mats, indicating the membrane's better potential for dynamic adsorption.

Shooto et al. [193] fabricated nanofibers via electrospinning from polyvinyl alcohol (PVA) and PVA incorporated with metal (Co) organic framework (PVA-CoMOF), and investigated the ability of these fibers to remove Pb(II) ions from water. It was reported that the sorption of Pb²⁺ions on PVA-Co-MOF was twice as much as the PVA nanofiber.

Habiba et al. [194] prepared chitosan/PVA/zeolite composite ENMs. The adsorption capacity of chitosan/PVA/zeolite membrane for Cr6+, Fe3+ and Ni2+ were 0.17, 0.11 and 0.03 m mol g⁻¹ under experimental conditions, respectively. Alibadi [195] used chitosan/cobalt ferrite nanofibers for the removal of Pb2+ and Cr6+ from water. Haider and Park [196] studied the removal of Cu(II) and Pb(II) ions from aqueous solution, neutralized with potassium carbonate, by using chitosan ENMs via adsorption. It was reported by Haider and Park that chitosan nanofiber mats had good erosion stability in water and high adsorption affinity for metal ions. Chitosan ENMs can be applied to filter out (or neutralize) toxic metal ions and microbes without losing their original chitosan properties such as biocompatibility, hydrophilicity, bioactivity, non-antigenicity, and non-toxicity. The equilibrium adsorption capacities (from Langmuir isotherm data) for Cu(II) and Pb(II) were 485.44 mg g⁻¹ (2.85 mmol g⁻¹) and 263.15 mg g⁻¹ (0.79 mmol g^{-1}), respectively. The Cu(II) adsorption data were ~6 and ~11 times higher than the reported highest values of chitosan microsphere (80.71 mg g^{-1}) [197] and the plain chitosan (45.20 mg g^{-1}) [198].

Li et al. [199] synthesized novel zonal silica nanofibers by the sol-gel polymerization of (3-mercaptopropyl) trimethoxysilane on the electrospun PAN nanofibers and modified it by removal of PAN nanofibers using DMF to increase surface areas. The maximum adsorptive capacity of 57.49 m g⁻¹ was attained within 60 min of contact time. On the other hand, pure silica nanofibers exhibited a very low adsorptive capacity of 1.36 mg g⁻¹.

Tian et al. [200] modified the surface of cellulose acetate (CA) nonwoven nanofiber membrane with poly(methacrylic acid) (PMAA) using Ce⁴⁺ initiated radical graft copolymerization and investigated the adsorption of

heavy metal ions (Cu²⁺, Hg²⁺ and Cd²⁺) on the membrane. The adsorption capacity increased with the increasing of initial pH value in the system. The membrane showed quite high adsorption selectivity for Hg²⁺ which was much higher than those of Cu²⁺ and Cd²⁺ at the same initial ion concentration. It could be due to the $-COO^-$ groups on the adsorbent which have strong tendency to form complexes with Hg²⁺. The adsorbed metal ions can be easily de-adsorbed from the membrane surface by using saturated ethylenedinitrilo tetra acetic acid solution, and can be re-used for the metal ion adsorption.

Wong et al. [201] investigated the electrospun nanofibers of PAN for heavy metal adsorption. It was reported that modification of the PAN electrospun nanofibers, by grafting with polyethyleneimine (PEI) and polyvinyl amine (PVAm), enhanced heavy metal adsorption rates. The PVAm membrane adsorbed a greater amount of Chromium (VI) ions from the turbid water than the PEI membrane.

Min et al. [202] fabricated chitosan based ENMs for the effective adsorption of As(V) from aqueous solution. Maximum adsorption capacity of As(V) was found to be 30.8 mg g⁻¹ which was higher than most of the chitosan related adsorbents reported in the literature.

Zhao et al. [203] used phosphorylated polyacrylonitrile-based nanofiber mat (P/PAN) for the removal of heavy metal ions (Pb²⁺, Cu²⁺, Ag⁺ and Cd²⁺ ions) from water. The adsorption equilibrium amount of Pb⁺², Cu²⁺, Ag⁺¹ and Cd⁺² was 98.06, 78.03, 102.4 and 18.89 mg g⁻¹, respectively. Phosphorylated PAN fibers also showed high recyclable removal efficiency through the adsorption/desorption experiments.

Choi et al. [204] fabricated multifunctional hybrid composites of zeolite/palladium (Ze/Pd) on polymer nanofiber membranes and studied their performance for sustainable contaminant removal. It was reported that the multifunctional nanofibrous membranes (Ze/Pd on polymer nanofiber) were able to adsorb and remove NH₃-N. Palladium catalysts oxidized selectively NH₃-N to N₂ gas. The cycling of NH₃-N adsorption-oxidation, high flux, hydrophilicity, and flexibility of the membrane makes it a strong candidate for water treatment.

Taha et al. [205] fabricated amino ($-NH_2$) functionalized mesoporous polyvinyl pyrrolidone (PVP)/SiO₂ composite nanofiber membranes via electrospinning method using poly (vinyl alcohol), <u>reidopropyltriethoxysilane</u> and tetraethyl orthosilicate (TEOS) mixed with cationic surfactant, cetyltrimethyl ammonium bromide (CTAB) as the structure directing agent. Ureidopropyltriethoxysilane was used for functionalization of the internal pore surfaces. The membrane was used for the separation of Cr⁺³ from water. Equilibrium adsorption was achieved after approximately 20 min and more than 97% of chromium ions in the solution were removed.

Huang et al. [206] synthesised chitosan/PNN nanofibrous mats via electrospinning and applied in the adsorption of metal ions. The fibrous structure of the soaked chitosan/PNN {poly(N-isopropylacrylamide-co-N-methylolacrylamide) (poly(NIPAAm-co-NMA)) mats was preserved by crosslinking using NMA (N-(methylol acrylamide)) and GA (glutaraldehyde) vapor. The adsorbed amount of Cu(II) on the chitosan/PNN (50/50) nanofibrous mats which was washed to pH 7 could reach 79 ± 2 mg g⁻¹-mats. The incorporation of poly(NIPAAm-co-NMA) significantly improved the desorption of Cu(II) from the nanofibrous mats.

Park et al. [207] fabricated electrospun poly(acrylic acid)/poly(vinyl alcohol) nanofibrous adsorbents for Cu(II) removal from industrial plating wastewater. It was demonstrated that nanofibrous adsorbents had Cu(II) removal capacity of 25.8–33.6 mg g⁻¹ at the adsorbent dose of 0.4–2.0 g L⁻¹ and Cu(II) concentration of 430.06 mg L⁻¹. The maximum Cu(II) removal capacity of nanofibrous adsorbent was 49.3 mg g⁻¹ with a far higher selectivity for Cu(II) over Ni(II) in a binary system.

Martin et al. [208] functionalized the surface of poly(ethylene terephthalate) (PET) nanofibers chemically using aminolysis process. The functionalized membrane's (APET) adsorption capacity was up to 97% of Pb(II) in the mono-elemental synthetic solution. The APET nanofibers mat showed a high Pb(II) selectivity in the presence of interfering metal ions such as Cu(II) and Cd(II). The adsorbent presented a quick kinetic adsorption, reaching an extremely high maximum adsorption capacity of about 50 mmol Pb(II)/g adsorbent after just 30 min. Excellent performance was demonstrated by APET nanofibers in continuous-flow mode operation.

Mahapatra et al. [209] fabricated iron oxide–alumina nanocomposite by electrospinning method and reported that these nanocomposite fibers were efficient adsorbents for removal of heavy metal ions. The removal percentage was in the order of $Cu^{2+} < Pb^{2+} < Ni^{2+} < Hg^{2+}$.

Li et al. [210] fabricated Chitosan/PMMA composite ENMs with a single solvent system and observed that the composite nanofiber membrane enhanced Cr(VI) adsorption via filtration. Maximum adsorption capacity (67.0 mg g⁻¹) of Cr(VI) was reported with chitosan:PMMA ratio of 0.3:1.0 which was nearly three times higher than that of chitosan powder (22.9 mg g⁻¹). The adsorption capacity of Cr(VI) via filtration became even higher, where the maximum value was 92.5 mg g⁻¹ at pH 3.0.

Islam et al. [211] reported that phosphine-functionalized poly(vinyl alcohol)/silica ENMs was highly effective for removal of aqueous manganese and nickel ions through adsorption via coordinate bond. The adsorption capacities of the pgf-PVA/SiO₂ nanofiber for Mn^{+2} and Ni^{+2} ions were 234.7 and 229.9 mg g⁻¹, respectively. The composite pgf-PVA/SiO₂ nanofibers (with 0.5 g L⁻¹ fiber loading) removed almost completely (96–98%) both ions from aqueous solutions (initial concentration of 120 mg L⁻¹, pH 6) within 15 min of contact time.

Zhou et al. [212] used ureido-functionalized mesoporous polyvinyl alcohol/silica composite ENMs for the removal of Pb^{2+} and Cu^{2+} from wastewater. Pb^{2+} and Cu^{2+} adsorption behavior on the membranes followed a pseudo-second-order nonlinear kinetic model and maximum adsorption capacity of 26.96 mg g⁻¹ was reported for Pb^{+2} . But Cu^{2+} adsorption was poor in comparison with Pb^{+2} .

Attia et al. [213] fabricated superhydrophobic electrospun nanofibrous PVDF membranes incorporated with superhydrophic Al_2O_3 nanoparticles and studied its performance in the purification of waste water with high concentration of lead via AGMD. It was reported by the authors that a high rejection percentage and flux rate were obtained by using 11 wt.% of PVDF concentration with 20 wt.% of superhydrophobic Al_2O_3 . Figure 8 shows the flux performance and percent of rejection of an aqueous solution with 1000 mg L^{-1} lead concentration over a period of 5 h by implementing one commercial membrane and four fabricated membranes.



Fig. 8. a) Flux data and b) rejection percentage as a function of time for the commercial and the synthesized membranes. (The commercial PVDF membrane under the trade name GVHP 29325 and four PVDF ENMs with the indicated PVDF: Al₂O₃ ratios in the spinning dope {ES15-0 (PVDF:Al₂O₃ =15:0), ES15-20 (PVDF:Al₂O₃ =15:20), ES13-20 (PVDF:Al₂O₃ =13:20) and ES11-20 (PVDF:Al₂O₃ =11:20) [213].

As could be observed in Figure 8 (a), the commercial PVDF membrane exhibited the lowest flux of around 15 LMH (L $m^{-2} h^{-1}$). On the other hand, high fluxes between 16.5 and 20 LMH have been shown by the composite PVDF membranes with Al₂O₃ NPs. Figure 8 (b) shows the rejection percentage of Pb as a function of time. It is clear that the neat PVDF (ES15-0) has the lowest rejection % with decreasing rejection from 84.2 to 72.7% within the five-hour operation despite having a high flux rate. On the other hand, the modified membrane with 20 wt.% alumina (ES15-20) showed an improved rejection rate of 92.5% to 84% within 5 h. The highest rejection and a stable performance was achieved by membrane ES11-20 which showed over 99% metal rejection within 5 h. It is clear that the highly hydrophobic NPs.

Moradi et al. [214] evaluated the performances of electrospun poly (vinylidenefluoride) - titanium tetraisopropoxide (PVDF-TTIP) hybrid membrane in heavy metal removal from water via VMD. The effects of operating parameters such as flow rate, temperature and membrane properties (i.e. porosity) on contaminant removal and ultra-pure water production were studied. The feed solution contained different trace concentrations of various heavy metals [Co(II), Zn(II), Cu(II), Ni(II), Cd(II) and Pb(II) all in the specific concentration (10-100 ppm)]. After VMD experiment, the total concentration of the feed solution was changed from 250 ppm to 750 ppm, which caused increasing the conductivity from 120 µS cm⁻¹ to 600 µS cm⁻¹. On the other hand, the conductivity of the distillate stream was almost constant during the same time period. From VMD study, it was concluded that asymmetric post-treated PVDF-TiO2 hybrid membranes could be successfully employed in vacuum enhanced membrane distillation for the removal of trace heavy metal contaminants and ultra-pure water production in one step.

Min et al. [147] fabricated a novel micro-nano structure poly(ether sulfones)/poly(ethyleneimine) (PES/PEI) nanofibrous membrane and studied its performance as an adsorbent for the removal of heavy metals from aqueous solutions. The adsorption equilibrium data were all fitted well to the Langmuir isotherm equation, with maximum adsorption capacity values for Pb(II), Cu(II) and Cd(II) 94.34, 161.29 and 357.14 mg g⁻¹, respectively.

Modified with diethylenetriamine (DETA), aminated polyacrylonitrile (APAN) ENFs mats were used by Kampalanonwat and Supaphol [215] for the removal of Ag(I), Cu(II), Pb(II) and Fe(II) from aqueous solution. In another article Kampalanonwat and Supaphol [216] reported that, when modified surfaces via heterogeneous reaction with diethylenetriamine (DETA), polyacrylonitrile (PAN) nanofiber mats have the adsorption capacities for Cu(II), Ag(I), Fe(II) and Pb(II) ions of 150.6, 155.5, 116.5, and 60.6 mg g⁻¹, respectively.

Cai et al. [217] studied the adsorption performance of polyindole fibers, prepared via electrospinning method for Cu^{+2} ions. It was reported that the Cu(II) adsorption was highly pH dependent. The maximum adsorption capacities for electrospun polyindole nanofibers and polyindole powders were 121.95 and 18.93 mg g⁻¹, attained in 15 and 60 min at pH 6, respectively. It was suggested that electrospun polyindole nanofibers would have promising application for removal of Cu(II) from wastewater treatment.

Feng et al. [218] demonstrated the removal/adsorption of heavy metal ions from wastewater by amidoxime ployarcylonitrile/regenerate cellulose (AOPAN/RC) composite nanofibrous membranes that were prepared by combined hydrolysis and amidoximation of polyacrylonitrile/cellulose acetate (PAN/CA) composite ENMs. The membrane's adsorption amount of Fe(III), Cu(II) and Cd(II) ions reached 7.47, 4.26 and 1.13 mmol g⁻¹, respectively.

Teng et al. [219] synthesized polyvinylpyrrolidone (PVP)/SiO₂ composite nanofiber membrane for selective separation of Hg^{+2} ions and reported that adsorption maximum capacity of the membrane was 4.26 m mol g⁻¹.

Xu et al. [220] reported that the maximum adsorption capacity of malachite green on vinyl-modified mesoporous poly(acrylic acid) (PAA)/SiO₂ was 220.49 mg g⁻¹ which was best fit with Redlich–Peterson isotherm. The removal of malachite green from the aqueous phase reached 98.8% in 240 min. Chen et al. [221] prepared an adsorbent which was synthesized by intercalating ethylenediamineterra acetic acid (EDTA) into layered double hydroxides (LDH) and subsequently encapsulating into PAN polymer matrix using electrospinning. The synthesized ENM (MgAI-EDTA-LDH@PAN) was evaluated using Cu(II) as target metals by varying experimental conditions such as pH, contact time, initial adsorbent dosage, and temperature. The maximum adsorption capacity of MgAI-EDTA-LDH@PAN was 120.77mg g⁻¹ with the initial Cu(II) concentrations ranging from 0.6 to 40mg/L.

Zahabi et al. [222] prepared functionalized nanofibrous ENMs prepared from Nylon 6 solution of 19% (w/w) in a formic acid/chloroform mixture (75:25 v/v). The ENMs were functionalized by (3mercaptopropyl)trimethoxysilane (TMPTMS) and the performance was studied for the removal of cadmium and nickel ions from water. The maximum removal efficiency of 93.0 and 97.6%, respectively, were reported.

Table 10 shows the summary of some recent reports on electrospun materials for adsorption of heavy metals from water.

4. Summary

The electrospun nanofiber membranes (ENMs) have been employed in different applications including oil/water separation, waste water treatment, heavy metals removal from water and chiral separation. Among many polymers, cellulose acetate, PVA, PAN, chitosan and poly(lactic acid) are most often used. Due to superior separation performances, these membranes hold promising future in wastewater treatment, especially because the trade-off effect between the flux and selectivity can often be overcome by ENMs.

The surface modification by grafting, interfacial polymerization, nanoparticles coating, and thermal treatment (pressing) were found to be effective to alter the surface properties, improving the filtration performance and antifouling properties of ENMs. Beside this, triple layer and double layer membranes, with many promising results, may also be considered as different versions of surface modification. Moreover, piezoelectric polymer membranes could open a new avenue for the water treatment.

ENMs could separate oil/water emulsions and oil microparticles from water via filtration or adsorption or both. Indeed, a large number of works have been carried out on the separation of oil/water media by ENMs, but mostly on low viscous oil-water emulsions. The separation of high-viscous oil/water mixtures is more complex and not much attention has been paid. Although there are many advantages to use ENMs for oil/water separations, there are two main challenges:

- i) Poor resistance against acid and alkali corrosion.
- ii) Poor mechanical properties for industrial applications.

Therefore, some works have been done to improve the mechanical properties of ENMs.

In heavy metal ions removal, the adsorption capacities of ENMs were proven to be comparable or better than conventional membranes/commercial agents.

The application of nanofibers in membrane distillation (MD) and in desalination via FO-RO has potential as future technologies, if the pore size of the ENMs can be reduced to those of FO and RO membranes.

In conclusion ENMs will be widely used in the future in place of present conventional membranes.

Table 10

Summary of some recent reports on electrospun materials for adsorption of heavy metals from water.

Material	Targeted chemicals	Adsorption capacity	Ref.
PVA/chitosan	Ni ²⁺	Doses of 0.48 g L ⁻¹ , removal efficiency 79.28 %.	[187]
	Co ²⁺	Doses of 0.40 g L ⁻¹ , removal efficiency 77.12 %.	
CA/ PAA (modified with poly(glycidyl methacrylate))	Cd ²⁺	160 mg g ⁻¹ .	[179]
Chitosan/Al ₂ O ₃ /Fe ₃ O ₄	Phosphate	135.10 mg g ⁻¹ .	[190]
	Nitrate	160.7 mg g ⁻¹ .	
Bohemite hydrophobic/PCL and bohemite hydrophilic/Nylon-6	Cd ²⁺	0.20 mg g ⁻¹ .	[189]
Chitosan ENFs mats	Cu ²⁺	485.44 mg g^{-1} (2.85 mmo \lg^{-1}).	[195]
	Pb^{2+}	$263.15 \text{ mg g}^{-1} (0.79 \text{ mmol g}^{-1}).$	
PVA ENFs	Pb ²⁺	22.72 mg g ⁻¹ .	[193]
PVA/Co-MOF	Pb ²⁺	55.23 mg g ⁻¹ .	
PVA-Chitosan ENMs	Pb ²⁺	199 mg g ⁻¹ .	[184]
	Cd ²⁺	68 mgg^{-1} .	
Spiral wound chitosan ENM	Cr^{6+}	20.5 m g ⁻¹ .	[185]
Thiol modified chitin ENFs	As ³⁺	149 mg g ⁻¹ .	[186]

PVA/zeolite ENMs	Ni ²⁺	342.8 mg g ⁻¹ .	[183]	1
	Pb^{2+}	263.15 mg g^{-1} .		
Chitosan/PVA/zeolite	Cr ⁶⁺	0.17mmo lg ⁻¹ .	[10/]	1
			[174]	1
	Fe ³⁺	0.11 mmol g ⁻¹ .		1
	Ni ²⁺	0.03 mmol g ⁻¹ .		
PVA/zeolite ENMs	Cd^{2+}	838.7 mg g ⁻¹	[183]	_
Rhodanine/PMMA	Ag^+	125.7 mg m ⁻² .	[182]	
	Pb^{2+}	140.2 mg m ⁻² .		
Mesoporous polyvinyl	Cr ³⁺	97 mg g ⁻¹ .	[205]	A
pyrrolidone (PVP)/SiO ₂ Vinyl-modified mesoporous	malachite	220.49 mg g^{-1} .	[220]	Δ(
poly(acrylic acid)/SiO ₂	green	NH3 N oxidized to Ne	[204]	
Zenu	1113-11	gas.	[204]	
Oxolane-2,5-dione/cellulose	Cd ²⁺	2.91 mmol g^{-1} .	[191]	41
	Pb ²⁺	1.0 mmol g^{-1} .		
PAA/PVA ENFs	Cu(II)	49.3 mg g ⁻¹ .	[207]	AI A'
Polyindole ENFs	Cu(II)	121.95 mg g ⁻¹ .	[217]	R
Chitosan/(polyvinylalcohol)/zeol ite	Cr ⁶⁺	0.17 mmol g ⁻¹ .	[194]	Б Д
	Fe ³⁺	0.11 mmol g ⁻¹ .		ь С
	Ni ²⁺	0.03 mmol g ⁻¹ .		C.
Chitosan	As ⁵⁺	30.8 mg g ⁻¹ .	[202]	C
P/PAN	Pb ²⁺	98.06 mg g ⁻¹ .	[203]	C
	Cu^{2+}	78.03 mg g ⁻¹ .		CI
	Ag^+	102.4 mg g ⁻¹		C
	Cd^{2+}	18.89 mg g ⁻¹ .		C
Chitosan/PNN Mats	Cu ²⁺	$79 \pm 2 \text{ mg g}^{-1}$ -mats.	[206] [205]	C
Modified APAN ENFs mats	Ag^+	$4.53 \pm 0.2 \text{ mg g}^{-1}$,	[215]	C
	Cu^{2+}	$3.64 \pm 0.3 \text{ mg g}^{-1}$,		C
	Pb ²⁺	74.6% removal. 2.04 \pm 0.3 mg g ⁻¹ ,		C
	Eo ²⁺	41.8% removal.		C
	re	$0.93 \pm 0.2 \text{mg g}$, 19.5% removal.		D
MgAl-EDTA-LDH@PAN	Cu ²⁺	120.77mg g ⁻¹ .	[221]	D
AOPAN/RC composite nanofibrous membrane	Fe ³⁺	7.47 mmol g ⁻¹ .	[218]	D
	Cu^{2+}	4.26 mmol g ⁻¹ .		EI
	Cd^{2+}	1.13 mmol g ⁻¹ .		El
Modified PAN ENFs (amidino diethylenediamine chelating	Cu ²⁺	150.6 mg g^{-1} .	[216]	El
groups)	Ag ⁺	155.5 mg g ⁻¹ .		F-
	Fe ²⁺	116.5 mg s^{-1}		G
	Pb ²⁺	60.6 mg g ⁻¹ .		G
Modified PET nanofibers mat	Pb ²⁺	50 mmol g ⁻¹ .	[208]	G
Fe ₂ O ₃ -Al ₂ O ₃ ENFs (sintered at	Cu ²⁺	4.98 mg g ⁻¹ .	[209]	H
1000 °C)	N.2±		[=07]	Η
	Ni ²⁺	32.36 mg g ⁻¹ .		Н
	Pb2+	23.75 mg g ⁻¹ .		Н
	Hg ²⁺	63.69 mg g ⁻¹ .		IP
PES/PEI	Pb ²⁺	94.34 mgg ⁻¹ .	[147]	LI
	Cu ²⁺	161.29 mgg ⁻¹ .		М
	Cd ²⁺	357.14 mgg ⁻¹ .		Μ
Chitosan/	Cr ⁶⁺	Max. value 92.5 mgg ⁻¹	[192]	Μ

pgf-PVA/SiO ₂	Mn ²⁺	234.7 mgg ⁻¹ .	[211]
	Ni ²⁺	229.9 mgg^{-1} .	
Ureido-functionalized	Pb ²⁺	26.96 mg g ⁻¹ .	[212]
PVA/silica			
polyindole ENFs	Pb ²⁺	121.95 mg g ⁻¹ .	[217]
Functionalized Nylon 66	Cd^{2+}	Removal efficiency	[222]
		93.0 %.	
	Ni ²⁺	Removal efficiency	
		97.6%.	

Abbreviations	
ACNFN	activated carbon nanofiber nonwoven
AGMD	air gap membrane distillation
AOPAN	amidoxime ployarcylonitrile
APAN	aminated polyacrylonitrile
APS	ammonium persulphate
ATRP	atom transfer radical polymerization
BOD	biological oxygen demand
BSA	bovine serum albumin
CA	cellulose acetate
CAB	cellulose acetate butyrate
CCD	central composite design
CD	cyclodextrin
Ch	chitosin
CNF	cellulose nanofiber
CNTs	carbon nanotubes
COD	chemical oxygen demand
CSB	coaxial solution blowing
CSG	coal steam gas
CTAB	cetyltrimethyl ammonium bromide
CTC	chlortetracycline
DA	decanoic acid
DCMD	direct contact membrane distillation
DETA	diethylenetriamine
EDTA	ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid
ENM	electro-spun nanofiber membrane
ENF	electrospun nanofiber
F-PBZ	polymerized fluorinated polybenzoxazine
GA	glutaraldehyde
GAC	granular active carbon
Go	graphene oxide
HAC	acetic acid
HEMA	2-hydroxyethyl methacrylate
HFP	hexafluoropropylene
HNTs	halloysite nanotubes
IP	interfacial polymerization
LDH	layered double hydroxides
М	metal
MA	maleic acid
Man	maleic anhydride

MB	methylene blue solution
MCNFF	macroporous carbon nanofiber film
MINFMs	molecularly imprinted nanofiber membranes
NMA	N-methylol acrylamide
NFAs	nanofibrous aerogels
NFMs	nanofibrous membranes
NOMs	natural organic matter
NPs	nanoparticles
NPT	nanoparticle
PA	polyamide
PAA	poly(acrylic acid)
PAN	polyacrylonitrile,
PCL	polycaprolactone
PDMS	polydimethylsiloxane
PEGDA	polyethylene glycol diacrylate
PES	polyethersulfone
PET	polyethlyene terephthalate
PET	polyester
PMMA	poly(methyl methacrylate)
PI	polyimide
POSS	polyhedral oligomeric silsesquioxanes
РР	polypropylene
PPSU	polyphenylsulfone
PS	polystyrene
PSf	polysulfone,
РТА	purified terephthalic acid
PTFE	polytetrafluoroethylene
PUE	Polyurethane
PVA	polyvinyl alcohol
PVAc	polyvinyl acetate
PVC	polyvinyl chloride
PVDF	poly(vinylidene fluoride)
RC	regenerated cellulose
Rhd	rhodanine
SGMD	membrane gas stripping
SNPs	silica nanoparticles
SPPESK	sulfonated poly(phthalazinone ether sulfone ketone)
TEA	trimethylamine
ТЕМРО	(2,2,6,6-tetramethylpiperidin-1-yl) oxyl
TEOS	tetraethyl orthosilicate
TFNC	thin film nanofibrous composite
TMPTMS	3-mercaptopropyl trimethoxysilane
TS	total solid
TSS	total suspended Solids
UF	ultrafiltration
UOCA	underwater oil contact angle
VOC	volatile organic compounds
WCA	water contact angle
ZCCH	Zn-aminotriazolato-oxalate
ZNM	zein nanofbrous membrane

References

- V. Thavasi, G. Singh, S. Ramakrishna, Electrospun nanofibers in energy and environmental applications, Energy Environ Science 1 (2008) 205-221.
- [2] M. Modesti, C. Boaretti, M. Roso, Electrospun nanofibers for water and wastewater treatment applications, Encyclopedia of Membranes, edt. E. Drioli and L. Giorno, Springer Berlin, Heidelberg, 2015, 1-3.
- D. Lovering, Video: Filtering drinking water with nanofibers, MIT Technology Review, Sustainable Energy April 22 (2016).
- [4] L. Kriklavova, T. Lederer, A review study of nanofiber technology for wastewater treatment, NANOCON 9 (2011) 21 -223.
- [5] D. Li, Y. Xia, Electrospinning of nanofibers: reinventing the wheel? Advance Materials 16(14) (2004) 1151–1170.
- [6] Z.M. Huang, Y.Z. Zhang, M. Kotaki, S. Ramakrishna, A review on polymer nanofibers by electrospinning and their applications in nanocomposites, Composites Science and Technology 63(15) (2003) 2223-2253.
- [7] S. Ramakrishna, K. Fujihara, W.E. Teo, T. Yong, Z. Ma, R. Ramaseshana, Electrospun nanofibers: solving global issues, Materialstoday 9(3) (2006) 40-50.
- [8] M. Botes, T.E. Cloete, The potential of nanofibers and nanobiocides in water purification, Critical Reviews in Microbiology 36 (2010) 68-81.
- [9] C. Feng, K.C. Khulbe, T. Matsuura, S. Tabe, A.F. Ismail, Preparation and characterization of electro-spun nanofiber membranes and their possible applications in water treatment, Separation and Purification Technology 102 (2013) 118–135.
- [10] S.A.A.N. Nasreen, S. Sundarrajan, S.A.S. Nizar, R. Balamurugan, S. Ramakrishna, Advancement in electrospun nanofibrous membranes modification and their application in water treatment, Membranes 3 (2013) 266-284.
- [11] X. Wang, J. Yu, G. Sun, B. Ding, Electrospun nanofibrous materials: a versatile medium for effective oil/water separation, Materials Today 19(7) (2016) 403-414.
- [12] M.T. Amin, A.A. Alazba, U. Manzoor, A review of removal of pollutants from water/wastewater using different types of nanomaterials, Advances in Materials Science and Engineering 2014 (2014) Article ID 825910, 24 pages.
- [13] T. Matsuura, C.Y. Feng, K.C. Khulbe, D. Rana, G. Singh, R. Gopal, S. Kaur, R.S. Barhate, S. Ramakrishna, S. Tabe, Development of novel membranes based on electro–spun nanofibers and their application in liquid filtration, membrane distillation and membrane adsorption, Membrane 35(3) (2010) 119-127.
- [14] C. Burger, B.S. Hsiao, B. Chu, Nanofibrous materials and their applications, Annual Review of Materials Research 36 (2006) 333–368.
- [15] S. Tabe, Electrospun Nanofiber membranes and their applications in water and wastewater treatment. In: A. Hu, A. Apblett (eds) Nanotechnology for Water Treatment and Purification. Lecture Notes in Nanoscale Science and Technology 22 (2014) 111-143, Springer, Cham; DOI:10.1007/978-3-319-06578-6-4.
- [16] S. Jaafar, R. Sarbatly, Geothermal water desalination by using nanofiber membrane, International Conference on Chemical, Environmental and Biological Sciences (ICCEBS'2012) Penang, Malaysia, (2012) 46-50.
- [17] P.S. Suja, C.R. Reshmi, P. Sagitha, A. Sujith, Electrospun nanofibrous membranes for water purification, Polymer Reviews 57(3) (2017) 467-504.
- [18] M.M.A. Shirazi, A. Kargari, S. Ramakrishna, J. Doyle, M. Rajendrian, P.R. Babu, Electrospun membranes for desalination and water/wastewater treatment: A Comprehensive Review, J. M. S. R. 3 (2017) 209-227.
- [19] X. Wang, W.B. Hsiao, Electrospun nanofiber membranes, Current Opinion in Chemical Engineering 12 (2016) 62-81.
- [20] M. Obaid, G.M. Tolba, M. Motlak, O.A. Fadali, K.A. Khalil, A.A. Almajid, N.A. Barakat, Effective polysulfone-amorphous SiO₂ NPs electrospun nanofiber membrane for high flux oil/water separation, Chemical Engineering Journal 279 (2015) 631–638.
- [21] Q. Yang, J. Lei, D.D. Sun, D. Chen, Forward osmosis membranes for water reclamation, Separation & Purification Reviews 45(2) (2016) 93-107.
- [22] L. Huang, S.S Manickam, J.R. McCutcheon, Increasing strength of electrospun nanofiber membranes for water filtration using solvent vapor, Journal of Membrane Science 436 (2013) 213-220.
- [23] F. Yalcinkaya, Mechanically enhanced electrospun nanofibers for wastewater treatment, E3S Web of Conferences 22, 00193 2017. DOI: 10.1051/e3sconf/20172200193.
- [24] N. Daels, L. Harinck, A. Goethals, K.D. Clerck, S.W. van Hulle, Structure changes and water filtration properties of electrospun polyamide nanofibre membranes, Water Science and Technology 73(8) (2016) 1920-1926.
- [25] S. Homaeigohar, M. Elbahri, Nanocomposite electrospun nanofiber membranes for environmental remediation, Materials 7 (2014) 1017-1045.
- [26] L.T. Choong, Y.M. Lin, G.C. Rutledge, Separation of oil-in-water emulsions

using electrospun fiber membranes and modeling of the fouling mechanism, Journal of Membrane Science. 486 (2015) 229–238.

- [27] M. Padaki, R.S. Murali, M.S. Abdulla, N. Misdan, A. Moslehyani, M.A. Kassim, N. Hilal, A.F. Ismail, Membrane technology enhancement in oil–water separation: A review, Desalination 357 (2015) 197-207.
- [28] W. Ma, Q. Zhang, D. Hua, R. Xiong, J. Zhao, W. Rao, S. Huang, X. Zhan, F. Chen, C. Huan, Electrospun fibers for oil-water separation, RSC Advances 6 (2016) 12868-12884.
- [29] B.S. Alanzi, O.C. Siang, Recent developments of carbon based nanomaterials and membranes for oily wastewater treatment, RSC Advnces 7 (2017) 20981-20994.
- [30] A. Raza, J. Ge, Y. Si., J. Yu, G. Sun, B. Ding, (2014) Applications of electrospun nanofibers in oil spill cleanup. In: B. Ding, J. Yu (eds) Electrospun Nanofibers for Energy and Environmental Applications. Nanostructure Science and Technology. Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg.
- [31] R. Sarbatly, Z. Kamin, D. Krishnaiah, A review of polymer nanofibres by electrospinning and their application in oil-water separation for cleaning up marine oil spills, Marine Pollution Bulletin 106 (2016) 8–16.
- [32] R.K. Gupta, G.J. Dunderdale, M.W. England, A. Hozum, Oil/water separation techniques: a review of recent progresses and future directions, Journal of Materials Chemistry A 5 (2017) 16025-16058.
- [33] K. Yoon, K. Kim, X. Wang, D. Fang, B.S. Hsiao, B. Chu, High flux ultrafiltration membranes based on electrospun nanofibrous PAN scaffolds and chitosan coating, Polymer 47(7) (2006) 2434-2441.
- [34] K. Yoon, B.S. Hsiao, B. Chu, High flux ultrafiltration nanofibrous membranes based on polyacrylonitrile electrospun scaffolds and crosslinked polyvinyl alcohol coating, Journal of Membrane Science 338 (2009) 145-152.
- [35] H. Ma, C. Burger, B.S. Hsiao, B. Chu, Ultrafine polysaccharide nanofibrous membranes for water purification, Biomacromolecules 12(4) (2011) 970–976.
- [36] W. Ma, S.K. Samal, Z. Liu, R. Xiong, S.C. de Smedt, B. Bhushan, Q. Zhang, C. Huang, Dual pH- and ammonia-vapor-responsive electrospun nanofibrous membranes for oil-water separations, Journal of Membrane Science 537 (2017) 128-139.
- [37] K.M. Dobosz, C.A. Kuo-Leblanc, T.J. Martin, J.D. Schiffman, Ultrafiltration membranes enhanced with electrospun nanofibers exhibit improved flux and fouling resistance, Industrial & Engineering Chemistry Research 56 (19) (2017) 5724– 5733.
- [38] X. Cao, M. Huang, B. Ding, J. Yu, G. Sun, Robust polyacrylonitrile nanofibrous membrane reinforced with jute cellulose nanowhiskers for water purification, Desalination 316 (2013) 120-126.
- [39] M. Obaid, N.A.M. Barakat, O.A. Fadali, M. Motlak, A.A. Almajid, K.A. Khalil, Effective and reusable oil/water separation membranes based on modified polysulfone electrospun nanofiber mats, Chemical Engineering Journal 259 (2015) 449-456.
- [40] V.A. Ganesh, A.S. Rangnath, A. Baji, H.C. Wong, H.K. Raut, R. Sahay, S. Ramakrishna, Electrospun differential wetting membranes for efficient oil–water separation, Macromolecular Materials and Engineering 301(7) (2016) 812–817.
- [41] Y. Wang, C. Lai, X. Wang, H. Hu, Y. Guo, K. Ma, B. Fei, J.H. Xin, Beads-onstring structured nanofibers for smart and reversible oil/water separation with outstanding antifouling property, ACS Applied Materials & Interfaces 8 (38) (2016) 25612–25620.
- [42] W. Ma, Z. Guo, J. Zhao, Q. Yu, F. Wang, J. Han, H. Pan, J. Yao, Q. Zhang, S.K. Samal, S.C.de Smedt, C. Huang, Polyimide/cellulose acetate Core/Shell electrospun fibrous membranes for oil-water separation, Sep. Purif. Technol. 177 (2016) 71–85.
- [43] M.M.A. Shirazi, A. Kargari, S. Bazgir, M. Tabatabaei, M.J. A. Shirazi, M.S. Abdullah, T. Matsuura, A.F. Ismail, Characterization of electrospun polystyrene membrane for treatment of biodiesel's water-washing effluent using atomic force microscopy, Desalination 3 (2013) 1-8.
- [44] Y. Shang, Y. Si, A. Raza, L. Yang, X. Mao, B. Ding, J. Yu, In situ polymerization approach for the synthesis of superhydrophobic and superoleophilic nanofibrous membranes for oil–water separation, Nanoscale 4 (2012) 7847-7854.
- [45] Y. Si, Q. Fu, X. Wang, J. Yu, G. Sun, B. Ding, Superelastic and superhydrophobic nanofiber-assembled cellular aerogels for effective separation of oil/water emulsions, ACS Nano 9(4) (2015) 3791–3799.
- [46] Y. Liao, R. Wang, M. Tian, A high-performance and robust membrane with switchable super-wettability for oil/water separation under ultralow pressure, Journal of Membrane Science 543 (2017) 123-132.
- [47] M.S. Islam, M.S. Rahaman, J.R. McCutcheon, High flux polyvinyl acetate-coated electrospun Nylon 6/SiO₂ composite microfiltration membrane for the separation of oil-in-water emulsion with improved antifouling performance, Journal of Membrane Science 537 (2017) 297-309.
- [48] M. Makaremi, R.T. de Silva, P. Pasbakhsh, Electrospun nanofibrous membranes of polyacrylonitrile/halloysite with superior water filtration ability, Journal of

Physical Chemistry C 119(4) (2015) 7949-7958.

- [49] J.J. Li, Y.N. Zhou, Z.H. Luo, Smart fiber membrane for pH-induced oil/water separation, ACS Applied Materials & Interfaces 7 (35) (2015) 19643–19650.
- [50] H. Liu, C.Y. Cao, F.F. Wei, P.P. Huang, Y.B. Sun, L. Jiang, W.G. Song, Flexible macroporous carbon nanofiber film with high oil adsorption capacity, Journal of Materials Chemistry A Materials for Energy and Sustainability 2(10) (2014) 3557-3562.
- [51] M.H. Tai, P. Gao, B.Y.L. Tan, D.D. Sun, J.O. Leckie, Highly efficient and flexible electrospun carbon–silica nanofibrous membrane for ultrafast gravitydriven oil–water separation, ACS Applied Materials & Interfaces 6(12) (2014) 9393–9401.
- [52] M.H. Tai, P. Gao, B.Y.L. Tan, D.D. Sun, J.O. Leckie, A hierarchically nano structured TiO₂-carbon nanofibrous membrane for concurrent gravity driven oilwater separation, Journal of Environment Science & Development 6 (2015) 590-595.
- [53] B. Waisi, Produced water treatment for beneficial use: emulsified oil removal, ISBNs (2017) 978-90-365-4157-2.
- [54] C. Ao, W. Yuan, J. Zhao, X. He, X. Zhang, Q. Li, T. Xia, W. Zhang, C. Lu, Superhydrophilic graphene oxide@electrospun cellulose nanofiber hybrid membrane for high-efficiency oil/water separation, Carbohydrate Polymers 175 (2017) 216-222.
- [55] F. Yalcinkaya, S.A. Siekierka, M. Bryjak, J. Maryska, Preparation of various nanofibrous composite membranes using wire electrospinning for oil-water separation, 17th World Textile Conference AUTEX 2017- Textiles - Shaping the Future, IOP Conf. Series: Materials Science and Engineering 254 (2017) 102011.
- [56] Y. Jiang, J. Hou, J. Xu, B. Shan, Switchable oil/water separation with efficient and robust Janus nanofiber membranes, Carbon 115 (2017) 477-485.
- [57] M. Obaid, O.A. Fadali, B.H. Lim, H. Fouad, N.A.M. Barakat, Super-hydrophilic and highly stable in oils polyamide-polysulfone composite membrane by electrospinning, Materials Letters 138 (2015a) 196-199.
- [58] J.W. Wu, J. Zhang, Y.L. Kang, G. Wu, S.C. Chen, Y.Z. Wang, Reusable and recyclable superhydrophilic electrospun nanofibrous membranes with in situ Cocross-linked polymer–chitin nanowhisker network for robust oil-in-water emulsion separation, ACS Sustainable Chemistry & Engineering 6 (2) (2018) 1753–1762.
- [59] L. Jian, G. Peng, M. Li, Y. Zhang, P. Cheng, R. Jia, Electrospun polystyrene anti-corrosive superhydrophobic box for continuous oil spill cleanup, New Journal of Chemistry 41(12) (2017). DOI: 10.1039/C7NJ00823F.
- [60] J. Zhang, Q. Xue, X. Pan, Y. Jin, W. Lu, D. Ding, Q. Guo, Graphene oxide/polyacrylonitrile fiber hierarchical-structured membrane for ultra-fast microfiltration of oil-water emulsion, Chemical Engineering Journal 307 (2017) 643-649.
- [61] J. Yuan, X, Liu, O. Akbulut, J. Hu, S. Suib, J. Kong, Supervetting nanowire membranes for selective absorption, Nature Nanotechnology 3 (2008) 2918-2923.
- [62] R. Wahi, L.A. Chuah, T.S.Y. Choong, Z. Ngaini, M.M. Nourouzi, Oil removal from aqueous state by natural fibrous sorbent: An overview (Review), Separation and Purification Technology 113 (2013) 51-63.
- [63] Z. Xue, Y. Cao, N. Liu, L. Feng, L. Jiang, Special wettable materials for oil/water separation, Journal of Materials Chemistry A2 (2014) 2445-2460.
- [64] M.W. Lee, S. An, S.S. Latthe, C. Lee, S. Hong, S.S. Yoon, Electrospun polystyrene nanofiber membrane with superhydrophobicity and superoleophilicity for selective separation of water and low viscous oil, ACS Applied Materials & Interfaces 5 (2013) 10597–10604.
- [65] J. Lin, Y. Shang, B. Ding, J. Yang, J. Yu, S.S. Al-Deyab, Nanoporous polystyrene fibers for oil spill cleanup, Marine Pollution Bulletin 64(2) (2012) 347-352.
- [66] C.R. Reshmi, S.P. Sundaran, A. Juraij, S. Athiyanathil, Fabrication of superhydrophobic polycaprolactone/beeswax electrospun membranes for highefficiency oil/water separation, RSC Advances 7 (2017) 2092-2102.
- [67] Y. Qiao, L. Zhao, P. Li, H. Sun, S. Li, Electrospun polystyrene/polyacrylonitrile fiber with high oil sorption capacity, Journal of Reinforced Plastics and Composites 33(20) (2014) 1849 – 1858.
- [68] J. Wu, N. Wang, L. Wang, H. Dong, Y. Zhao, L. Jiang, Electrospun porous structure fibrous film with high oil adsorption capacity, ACS Applied Materials & Interfaces 4 (6) (2012) 3207–3212.
- [69] O. Arslan, Z. Aytac, T. Uyar, Superhydrophobic, hybrid, electrospun cellulose acetate nanofibrous mats for oil/water separation by tailored surface modification, ACS. Applied Materials & Interfaces 8 (30) (2016) 19747–19754.
- [70] I. Gehrke, A. Geiser, A. Somborn-Schulz, Innovations in nanotechnology for water treatment, Nanotechnology Science and Applications 8 (2015) 1–17.
- [71] X. Qu, P.J.J. Alvarez, Q. Li, Applications of nanotechnology in water and wastewater treatment, Water Research 47 (2013) 3931-3946.
- [72] M.N. Chong, B. Jin, C.W. Chow, C. Saint, Recent developments in

photocatalytic water treatment technology: a review, Water Resources 44(10) (2010) 2997-3027.

- [73] W. Kang, F. Li, Y. Zhao, C. Qiao, J. Jua, B. Cheng, Fabrication of porous Fe₂O₃/PTFE nanofiber membranes and their application as a catalyst for dye degradation, RSC Advances 6 (29) (2016) 32646-32652.
- [74] L. Li, W. Kang, F. Li, Z. Li, J. Shi, Y. Zhao, B. Cheng, Coaxial solution blowing of modified hollow polyacrylonitrile (PAN) nanofiber Fe complex (Fe-AO-CSB-HPAN) as a heterogeneous Fenton photocatalyst for organic dye degradation, RSC Advances 5 (2015) 68439-68445.
- [75] E.S. Cozza, V. Bruzzo, F. Carniato, E. Marsano, O. Monticelli, On a novel catalytic system based on electrospun nanofibers and M-POSS, ACS Applied Materials & Interfaces 4 (2) (2012) 604–607.
- [76] J. Cheng, J. Feng, W. Pan, Enhanced photocatalytic activity in electrospun bismuth vanadate nanofibers with phase junction, ACS Applied Materials & Interfaces 7 (18) (2015) 9638–9644.
- [77] A.A. Taha, Direct synthesis of mesostructured carbon nanofibers decorated with silver-nanoparticles as a multifunctional membrane for water treatment, Advances in Natural Sciences: Nanoscience and Nanotechnology 6(4) (2015) 5003-5014.
- [78] A.A. Taha, F. Li, Porous WO₃-carbon nanofibers: high-performance and recyclable visible light photocatalysis, Catalysis Science & Technology 4(10) (2014) 3601-3605.
- [79] N. Daels, M. Radoicic, M. Radetic, K. De Clerck, S.W.H. van Hulle, Electrospun nanofibre membranes functionalised with TiO₂ nanoparticles: evaluation of humic acid and bacterial removal from polluted water, Separation and Purification Technology 149 (2015) 488-494.
- [80] N. Daels, M.M. Radoic, M, Radetic., S.W.H Van Hulle., K. De Clerck, Functionalisation of electrospun polymer nanofibre membranes with TiO₂ nanoparticles in view of dissolved organic matter photodegradation, Separation and Purification Technology 133 (2014) 282-290.
- [81] J. Geltmeyer, H. Teixido, M. Meire, T.V. Acker, K. Deventer, F. Vanhaecke. S.V. Hulle, K.D. Buysser, K. de Clerck, TiO₂ functionalized nanofibrous membranes for removal of organic (micro) pollutants from water, Separation and Purification Technology 179 (2017) 533-541.
- [82] C. Prahsarn, W. Klinsukhon, N. Roungpaisan, Electrospinning of PAN/DMF/H₂O containing TiO₂ and photocatalytic activity of their webs, Materials Letters 65 (2011) 2498–2501.
- [83] S.J. Doh, C. Kim, S.G. Lee, S.J. Lee, H. Kim, Development of photocatalytic TiO₂ nanofibers by electrospinning and its application to degradation of dye pollutants, Journal of Hazardous Materials 154(1–3) (2008) 118-127.
- [84] J. Watthanaarun, P. Supaphol, V. Pavarajarn, Photocatalytic activity of neat and silicon-doped titanium(IV) oxide nanofibers prepared by combined sol-gel and electrospinning techniques, Journal of Nanoscience and Nanotechnology 7(7) (2007) 2443-2450.
- [85] D. Lin, H. Wu, R. Zhang, W. Pan, Enhanced photocatalysis of electrospun Ag-ZnO heterostructured nanofibers, Chemistry of Materials 21(15) (2009) 3479– 3484,
- [86] F.A. Ofori, R. Sheikh, X. Appiah-Ntiamoah, X. Yang, A simple method of electrospun tungsten trioxide nanofibers with enhanced visible-light photocatalytic activity, Nano-Micro Letters 7(3) (2015) 291-297.
- [87] S. An, M.W. Lee, B.N. Joshi, A. Jo, J. Jung, S.S. Yoon., Water purification and toxicity control of chlorophenols by 3D nanofiber membranes decorated with photocatalytic titania nanoparticles, Ceramics International 40(2) (2014) 3305-3313.
- [88] Y. Zhang, M.W. Lee, S. An, S.S. Ray, S. Khansari, B. Joshi, S. Hong, J.H. Hong, J.J. Kim, B. Pourdeyhimi, S.S, Yoon, A. Yarin, Antibacterial activity of photocatalytic electrospun titania nanofiber mats and solution-blown soy protein nanofiber mats decorated with silver nanoparticles, Catalysis Communications 34 (2013) 35-40.
- [89] J. Xu, W. Wang, M. Shang, E. Gao, Z. Zhang, J. Ren, Electrospun nanofibers of Bi-doped TiO₂ with high photocatalytic activity under visible light irradiation, Journal of Hazardous Materials 196 (2011) 426-430.
- [90] Z, Chen, J. Zhao, X. Yang, Q. Ye, K. Huang, C. Hou, Z. Zhao, J. You, Y. Li, Fabrication of TiO₂/WO₃ composite nanofibers by electrospinning and photocatalystic performance of the resultant fabrics, Industrial & Engineering Chemistry Research 55(1) (2016) 80–85.
- [91] Z. Xiwang, A. Du, L.P. Fung, W. Yinjie, F. Weijiog, M.X. Shiping, J.O. Leckie, Membrane technology: removing contaminants in wastewater, Technology review, Filtration + Separation September (2007).
- [92] P. Singh, K. Mondal, A. Sharma, Reusable electrospun mesoporous ZnO nanofiber mats for photocatalytic degradation of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon dyes in wastewater, Journal of Colloid and Interface Science 394 (2012) 208-215.
- [93] S.K. Sharma, S. Sokhi, C. Balomajumder, S. Satapathi, Reusable graphene oxide nanofibers for enhanced photocatalytic activity: a detailed mechanistic study,

Journal of Materials Science 52 (2017) 5390-5403.

- [94] R. Liu, H. Ye, X. Xiong, H. Liu, H., Fabrication of TiO₂/ZnO composite nanofibers by electrospinning and their photocatalytic property, Materials Chemistry and Physics 121(3) (2010) 432-439.
- [95] X. Liu, Y. Hu, R.Y. Chen, Z. Chen, H.C. Han, Coaxial nanofibers of ZnO-TiO₂ heterojunction with high photocatalytic activity by electrospinning technique, Synthesis and Reactivity in Inorganic, Metal-Organic, and Nano-Metal Chemistry 44(3) (2014) 449-453. DOI:10.1080/15533174.2013.776590.
- [96] J. Lev, M. Holba, M. Došek, L. Kalhotka, P. Mikula, D. Kimmer, A novel electrospun polyurethane nanofibre membrane--production parameters and suitability for wastewater (WW) treatment, Water Science & Technology 69(7) 2014 1496-501. DOI: 10.2166/wst.2014.034.
- [97] A. Sato, R. Wang, H. Ma, B.S. Hsiao, B. Chu, Novel nanofibrous scaffolds for water filtration with bacteria and virus removal capability, Journal of Electron Microscopy 60(3) 2011 201–209.
- [98] A. Mataram, A.F. Ismail, E. Yuliwati, T. Matsuura, A. Zamheri, S. Rizal, Water treatment performance application of electrospun nanofibers, Jurnal Teknologi (Sciences & Engineering) 77(1) (2015) 263–267.
- [99] A. Mataram, A.F. Ismail, E. Yuliwati, E., T. Matsuura, S. Rizal, A. Zamheri, Stand alone water treatment performance of electron nanofibers, Jurnal Teknologi 78, (2016) 103-107.
- [100] K. Yoon, B.S. Hsiao, B. Chu, Formation of functional polyethersulfone electrospun membrane for water purification by mixed solvent and oxidation processes, Polymer 50 (2009) 2893-2899.
- [101] S.A. Hosseini, M. Soltanieh, S.M. Mousavi, Investigating morphology and performance of cellulose acetate butyrate electrospun nanofiber membranes for tomato industry wastewater treatment, Desalination and Water Treatment 64 (2017) 127–135.
- [102] X. Ke, Y. Huang, T.R. Dargaville, Y. Fan, Z. Cui, H. Zhu, Modified alumina nanofiber membranes for protein separation, Separation and Purification Technology 20 (2013) 239-244.
- [103] L.A. Goetz, B. Jalvo, R. Rosal, A.P. Mathew, Superhydrophilic anti-fouling electrospun cellulose acetate membranes coated with chitin nanocrystals for water filtration, Journal of Membrane Science 510 (2016) 238-248.
- [104] Z. Wang, C. Crandall, V.L. Prautzsch, R. Sahadevan, T.J. Menkhaus, H. Fong, Electrospun regenerated cellulose nanofiber membranes surface-grafted with waterinsoluble poly(HEMA) or water-soluble poly(AAS) chains via the ATRP method for ultrafiltration of water, ACS Applied Materials & Interfaces 9(4) (2017) 4272– 4278.
- [105] F. Hejazi, S.M. Mousavi, Electrospun nanofibrous composite membranes of chitosan/polyvinyl alcohol-polyacrylonitrile: preparation, characterization, and performance, Desalination and Water Treatment 57(5) (2016) 1959-1966.
- [106] J.W. Lee, J. Jung, Y.H. Cho, S.K. Yadav, K.Y. Bae, H.B. Park, S.M. Hong, C.M. Koo, Fouling-tolerant nanofibrous polymer membranes for water treatment, ACS Applied Materials & Interfaces 6 (16) (2014) 14600–14607.
- [107] M. Ghani, A.A. Gharehaghaji, M. Arami, N. Takhtkuse, B. Rezaei, Fabrication of electrospun polyamide-6/chitosan nanofibrous membrane toward anionic dyes removal, Journal of Nanotechnology 2014 (2014) Article ID 278418, 12 page.
- [108] H.C. Kim, B.G. Choi, J. Noh. K.G. Song, S. Lee, S.K. Maeng, Electrospun nanofibrous PVDF–PMMA MF membrane in laboratory and pilot-scale study treating wastewater from Seoul Zoo, Desalination 346 (2014) 107-114.
- [109] N.E. Zander, M. Gillan, D. Sweetserals, Recycled PET nanofibers for water filtration applications, Materials 9 (2016) 247-257.
- [110] R. Asmatulu, H. Muppalla, Z. Veisi, W.S. Khan, A. Asaduzzaman, N. Nuraje, Study of hydrophilic electrospun nanofiber membranes for filtration of micro and nanosize suspended particles, Membranes (Basel) 3(4) (2013) 375–388.
- [111] J. Lee, C. Boo, W.H. Ryu, A.D. Taylor, M. Elimelech, Development of omniphobic desalination membranes using a charged electrospun nanofiber scaffold, ACS Applied Materials & Interfaces 8(17) (2016) 11154–11161.
- [112] M. El Messiry, A. Aloufy, M. Elmor, Assessment of nanofibers filtration for textile waste-water treatment, Journal of Applied Mechanical Engineering 5 (2016) 211 (8 pages). doi:10.4172/2168-9873.1000211.
- [113] J. Lee, J. Yoon, J-H. Kim, T. Lee, H. Byun, Electrospun PAN–GO composite nanofibers as water purification membranes, Journal of Applied Polymer Science 135 (2018) 45858. doi: 10.1002/app.45858.
- [114] M. Faccini, G. Borja, M. Boerrigter, D.M. Martín, S. M. Crespiera, S. Vázquez-Campos, L. Aubouy, D. Amantia, Electrospun carbon nanofiber membranes for filtration of nanoparticles from Water, Journal of Nanomaterials 2015 (2015) Article ID 247471 9 pages.
- [115] Z. Wang, R. Sahadev, C.N. Yeh, T.J Menkhaus, J. Huang, H. Fong, Hot-pressed polymer nanofiber supported graphene membrane for high-performance nanofiltration, Nanotechnology 28(31) (2017) 31LT02 (8pp).

- [116] R.M. Nthumbi, J.C. Ngila, Electrospun and functionalized PVDF/PAN nanocatalyst-loaded composite for dechlorination and photodegradation of pesticides in contaminated water, Environmental Science and Pollution Research 23 (2016) 20214-20231.
- [117] S. Kiani, S.M. Mousavi, N. Shahtahmassebi, E. Saljoughi, Preparation and characterization of polyphenylsulfone nanofibrous membranes for the potential use in liquid filtration, Desalination and Water Treatmen 57(35) (2016) 16250-16259.
- [118] D.A. Gopakumar, D. Pasquini, M.A. Henrique, L.C. de Morais, Y. Grohens, S. Thomas, Meldrum's acid modified cellulose nanofiber-based polyvinylidene fluoride microfiltration membrane for dye water treatment and nanoparticle removal, ACS Sustainable Chemistry & Engineering 5 (2) (2017) 2026–2033.
- [119] Q. Fu, X. Wang, Y. Si, L. Liu, J. Yu, B. Ding, Scalable fabrication of electrospun nanofibrous membranes functionalized with citric acid for high-performance protein adsorption, ACS Applied Materials & Interfaces 8 (18) (2016) 11819–11829.
- [120] A. Celebioglu, Z.I. Yildiz, T. Uyar, Electrospun crosslinked poly-cyclodextrin nanofibers: Highly efficient molecular filtration thru host-guest inclusion complexation, Scientific Reports 7 (2017) 7369 11 pages. DOI:10.1038/s41598-017-07547-4.
- [121] E. Scholten, L. Bromberg, G.C. Rutledge, T.A. Hatton, Electrospun polyurethane fibers for absorption of volatile organic compounds from air, ACS Applied Materials & Interfaces 3(10) (2011) 3902–3909.
- [122] T.M. Yeh, L. Yang, X. Wang, D. Mahajan, B.S. Hsiao, B. Chu, Polymeric nanofibrous composite membranes for energy efficient ethanol dehydration, Journal of Renewable and Sustainable Energy 4 (2012) 04140.
- [123] P.P. Lu, Z.L. Xu, X.H. Ma, Y. Cao, Preparation and characterization of perfluorosulfonic acid nanofiber membranes for pervaporation-assisted esterification, Industrial & Engineering Chemistry Research 52 (24) (2013) 8149– 8156.
- [124] L.D. Tijing, J.S. Choi, S. Lee, S.H. Kim, K.H. Shon, Recent progress of membrane distillation using electrospun nanofibrous membrane, Journal of Membrane Science 453, (2014) 435-462.
- [125] C. Feng, K.C. Khulbe, S. Tabe, Volatile organic compound removal by membrane gas stripping using electro-spun nanofiber membrane, Desalination 287 (2012) 98-102.
- [126] R. Sathiyasundar, K. Valliappan, Chemometric approach for multiresponse optimization of antiretroviral drugs in pharmaceuitical formulations and human plasma sample by PP-HPLC-PDA method. International Journal of Therapeutic Applications 28 (2015) 13-23. ISSN 2320-138X.
- [127] M. Yoshikawa, K. Nakai, H. Matsumoto, A. Tanioka, M.D. Guiver, G.P. Robertson, Molecularly imprinted nanofiber membranes from carboxylated polysulfone by electrospray deposition, Macromolecular Rapid Communications 28 (2007) 2100–2105.
- [128] K. Yoshimatsu, L. Ye, J. Lindberg, I.S. Chronakis, Selective molecular adsorption using electrospun nanofiber affinity membranes, Biosensors and Bioelectronics 23 (2008) 1208-2015.
- [129] K. Shiomi, M. Yoshikawa, Multi-stage chiral separation with electrospun chitin nanofiber membranes, Separation and Purification Technology 118 (2013) 300-304.
- [130] K. Shiomi, M. Yoshikawa, Molecularly imprinted chitin nanofiber membranes: multi-stage cascade membrane separation within the membrane, Journal of Membrane and Separation Technology 5 2016 103-114.
- [131] Y. Sueyoshi, T. Hashimoto, M. Yoshikawa, S. Ifuku, Chitin nanofiber membranes for chiral separation, Sustainable Agriculture Research 1(1) 2012. doi:10.5539/sar.v1n1p42.
- [132] Y. Sueyoshi, A. Utsunomiya, M. Yoshikawa, G.P. Robertson, M.D. Guiver, Chiral separation with molecularly imprinted polysulfone-aldehyde derivatized nanofiber membranes, Journal of Membrane Science 401–402 (2012a) 89-96.
- [133] H. Mizushima, M. Yoshikawa, G.P. Robertson, M.D. Guiver, Optical resolution membranes from polysulfones bearing alanine derivatives as chiral selectors, Macromolecular Materials & Engineering 296(6) (2011) 562–567.
- [134] H. Mizushima, M. Yoshikawa, N. Li. G.P. Robertson, M.D. Guiver, Electrospun nanofiber membranes from polysulfones with chiral selector aimed for optical resolution, European Polymer Journal 48(10) (2012) 1717-1725.
- [135] T. Kawasaki, M. Yoshikawa, Nanofiber membranes from cellulose triacetate for chiral separation, Desalination and Water Treatment 51(25-27) (2013) 5080-5088.
- [136] S. Ifuku, H. Saimoto, Chitin nanofibers: preparations, modifications, and applications, Nanoscale 4 (2012) 3308-3318.
- [137] F. Kayaci, T. Uyar, Electrospun polyester/cyclodextrin nanofibers for entrapment of volatile organic compounds, Polymer Engineering & Science 54 (2014) 2970-2978.
- [138] M. Taheran, M. Naghdi, S.K. Brar, E. Knystautas, M. Verma, R.Y. Surampalli,

J.R. Valero, Development of adsorptive membranes by confinement of activated biochar into electrospun nanofibers, Beilstein Journal of Nanotechnol 7 (2016) 1556–1563. doi:10.3762/bjnano.7.149.

- [139] Y. Liang, D. Wu, R. Fu, Carbon microfibers with hierarchical porous structure from electrospun fiber-like natural biopolymer, Scientific Reports 3 (2013) Article No. 1119 pages 5.
- [140] H.W. Liang, Y. Cao, W.J. Zhang, H.T. Lin, F. Zhou, L.F. Chen, S.H. Yu, Robust and highly efficient free-standing carbonaceous nanofiber membranes for water purification, Advanced Functional Materials 21(20) (2011) 3851–3858.
- [141] X. Xu, Q. Yang, Y. Wang, H. Yu, X. Chen, X. Jing, Biodegradable electrospun poly(L-lactide) fibers containing antibacterial silver nanoparticles, European Polymer Journal 42(9) 92006 2081–2087.
- [142] J.S. Kim, E. Kuk, K.N. Yu, J.H. Kim, S.J. Park,H.J. Lee, S.H. Kim, Y.K. Park, Y.H. Park, C.Y. Hwang, Y.K. Kim, Y.S. Lee, D.H. Jeong, M.H. Cho., Antimicrobial effects of silver nanoparticles, Nanomed. Nanotechnol. Biology and Medicine 3(1) (2007) 95–101.
- [143] K. Wang, Q. Ma, S.D. Wang, H. Liu, S.Z. Zhang, W. Bao, K.Q. Zhang, L.Z. Ling, Electrospinning of silver nanoparticles loaded highly porous cellulose acetate nanofibrous membrane for treatment of dye wastewater, Applied Physics A 122(1) (2016) 1-10
- [144] T. Shalaby, O. Mahmoud, A. Al-Oufy, Antibacterial silver embedded nanofibers for water disinfection, Int. J. Mater. Sci. Appl. 4(5) (2015) 293-298.
- [145] F. Foroozmehr, S. Borhani, S.A. Hosseini, Removal of reactive dyes from wastewater using cyclodextrin functionalized polyacrylonitrile nanofibrous membranes, J. Textiles and Polymers 4 (1) (2016) 45-5.
- [146] M. Min, L. Shen, G. Hong, M. Zhu, Y. Zhang, X. Wang, Y. Chen, B. Hsiao, Micro-nano structure poly (Ether Sulfones)/poly (Ethyleneimine) nanofibrous affinity membranes for adsorption of anionic dyes and heavy metal ions in aqueous solution. Chemical Engineering Journal 197 (2012) 88–100. 10.1016/j.cej.2012.05.021.
- [147] D. Zhu, Y. Xia, J. Yang, B. Chen, S. Guo, C. Li, One-step removal of insoluble oily compounds and water-miscible contaminants from water by underwater superoleophobic graphene oxide-coated cotton, Cellulose 249(12) (2017) 5605– 5614.
- [148] H.G.L. Coster, T.D. Farahani, T.C. Chilcott, Production and characterization of piezo-electric membranes, Desalination 283 (2011) 52-57.
- [149] J. Bae, I. Baek, H. Choi, Efficacy of piezoelectric electrospun nanofiber membrane for water treatment, Chemical Engineering Journal 307 (2016) 670-678 doi: 10.1016/j.cej.2016.08.125.
- [150] M. Gouda, M. Abu-Abdeen, Highly conductive cellulosic nanofibers for efficient water desalination, Fibers Polym. 18 (2017) 2111-2117.
- [151] S. Kaur, R. Barhate, S. Sundarrajan, T. Matsuura, S. Ramakrishna, Hot pressing of electrospun membrane composite and its influence on separation performance on thin film composite nanofiltration membrane, Desalination 279 (2011) 201-209.
- [152] L.D. Tijiang, L.D., Y.C. Woo, M. Yao, J. Ren, H.K. Shen, Nanofiber membranes for water treatment, In Comprehensive Membrane Science and Engineering, edited: E. Drioli, L. Giorno, E. Fontananova, Elsevier 2017, 420-444.
- [153] C. Feng, K.C. Khulbe, T. Matsuura, R. Gopal, S. Kaur, S. Ramakrishna, M. Khayet, Production of drinking water from saline water by air-gap membrane distillation using polyvinylidene fluoride nanofiber membrane. Journal of Membrane Science 311 (2008) 1–6.
- [154] L.D. Tijing, Y.C. Woo, M.A.H. Johir, J.S. Choi, H.K. Shon, A novel dual-layer bicomponent electrospun nanofibrous membrane for desalination by direct contact membrane distillation, Chemical Engineering Journal 256 (2014) 155-159.
- [155] Y.C. Woo, L.D. Tijing, M.J.Park, M.Yao, J. S. Choi, S. Lee, S.H. Kim, K.J. An, H.K. Sho, Electrospun dual-layer nonwoven membrane for desalination by air gap membrane distillation, Desalination, 403, 2017, 187-198.
- [156] J.A. Prince, V. Anbharasi, T.S. Shanmugasundaram, G. Singh, Preparation and characterization of novel triple layer hydrophilic–hydrophobic composite membrane for desalination using air gap membrane distillation, Separation and Purification Technology 118 (2013) 598-603.
- [157] T. Jiříček, M. Komárek, J. Chaloupek, T. Lederer, Flux enhancement in membrane distillation using nanofiber membranes, Journal of Nanomaterials 2016 (2016) Article ID 9327431, 7 pages.
- [158] T. Jiříček, M. Komárek, T. Lederer, Polyurethane nanofiber membranes for waste water treatment by membrane distillation, Journal of Nanotechnology 2017 (2017) Article ID 7143035, 7 pages. https://doi.org/10.1155/2017/7143035.
- [159] X. Li, X. Yu, C. Cheng, L. Deng, M. Wang, X. Wang, Electrospun superhydrophobic organic/inorganic composite nanofibrous membranes for membrane distillation, ACS Applied Materials & Interfaces 7 (39) (2015) 21919– 21930.
- [160] E.J. Lee, A.K. An, T. He, Y.C. Woo, H.K. Shon, Electrospun nanofiber

membranes incorporating fluorosilane-coated TiO_2 nanocomposite for direct contact membrane distillation, Journal of Membrane Science 250 (2016) 145-154.

- [161] L. Francis, H. Maab, A. AlSaadi, S. Nunes, N. Ghaffour, G.L. Amy, Fabrication of electrospun nanofibrous membranes for membrane distillation application, Desalination & Water Treatment 51 (20130 1337–1343.
- [162] M. Essalhi, M. Khayet, Self-sustained webs of polyvinylidene fluoride electrospun nanofibers at different electrospinning times: 1. Desalination by direct contact membrane distillation, Journal of Membrane Science 433 (2013) 167–179.
- [163] T. Zhou, Y. Yao, R. Xiang, Y. Wu, Formation and characterization of polytetrafluoroethylene nanofiber membranes for vacuum membrane distillation, Journal of Membrane Science 453(1) (2014) 402-408.
- [164] C.I. Su, J.H. Shih, M.S. Huang, C.M. Wang, W.C. Shih, Y.S. Liu, A study of hydrophobic electrospun membrane applied in seawater desalination by membrane distillation, Fibers and Polymers 13 (2012) 698–702.
- [165] X. Li, M.C. García-Payo, M. Khayet, M. Wang, X. Wang, Superhydrophobic polysulfone/polydimethylsiloxane electrospun nanofibrous membranes for water desalination by direct contact membrane distillation, Journal of Membrane Science 542 (2017) 308-319.
- [166] Y.C. Woo, Y. Chen, L.D. Tijing. S. Phuntsho, T. He, J.C.S. Choi, S.H. Kim, H. Shon, CF₄ plasma-modified omniphobic electrospun nanofiber membrane for produced water brine treatment by membrane distillation, Journal of Membrane Science 529 (2017) 234-242.
- [167] J.A. Prince, G. Singh, D. Rana, T. Matsuura, V. Anbharasi, T.S. Shanmugasundaram, Preparation and characterization of highly hydrophobic poly(vinylidene fluoride) - Clay nanocomposite nanofiber membranes (PVDF-clay NNMs) for desalination using direct contact membrane distillation, Journal of Membrane Science 397–398 (2012) 80–86.
- [168] Y. Liao, R. Wang, R., M. Tian, C. Qiu, A.G. Fane, Fabrication of polyvinylidene fluoride (PVDF) nanofiber membranes by electro-spinning for direct contact membrane distillation, Journal of Membrane Science 425–426 (2013a) 30–39.
- [169] Z.Q. Dong, X. Ma, Z.L. Xu, W.T. You, F. Li, Superhydrophobic PVDF–PTFE electrospun nanofibrous membranes for desalination by vacuum membrane distillation, Desalination, 347 (2014) 175-183.
- [170] Z.Q. Dong, B.J. Wang, X. Ma, X., Y.M. Wei, Z. L. Xu, FAS grafted electrospun polyvinylalcohol nanofiber membranes with robust superhydrophobicity for membrane distillation, ACS applied materials & interfaces 7 (40) (2015) 22652– 22659, DOI: 10.1021/acsami.5b07454.
- [171] Z.Q. Dong, X. Ma, Z. Xu, Z., Superhydrophobic modification of PVDF–SiO₂ electrospun nanofiber membranes for vacuum membrane distillation, RSC Advances 5 (2015) 67962. DOI: 10.1039/C5RA10575G.
- [172] Y. Liao, R. Wang, A.G. Fane, Engineering superhydrophobic surface on poly(vinylidene fluoride) nanofiber membranes for direct contact membrane distillation, Journal of Membrane Science 440 (2013) 77-87.
- [173] Y.C. Woo, L.D. Tijing, W.G. Shim, J.S. Choi, S.H. Kim, T. He, E. Drioli, E., H.K. Shon, Water desalination using graphene-enhanced electrospun nanofiber membrane via air gap membrane distillation, Journal of Membrane Science 520 (2016) 99-110.
- [174] M. Obaid, H.O. Mohamed, A.S. Yasin, K.A. Fadali, K.A. Khalil, T. Kim, A.M. Nasser N.A.M. Barakat, A novel strategy for enhancing the electrospun PVDF support layer of thin-film composite forward osmosis membranes, RSC Advances 6 (2016) 102762-102772.
- [175] M. Tian, C. Qiu, Y. Liao, S. Chou, R. Wang, Preparation of polyamide thin film composite forward osmosis membranes using electrospun polyvinylidene fluoride (PVDF) nanofibers as substrates, Sep. Purif. Technol. 118(30) (2013) 727-736.
- [176] B. Samiey, C.H. Cheng, J. Wu, Hybrid polymers as adsorbents for removal of heavy metal ions from solutions: A Review, Organic-Inorganic Materials 7(2) (2014) 673-726.
- [177] Y. Huang, Y.E. Miao, T. Liu, Electrospun fibrous membranes for efficient heavy metal removal, Journal of Applied Polymer Science 131(119) (2014) 40864. DOI: 10.1002/APP.40864
- [178] N. Chitpong, S.M. Husson, Nanofiber ion-exchange membranes for the rapid uptake and recovery of heavy metals from water, Membranes 6, (2016) 59. doi:10.3390/membranes6040059, 16 pages.
- [179] N. Chitpong, S.M. Husson, Polyacid functionalized cellulose nanofiber membranes for removal of heavy metals from impaired waters, Journal of Membrane Science 523 (2017) 418–429.
- [180] H. Ma, B.S. Hsiao, B. Chu, Electrospun nanofibrous membrane for heavy metal ion adsorption, Current Organic Chemistry 17(13) (2013) 1361-1370.
- [181] N.K. Yun, H.W. Kwak, M.G. Lee, S.K. Lee, K.H. Lee, Electrospun zein nanofibrous membrane for chromium(VI) adsorption, Textile Science and Engineering 51(2) (2014) 57-62.
- [182] C.H. Lee, C.L. Chiang, S.J. Liu, Electrospun nanofibrous

rhodanine/polymethylmethacrylate membranes for the removal of heavy metal ions, Separation and Purification Technology 118 (2013) 737-743.

- [183] L.R. Rad, A. Momeni, B.F. Ghazani, M. Irani, M. Mahmoudi, B. Noghreh, Removal of Ni²⁺ and Cd²⁺ ions from aqueous solutions using electrospun PVA/zeolite nanofibrous adsorbent, Chemical Engineering Journal 256 (2014) 119-127.
- [184] M.R. Karim, Nanofiber membranes for heavy metals removal from waste waters, Nanomaterials & Energy Research Group, CERM, King Saud University, Riyadh, December 28-29, (2015).
- [185] L. Li, J. Zhang, Y. Li, C. Yang, Removal of Cr (VI) with a spiral wound chitosan nanofiber membrane module via dead-end filtration, Journal of Membrane Science 544 (2017) 333-341.
- [186] R. Yang, Y. Su, K.B. Aubrecht, X. Wang, H. Ma, R.B. Grubbs, B.S. Hsiao, B. Chu, Thiol-functionalized chitin nanofibers for As (III) adsorption, Polymer, 60 (2015a) 9-17.
- [187] A. Esmaeili, A.A. Beni, A novel fixed-bed reactor design incorporating an electrospun PVA/chitosan nanofiber membrane, Journal of Hazardous Materials 280 (2014) 788-796.
- [188] Y. Liu, H. Ma, B. Liu, B.S. Hsiao, B. Chu, High-performance nanofibrous membrane for removal of Cr(VI) from contaminated water, Journal of Plastic Film & Sheeting 31(4) (2015) 379-400.
- [189] G. Hota, B.R. Kumar, W. Ng, S. Ramakrishna, Fabrication and characterization of a boehmite nanoparticle impregnated electrospun fiber membrane for removal of metal ions, Journal of Materials Science 43(1) (2008) 212-217.
- [190] F. Bozorgpour, H.F. Ramandi, P. Jafari, S. Samadi, S.S. Yazd, M. Aliabad, Removal of nitrate and phosphate using chitosan/Al₂O₃/Fe₃O₄ composite nanofibrous adsorbent: Comparison with chitosan/Al₂O₃/Fe₃O₄ beads, International Journal of Biological Macromolecules A 93 (2016) 557–565.
- [191] M. Stephen, N. Catherine, M. Brenda, K. Andrew, P. Leslie, G. Corrine, Oxolane-2,5-dione modified electrospun cellulose nanofibers for heavy metals adsorption, Journal of Hazardous Materials192 (2011) 922–927.
- [192] L. Li, Y. Li, C. Yang, Chemical filtration of Cr (VI) with electrospun chitosan nanofiber membranes, Carbohydrate Polymers 140 (2016) 299–307.
- [193] N.D. Shooto, D. Wankasi, L.M. Sikhwivhilu, E.D. Dikio, Modified electro-spun polyvinyl alcohol nanofibers used as super adsorbing material for lead ions in aqueous solution, Journal of Residuals Science and Technology 13(3) (2016) 233.
- [194] U. Habiba, A.M. Afifi, A. Salleh, B. Chin, B.C. Ang, Chitosan/(polyvinylalcohol)/zeolite electrospun composite nanofibrous membrane for adsorption of Cr⁺⁶, Fe⁺³ and Ni⁺², Journal of Hazardous Materials 322 (2017) 182–194.
- [195] M. Aliabadi, Removal of Pb(II) and Cr(VI) ions from aqueous solutions using chitosan/cobalt ferrite nanofibrous adsorbent, Fibers and Polymers 17(8) (2016) 1162-1170.
- [196] S. Haider, S.Y. Park, Preparation of the electrospun chitosan nanofibers and their applications to the adsorption of Cu(II) and Pb(II) ions from an aqueous solution, Journal of Membrane Science 328 (2009) 90-96.
- [197] W.S. Wan Ngah, C.S. Endud, R. Mayanar, Removal of copper(II) ions from aqueous solution onto chitosan and cross-linked chitosan beads, Reactive and Functional Polymers 50 (2002) 181–190.
- [198] C. Huang, Y.C. Chung, M.R. Liou, Adsorption of Cu(II) and Ni(II) by pelletized biopolymer, Journal of Hazardous Materials 45 (1996) 265–277.
- [199] S. Li, X. Yue, Y. Jing, S. Bai, Z. Dai, Fabrication of zonal thiol-functionalized silica nanofibers for removal of heavy metal ions from wastewater, Colloids and Surfaces A Physicochemical and Engineering Aspects 380 (2011) 229–233.
- [200] Y. Tian, M. Wu, R. Liu, Y. Li, D. Wang, J. Tan, R. Wu, Y. Huang, Electrospun membrane of cellulose acetate for heavy metal ion adsorption in water treatment, Carbohydrate Polymers 83 (2011) 743–748.
- [201] K. Wong, B. Liu, S. Mc Calla, B. Chu, B. Hsiao, Analysis of PAN and PEGDA coated membranes for filtering water with reduced fouling and increased heavy metal adsorption, The Journal of Experimental Secondary Science 1(3) (2012) 44-51.
- [202] L.L. Min, Z.H. Yuan, L.B. Zhong, Q. Liu, R.X. Wu, Y.M. Zheng, Preparation of chitosan based electrospun nanofiber membrane and its adsorptive removal of arsenate from aqueous solution, Chemical Engineering Journal 267 (2015) 132–141.
- [203] R. Zhao, X. Li, B. Sun, M. Shen, X. Tan, Y. Ding, Z Jiang, C. Wang, Preparation of phosphorylated polyacrylonitrile-based nanofiber mat and its application for heavy metal ion removal, Chemical Engineering Journal 268 (2015) 290-299.
- [204] J. Choi, S. Chan, G. Yip, H. Joo, H. Yang, F.K. Ko, Palladium-Zeolite nanofiber as an effective recyclable catalyst membrane for water treatment, Water Research 101 (2016) 46-54.
- [205] A.A. Taha, J. Qiao, F. Li, B. Zhang, Preparation and application of amino functionalized mesoporous nanofiber membrane via electrospinning for adsorption

of Cr^{3+} from aqueous solution, Journal of Environmental Sciences 24 (2012) 610-616.

- [206] C.H. Huang, T.H. Hsieh, W.Y. Chiu, Evaluation of thermally crosslinkable chitosan-based nanofibrous mats for the removal of metal ions, Carbohydrate Polymers 116 (2015) 249-254.
- [207] J.A. Park, J.K. Kang, S.C. Lee, S.B. Kim, Electrospun poly(acrylic acid)/poly(vinyl alcohol) nanofibrous adsorbents for Cu(II) removal from industrial plating wastewater, RSC. Advances 7 (2017) 18075-18084.
- [208] D.M. Martín M.M. Ahmed, M. Rodríguez, M.A. García, M. Faccini, Aminated polyethylene terephthalate (PET) nanofibers for the selective removal of Pb(II) from polluted water, Materials 10 (2017) 1352-1366.
- [209] A. Mahapatra, B.G. Mishra, G. Hota, Electrospun Fe₂O₃-Al₂O₃ nanocomposite fibers as efficient adsorbent for removal of heavy metal ions from aqueous solution, Journal of Hazardous Materials 258–259 (2013) 116-123.
- [210] Z. Li, T. Li, L. An, P. Fu, C. Gao, Z. Zhang, Highly efficient chromium(VI) adsorption with nanofibrous filter paper prepared through electrospinning chitosan/polymethylmethacrylate composite, Carbohydrate Polymers 137 (2016) 119-126.
- [211] M.S. Islam, M.S. Rahaman, J.H. Yeum, Phosphine-functionalized electrospun poly(vinyl alcohol)/silica nanofibers as highly effective adsorbent for removal of aqueous manganese and nickel ions, Colloids and Surfaces A: Physicochemical and Engineering Aspect 484 (2015) 9-18.
- [212] M. Zhou, W. Tang, P. Luo, J. Lyu, A. Chen, L. Qiao, D. Nover, Preparation of ureido-functionalized PVA/silica mesoporous fibre membranes via electrospinning for adsorption of Pb²⁺ and Cu²⁺ in wastewater, Water Science & Technology 76 (9) (2017) 2526-2534.
- [213] H. Attia, S. Alexander, C.J. Wright, N. Hilal, Superhydrophobic electrospun membrane for heavy metals removal by air gap membrane distillation, Desalination 420 (2017) 318-329.
- [214] R. Moradi, S.M. Monfared, Y. Amini, A. Dastbaz, Vacuum enhanced membrane distillation for trace contaminant removal of heavy metals from water by electrospun PVDF/TiO₂ hybrid membranes, Korean Journal of Chemical Engineering 33 (2016) 2160-2168.
- [215] P. Kampalanonwat, P. Supaphol, The study of competitive adsorption of heavy metal ions from aqueous solution by aminated polyacrylonitrile nanofiber mats, Energy Procedia 56 (2014) 142 – 151.
- [216] P. Kampalanonwat, P. Supaphol, Preparation and adsorption behavior of aminated electrospun polyacrylonitrile nanofiber mats for heavy metal ion removal, ACS Applied Materials & Interfaces 2 (12) (2010) 3619–3627.
- [217] Z, Cai, X. Song, Q. Zhang, T. Zhai, Electrospun polyindole nanofibers as a nanoadsorbent for heavy metal ions adsorption for wastewater treatment, Fibers and Polymers 18 (2017) 502-513.
- [218] Q. Feng, D. Wu, Y. Zhao, A. Wei, Q. Wei, H. Fong, Electrospun AOPAN/RC blend nanofiber membrane for efficient removal of heavy metal ions from water, Journal of Hazardous Materials 344 (2018) 819-828.
- [219] M. Teng, H. Wang, F. Li, B. Zhang, Thioether functionalized mesoporous fiber membranes: Sol-gel combined electrospun fabrication and their applications for Hg²⁺ removal, Journal of Colloid and Interface Science 355(1) (2011) 23-28.
- [220] R. Xu, M. Jia, Y. Zhang, F. Li, Sorption of malachite green on vinyl-modified mesoporous poly(acrylic acid)/SiO₂ composite nanofiber membranes, Microporous and Mesoporous Materials 149 (2012) 111–118.
- [221] H. Chen, J. Lin, N. Zhang, L. Chen, S. Zhong, Y. Wang, W. Zhang, Q. Ling, Preparation of MgAI-EDTA-LDH based electrospun nanofiber membrane and its adsorption properties of copper(II) from wastewater, Journal of Hazardous Materials 5(345) (2018) 1-9.
- [222] S.R. Zahabi, S.A.H. Ravandi, A. Allafchian, Removal of nickel and cadmium heavy metals using nanofiber membranes functionalized with (3mercaptopropyl)trimethoxysilane (TMPTMS), Journal of Water and Health 14(4) (2016) 630-639.